
 

Democratic Services democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Title: Housing Committee 

Date: 6 March 2013 

Time: 4.00pm 

Venue Council Chamber, Hove Town Hall 

Members: Councillors: 
Wakefield (Chair), Powell (Deputy Chair), 
Peltzer Dunn (Opposition Spokesperson), 
Farrow (Opposition Spokesperson), Barnett, 
Davey, Fitch, Jarrett, Mears and Rufus 

Contact: Lisa Johnson 
Senior Democratic Services Officer 
01273 291228 
lisa.johnson@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
The Town Hall has facilities for wheelchair users, 
including lifts and toilets 

 

T  

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for 
anyone wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter 
and infra red hearing aids are available for use 
during the meeting.  If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the 
receptionist on arrival. 

  

 FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are 
instructed to do so, you must leave the building by 
the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to 
the nearest exit by council staff.  It is vital that you 
follow their instructions: 
 

• You should proceed calmly; do not run and do 
not use the lifts; 

• Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

• Once you are outside, please do not wait 
immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further 
instructions; and 

• Do not re-enter the building until told that it is 
safe to do so. 

 



 

 
 

Democratic Services: Housing Committee                    

Public Seating 

Press 

Public 
Speaker 

Councillor 
Wakefield 

Chair 

Strategic Director 
Place 

 

Lawyer Head of 
Housing  

 

Public 
Speaker 

Councillor 
Powell 

Deputy Chair 

 

Councillor 
Davey 

 

Councillor 

Rufus 

Councillor 
Jarrett 

 

Councillor 
Peltzer Dunn 

Opposition Spokes 

 

Councillor 
Barnett 

 

Councillor 
Mears 

 

Councillor 
Farrow 

Opposition Spokes 

 

Councillor 
Fitch 

 

 

 

 

Officers 

 

Councillor 
Speaking 

Officer 
Speaking 

Officer 
Speaking 

Democratic 
Services 
Officer  

 

 

 



HOUSING COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

PART ONE Page 
 

48. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS  

 (a) Declaration of Substitutes: Where Councillors are unable to attend a 
meeting, a substitute Member from the same Political Group may 
attend, speak and vote in their place for that meeting. 

 
(b) Declarations of Interest:  
 

(a) Disclosable pecuniary interests not registered on the register of 
interests; 

(b) Any other interests required to be registered under the local 
code; 

(c) Any other general interest as a result of which a decision on the 
matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting you or a 
partner more than a majority of other people or businesses in 
the ward/s affected by the decision. 

 
In each case, you need to declare  
(i) the item on the agenda the interest relates to; 
(ii) the nature of the interest; and 
(iii) whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest or some other 

interest. 
 

If unsure, Members should seek advice from the committee lawyer 
or administrator preferably before the meeting. 

 
(c) Exclusion of Press and Public - To consider whether, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 

 
NOTE:  Any item appearing in Part Two of the Agenda states in its 
heading the category under which the information disclosed in the 
report is exempt from disclosure and therefore not available to the 
public. 

 
A list and description of the exempt categories is available for public 
inspection at Brighton and Hove Town Halls. 

 

 

49. MINUTES 1 - 8 

 To consider the draft minutes of the Housing Committee meeting held on 
16 January 2013 (copy attached). 

 

 

50. MINUTES OF THE HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB 
COMMITTEE 

9 - 18 



HOUSING COMMITTEE 

 
 

 For Information Only – Draft Minutes of the Housing Management 
Consultative Sub Committee meeting held on 12 February 2013. 
 

 

 

51. CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS  

 

52. CALL OVER  

 

53. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by members of the public: 
 

(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions presented to the full council or 
at the meeting itself; 

(b) Written Questions: to receive any questions submitted by the 
due date of 12 noon on the 27 February 2013 

(c) Deputations: to receive any deputations submitted by the due 
date of 12 noon on the 27 February 2013 

 

 

54. ISSUES RAISED BY COUNCILLORS  

 To consider the following matters raised by councillors: 
 
(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions submitted to the full Council or at 

the meeting itself; 
(b) Written Questions: to consider any written questions; 
(c) Letters: to consider any letters; 
(d) Notices of Motion: to consider any Notices of Motion referred from 

Council or submitted directly to the Committee. 

 

 

55. NEW HOMES FOR NEIGHBOURHOODS - ESTATE REGENERATION 
PROGRAMME 

19 - 42 

 Report of Strategic Director, Place  

 Contact Officer: Nick Hibberd Tel: 29-3756  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

56. EXTRA CARE HOUSING UPDATE 43 - 78 

  
Report of Strategic Director, Place 
 
Contact Officer: Martin Reid   Tel: 29-3321 
 

 

 Ward Affected: Queen's Park   
 

57. REGISTER OF LANDLORD SCHEME  

 Verbal Update  



HOUSING COMMITTEE 

 
 

 

58. SELF BUILD HOUSING SCHEME, POTENTIAL SITES  

 Verbal Update  
 

59. TENANCY STRATEGY 2013 79 - 132 

 Report of Strategic Director, Place  

 Contact Officer: Andy Staniford Tel: 29-3159  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

60. RIGHT TO BUY RECEIPTS - DELIVERING REPLACEMENT 
AFFORDABLE HOMES 

133 - 
140 

 Report of Strategic Director, Place 
 
Contact Officer: Martin Reid   Tel: 29-3321 
 

 

 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

61. HCA EMPTY PROPERTY FUNDING ALLOCATION 141 - 
150 

 Report of Strategic Director, Place 
 
Contact Officer: Martin Reid   Tel:29-3321 
Ward Affected: All Wards 

 

 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

62. ITEMS REFERRED FOR COUNCIL  

 To consider items to be submitted to the 28 March 2013 

Council meeting for information. 

 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 24.3a, the Committee may determine 
that any item is to be included in its report to Council. In addition, 
any Group may specify one further item to be included by notifying the 
Chief Executive no later than 10am on the eighth working day before the 
Council meeting at which the report is to be made, or if the Committee 
meeting take place after this deadline, immediately at the conclusion of 
the Committee meeting 

 

 

 
 



HOUSING COMMITTEE 

 
 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made 
on the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be 
raised can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fifth working day before the meeting. 
 
Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Lisa Johnson, (01273 
291228, email lisa.johnson@brighton-hove.gov.uk) or email 
democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk  
 

 

Date of Publication - Tuesday, 26 February 2013 

 

 
 



BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
 

HOUSING COMMITTEE 
 

4.00pm 16 JANUARY 2013 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, HOVE TOWN HALL 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: Councillor Wakefield (Chair), Councillor Powell (Deputy Chair), Peltzer Dunn 
(Opposition Spokesperson), Farrow (Opposition Spokesperson), Davey, Fitch, Jarrett, 
Mears, Deane and Wells 
 
  
 
 

 
 

PART ONE 
 
 

37. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 
 
37A Declarations of Substitute Members 
 
37.1 Councillor Deane declared that she was attending as a substitute for Councillor Duncan. 

Councillor Wells declared that he was attending as a substitute for Councillor Barnett.   
 
37B Declarations of Interests 
 
37.2 Councillors Fitch, Peltzer Dunn and Wells each declared a Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interest in Item 43c, as landlords of residential property within the City.  
 
37C Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
37.3 In accordance with section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, it was 

considered whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
the consideration of any items contained in the agenda, having regard to the nature of 
the business to be transacted and the nature of the proceedings and the likelihood as to 
whether, if members of the press and public were present, there would be disclosure to 
them of confidential or exempt information as defined in section 100I (1) of the said Act. 

 
37.4  RESOLVED - That the press and public not be excluded from the meeting.  
 
38. MINUTES 
 
38.1 The Committee considered the Minutes of the Housing Committee meeting held on 14 

November 2012.  
 

1



 HOUSING COMMITTEE 16 JANUARY 
2013 

38.2 Councillor Farrow referred to paragraph 32.4 and asked if there was any information on 
whether other authorities would be supporting the Home Energy Efficiency Investment – 
Green Deal. The Chair said that West Sussex County Council were interested and keen 
to work with Brighton & Hove City Council. Information on other authorities would be 
provided as and when it was known.  

 
38.3 Councillor Farrow referred to paragraph 33.4 and asked whether Councillor Jarrett had 

spoken to the Director of Adult Social Services about possible funding to enable 
adaptations to be made to properties. Councillor Jarrett confirmed he had, and that Adult 
Social Care had agreed to assess each application on a case by case basis and provide 
funding where possible.  

 
38.4 Councillor Mears referred to paragraph 30.4, and said that the Chair had informed her that 

the homelessness budget had not been cut, but that that was incorrect and the budget 
had been reduced. The Chair agreed to look into the matter.  

 
38.5 Councillor Peltzer Dunn referred to paragraph 32.3 and felt that the wording was 

contradictory. It was agreed to change the wording to read ‘Officers confirmed that any 
charge would be shown on the electricity bill, but householders could see savings through 
reduced use of gas or electricity’ 

 
38.6 RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the Housing Committee held on 14 November 2012 be 

agreed (subject to the amendment to the wording in paragraph 32.3). 
 
39. MINUTES OF THE HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB COMMITTEE 

MEETING HELD ON 18 DECEMBER 2012 
 
39.1 Councillor Mears referred to paragraph 36.3 and requested that the cost of running Area 

Panels be provided, and asked for reassurance that there was sufficient funding to enable 
the Area Panels to continue. Councillor Wakefield said that there was no intention not to 
continue with Area Panels and asked for officers to provide the cost of running the Panels 
and all other tenant groups.  

 
39.2 Councillor Mears referred to paragraph 38.3 and asked for clarification on who had 

agreed the new structure, who had agreed that the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
would fund £280k, how many other staff were involved and whether there would be any 
additional costs to the HRA. Officers said that a number of staff involved in the new 
department did not all deal with housing and so funding would come from other budgets, 
and agreed to provide a written response for the next Housing Management Consultative 
Sub Committee meeting.  

 
   39.3 RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the Housing Management Consultative Sub 

Committee held on 18 December 2012 be noted.  
 
 
 

 
40. CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS 
 
40.1 The Chair provided an update on a number of issues. 

2



 HOUSING COMMITTEE 16 JANUARY 
2013 

 
Green Deal Energy Efficiency Investment Options 
A report on the Green Deal Energy Efficiency Investment Options had been prepared for 
the Policy & Resources Committee (P&R) meeting due to be held on 24 January 2013. 
The P&R report would be circulated to Housing Committee members and an officer 
briefing offered prior to P&R.  A formal report will be brought to a future Housing 
Committee meeting. 

 
DECC Local Authority Competition 2012-13 
We have successfully bid for over £500,000 of funding as part of the Department of 
Energy & Climate Change Local Authority Competition in both the Fuel Poverty and 
Green Deal Pioneer Places strands.  Both projects were to be delivered by 31st March 
2013 

 
Fuel Poverty Fund 

Brighton & Hove had been awarded funds totalling £287,600 for this project. 

A joint bid for the Fuel Poverty Fund was submitted with Eastbourne Borough Council 
to support vulnerable households living in or at risk of fuel poverty. In Brighton & Hove 
we were aiming to assist up to 60 householders with major heating and insulation 
measures. Each householder would be supported by a fuel poverty trained case-
worker from the community and voluntary sector. 

We would target interventions to support vulnerable groups through existing 
programmes, events and outreach sessions in areas of higher levels of fuel poverty.  
Also through links with the private rented sector, Health and CVSF 

 

Green Deal Pioneer Places  

The total amount of funding for this project was £221,000. 

The aim of this project was to kick start and show the benefits of the Green Deal by 
creating a network of Green Deal show-homes and opening them as part of the City’s 
Eco Open Houses.  The activity would build the local supply chain by developing a 
strong network of Green Deal approved assessors and installers help market and 
publicise the Green Deal and issue planning guidance to support take up.   
The key objectives of this project were to: 
Carry out 100 Green Deal assessments;  Create a network of 10 Green Deal show-
homes;  Develop show home resources, including case studies, available online, 
displayed at the Eco Open Houses and other events; Develop two draft Planning Advice 
Notes for external wall insulation & Green Deal in Conservation Areas. 

 
 
 
41. CALL OVER 
 
41.1 It was agreed that all items would be reserved for discussion. 
 
42. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 
42.1 There were no petitions, written questions or deputations.  
 

3



 HOUSING COMMITTEE 16 JANUARY 
2013 

43. MEMBERS INVOLVEMENT 
 
43 c   Letters 
 
43c.1 There were two letters submitted by Councillor Farrow. One letter related to a register of 

landlords. Councillors Fitch, Peltzer Dunn and Wells declared a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest in the matter and left the room when this letter was discussed. 

 
43c.2 Councillor Farrow spoke on his first letter which, following the success of the Hedgehog 

Housing Co-operative, asked for officers to investigate the feasibility of using similar 
schemes to develop more homes on marginal land in the city.  

 
43c.3 RESOLVED - The Committee asked officers to provide a report on this matter for a 

future meeting.  
 
43c.4 Councillor Farrow presented his second letter which referred to the London Borough of 

Newham’s scheme to have a register of landlords, and asked officers to investigate on 
the feasibility of implementing a similar scheme in the city.  

 
43c.5 RESOLVED - The Committee asked officers to provide a verbal response at the next 

meeting.  
 
43 d  Notice of Motion 
 
43d.6 Councillor Mitchell presented the Notice of Motion which called on the Housing 

Committee to request officers to bring forward a report that: 

• Evaluates whether the council would benefit from entering into the Right to Buy 
receipts scheme that would enable the receipts from any additional sales generated 
to be retained by the council in order to fund the provision of replacement housing 
stock.  

• Explores whether the retention of Right to Buy receipts under the scheme could 
enable the council to buy back ex-council homes that come onto the housing market 
either from estate agents’ repossessions or at auction.  

• Considers the possibility of the scheme being used in relation to leaseholders where 
the high cost of major works are causing particular difficulties.  

• Demonstrates whether and if so, how entering into such a scheme could compliment 
the other initiatives being pursued in relation to the provision of affordable housing.” 

 
43d.7 Councillor Peltzer Dunn asked if the second bullet point could be expanded to cover all 

ex-council properties which came onto the market. The Chair agreed.  
 
43d.8 RESOLVED That the Housing Committee requested officers to bring forward a report to 

cover the issues suggested in the Notice of Motion.  
 
44. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2013-2016 
 
44.1 The Committee considered a report of the Director of Finance and Strategic Director, 

Place which set out the Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 2013-16. 
 

4



 HOUSING COMMITTEE 16 JANUARY 
2013 

44.2 Councillor Farrow said that he felt that the Programme did not meet the needs of 
tenants in the city and that he would abstain from recommending it to Policy & 
Resources Committee. Paragraph 5.17 of the report stated that the budget had been 
increased with the aim of providing 15-20 home extensions per annum. Councillor 
Farrow felt that this was too low and was inadequate for the needs of the city. He asked 
that officers look at simpler ways to undertake conversions/extensions to ensure that 
more could be built. Councillor Fitch said that he too felt that loft conversions/extensions 
were important and hoped that the budget for this area of work could be increased 
further. Officers agreed that loft conversions could be useful, and the number proposed 
was higher than the number undertaken last year. However, extensions to homes 
weren’t always the most appropriate course of action. Property and Investment worked 
with families and adaptations team to devise individual design solutions, to ensure extra 
rooms(s) required did not impact on families receiving benefits. Officers referred to a 
specific sensitive case with complex adaptations involved, where an older child (adult) 
with disabilities required an additional room or sensory space to meet their special 
needs.  

 
44.3 Councillor Farrow referred to paragraph 5.18 which related to Fencing and asked that 

this be a priority. Erecting fencing was important for health and safety, particularly for 
those with young children, pets etc. Officers said that a draft policy on fencing was going 
to Area Panels and would then go to the HMCSC. If there was a fence which needed 
repairing because of health and safety issues, the work would be undertaken from the 
Repairs Budget. This report recommended doubling the existing planned budget for 
improving boundary fencing across the city to relieve pressures on the Estate 
Development Budget.  

 
44.4 Councillor Mears referred to paragraph 3.2 (2) Creating a More Sustainable City, and 

asked if a report on One Planet Living could come to a future meeting of the Housing 
Committee. Councillor Mears also asked if more information could be provided on the 
capital receipt from Seaside Homes as that funding needed to be taken into account. 
The Chair agreed for that information to be made available.  

 
44.5 Councillor Mears referred to paragraph 5.21 on building new council homes and was 

concerned that the scheme, which had been started under the previous administration, 
had not moved forward. 

 
44.6 Councillor Jarrett welcomed the reduction in time for lift repairs, and suggested that 

where possible a more proactive approach be taken to identify any problems with lifts 
before they broke down. Officers confirmed that engineers already carried out regular 
servicing for lifts. 

 
44.7 Councillor Peltzer Dunn referred to paragraph 6.8 which said that a draft of this report 

had been presented to the Housing Committee on 18 December 2012, but said that that 
was incorrect as the report previously considered had had amendments and therefore it 
was a different report. Officers confirmed that there had been some small changes to 
the report.  

 
44.8 RESOLVED – 

5



 HOUSING COMMITTEE 16 JANUARY 
2013 

(1) That the Housing Committee recommend that Policy & Resources approves the 
capital programme budget of £26.957 million and financing for 2013/14 as set out in 
paragraph 4.1 of the report.  

 
45. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET 2013/14 
 
45.1 The Committee considered a report of the Director of Finance and Strategic Director, 

Place which set out the Housing Revenue Account Budget for 2013/14. 
 
45.2 Councillor Farrow thanked officers for the report, which he agreed with in parts. 

However, he suggested that there be a radical review on how the Council managed 
properties, and asked that the housing management structure be looked at to see if any 
money could be saved which could then be reinvested in homes. He said the Labour 
and Co-operative party would abstain from recommending the report to Policy and 
Resources Committee. The Chair invited anyone who had any ideas on how properties 
were managed to put them forward for discussion. 

 
45.3   Councillor Mears referred to paragraph 3.5, and asked who the benchmarking had been 

against. Officers said it was local authorities with similar profiles to Brighton & Hove; a 
full list would be provided. Councillor Mears noted that there was no reference in the 
report to Mr N Hibberd’s new post and asked why it was being funded from the Housing 
Revenue Account and not from the Corporate Account. Councillor Mears referred to 
paragraph 3.16, which showed the proposed increases to fees and service charges and 
noted that there was a reference to 12 properties requiring video entry and asked why 
that item had not been included in the Housing Revenue Account Budget 2013/14 report 
which went to the HMCSC meeting in December. Officers said that that report had been 
provided earlier than planned to ensure the HMCSC saw the report, and at that time the 
information on video entry was not available. Councillor Mears referred to Appendix 1 to 
the report and noted that the disabled adaptations programme had an investment 
requirement of £0.4m. Officers stated that that amount was only the overspend. 

 
45.4  Councillor Peltzer Dunn noted that the report was slightly different from the one which 

had gone to the HMCSC meeting in December 2012, and therefore it was procedurally 
incorrect to say that the report had been considered by that sub committee. The Chair 
said she wanted to ensure that members of the HMCSC knew what was being 
proposed, and because of the timing of the meetings it was not possible for a ‘final’ 
report to be available for the December meeting.  

 
45.5    RESOLVED: 

That Housing Committee recommends that Policy & Resources Committee: 
 

(i) Approves and recommends to Council the budget for 2013/14 as shown in 
Appendix to the report.  

(ii) Approves individual rent increases and decreases in line with rent restructuring 
principles as determined by the Government and detailed in paragraphs 3.13 to 
3.15 in the report.  

(iii) Approves the changes to fees and charges as detailed in Table 2, paragraphs 
3.16 to 3.18 in the report and to delegate authority to the Strategic Director, Place 
to increase communal heating electricity charges following the corporate 
procurement of new contract prices.  

6



 HOUSING COMMITTEE 16 JANUARY 
2013 

 
46. UPDATE ON HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING 
 
46.1 The Committee considered the report which provided an update on Homelessness and 

Rough Sleeping. In addition to the report, Ms N Homeward, Director Homelessness 
Brighton Housing Trust and Ms B Davison, Director CRI (Rough Sleeper Team) 
attended the meeting to provide a verbal overview of their work.   

 
46.2 Ms Davison said that there had been an increase in ‘short term’ rough sleepers over the 

last two years, but there had been a decrease in the ‘long term’ rough sleepers. The 
increase appeared to be due to economic factors and CRI worked quickly with those 
people to ensure they didn’t become entrenched in street life. They had worked hard 
with the long term rough sleepers, ensuring they had accommodation and received the 
support they needed. Up to 70% of the short term rough sleepers had no local 
connection, which was problematic as hostels were being closed and resources 
squeezed. Where possible these people were encouraged to go to an area where they 
had a connection and hostels were contacted to see if they could accommodate them. 
Brighton was a more attractive place to sleep rough; people were more welcoming and 
there wasn’t the same level of crime found in some cities.  

 
46.3 Ms Homeward spoke to the Committee about the work with rough sleepers, and said 

that the Trust had two shelters which were opened during severe weather conditions. 
The two shelters could accommodate 45 people. The shelters would open if the 
overnight temperature dropped to 0 degrees, or less, for two nights running. Those 
staying would be given food and a place to sleep. The shelters closed in the morning 
and guests were then invited to attend the Day Centres.  

 
46.4 All councillors thanked officers and the guests for the report and verbal updates.  
 
46.5 Councillor Davey noted that 70% of rough sleepers had no connection with the city, and 

asked how long they tended to stay. He was advised that they generally moved on 
within 3 to 4 weeks, and so there was a fairly high turnover.  

 
46.6 Councillor Farrow asked whether many of the rough sleepers were ex servicemen. He 

was advised that a number were and informed that there was a Sussex wide project to 
help them. It was known that many of those people had distinct needs such as 
alcoholism or were suffering from PTSD and so particular support was offered. 
Councillor Farrow said he was involved with a group who supported ex service 
personnel and invited officers to liaise with that group, and suggested that it might be 
useful to hold a workshop to look at the issues of homelessness. Councillor Deane said 
that she had spoken to senior members of the Services and they were very concerned 
that colleagues were sleeping rough, and said that regiments were very willing to help 
where they could and suggested that officers liaise with the Services who may be able 
to offer support and funding.  

 
46.7   Councillor Deane asked officers if there were regular patrols to identify those who were 

sleeping rough, and whether there was a contact number members of the public could 
use if they were concerned for someone. The Committee were advised that anyone 
found rough sleeping were advised where they could go to find shelter, and there was a 
direct line to relevant services which the police, hospitals etc had. In addition the 

7



 HOUSING COMMITTEE 16 JANUARY 
2013 

number for front line services was available to the public and were placed in locations 
such as bus stops.  

 
46.8 Councillor Mears asked for reassurance that there wouldn’t be any cut in the budget for 

homelessness. The Chair confirmed that the administration took the issue of 
homelessness very seriously and would do all it could to support those affected.  

 
46.9 Councillor Powell said that it was important to look at all the issues of homelessness, 

including what could be done to prevent people ending up in that situation, and asked 
how the council could help further. The Chair said that Councillor Farrow’s suggestion of 
holding a workshop to consider all ideas was a good one and asked officers to arrange 
it.  

 
46.10 RESOLVED – That the report be noted.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
47. ITEMS REFERRED FOR COUNCIL 
 
47.1 RESOLVED That no items be referred to Council 
 
 

 
The meeting concluded at 6.45pm 
 
 

 
Signed 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair 

Dated this day of  
 

8



1 
 

BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

3.00pm 12 FEBRUARY 2013 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, HOVE TOWN HALL 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: Councillor Jarrett (Chair); Peltzer Dunn (Opposition Spokesperson), Farrow 
(Opposition Spokesperson), Kennedy, Mears, Pidgeon and Robins. 
 
Tenant Representatives David Murtagh (Brighton East Area Housing Management Panel), 
Jean Davis (Central Area Housing Management Panel), David Avery (West Area Housing 
Management Panel), Roy Crowhurst (West Hove & Portslade Area Housing Management 
Panel), Keith Cohen (Hi Rise Action Group), Tony Worsfold (Leaseholder Action Group), 
Barry Kent (Tenant Disability Network), Charles Penrose (Sheltered Housing Action Group) 
and Robert Spacie (North & East Area Housing Management Panel) 
  
Apologies: Councillor Wakefield, Rita King and Trish Barnard. 

 
 

PART ONE 
 
 

39. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 
 
39A.1 Appointment of Chair for the Meeting 
 
39.1 Councillor Wakefield (Chair) sent her apologies due to illness.  As there is no Deputy 

Chair for the Sub-Committee, nominations for Chair were requested.   
 
39.2 RESOLVED – That Councillor Jarrett be elected to preside over the meeting. 
 
39A.2 Declarations of Substitute Members 
 
39.3 Councillor Mears declared that she was attending as a substitute for Councillor Wells.  

Councillor Kennedy declared that she was attending as a substitute for Councillor 
Duncan, and that she would be replacing Councillor Duncan as a permanent member of 
the Sub-Committee.  Dave Avery declared that he was attending as a substitute for Tina 
Urquhart. 

 
39B Declarations of Interests 
 
39.4 There were none.  
 
39C Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 

9



 

2 
 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB-COMMITTEE 12 FEBRUARY 
2013 

39.5 In accordance with section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, it was 
considered whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
the consideration of any items contained in the agenda, having regard to the nature of 
the business to be transacted and the nature of the proceedings and the likelihood as to 
whether, if members of the press and public were present, there would be disclosure to 
them of confidential or exempt information as defined in section 100I (1) of the said Act. 

 
39.6  RESOLVED - That the press and public be not excluded from the meeting.  
 
40. MINUTES 
 
40.1 Keith Cohen asked for the following corrections to be made to the minutes following 

discussions with Valerie Paynter who had substituted for him at the last meeting:  
 
40.2 Paragraph 28 A – Declarations of Substitute Members should record that Valerie 

Paynter was substituting for Keith Cohen.  Paragraph 36.12 should read “tenants would 
think that their tenants’ reps had previously agreed to it (despite lack of opportunity to 
appropriately do so). “ 

 
40.3 Mr Cohen stated that an entire conversation was omitted in which Valerie Paynter 

requested that the Resident Involvement Strategy consultation going to Area Panels 
was also going to HRAG.  It was argued that this is because there are no 
representatives voted onto Area Panels from HRAG and no Area Panel members are 
voted onto HRAG.   Ms Paynter had stated that it had been agreed by the Chair that this 
should be done.   

 
40.4 Mr Cohen stated that the voting at paragraph 36.18 was incorrectly recorded.  Ms 

Paynter considered that it should read that “the HRAG rep voted against (i) but there 
was a unanimous vote for (ii).  

 
40.5 Members agreed that Valerie Paynter was the only person to vote against resolution (i) 

at paragraph 36.19. It was therefore agreed to change the wording of paragraph 36.18 
to read “An indicative vote was taken from tenant reps, and the majority agreed with 
both recommendations.”   Meanwhile, the Chair reminded members that the minutes 
were not a verbatim record of the meeting. 

 
40.6 Councillor Mears referred to paragraph 38.3 (Housing Revenue Account Budget 

2013/14).  She stated that £286,000 had been put forward to fund Nick Hibberd’s new 
post of Head of City Regeneration.  Councillor Mears stressed that there was now a 
committee system.  She was concerned that no report had been submitted to explain 
that money was being taken out of the revenue budget.  

 
40.7  Councillor Mears stated that although Members received an email from the Strategic 

Director Place setting out what had happened this had opened up more questions.  
Members had been informed that 30% of the cost had come from the HRA and 70% 
from the general fund.   Councillor Mears was unhappy with the response and felt that 
there was no clarity around this spend.  She was concerned that tenants’ money was 
being used for staffing.  Councillor Mears noted that part three of the Strategic Director’s 
letter referred to money being allocated from HRA for housing regeneration.  Councillor 
Mears considered that there needed to be a detailed report submitted to the Sub-

10



 

3 
 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB-COMMITTEE 12 FEBRUARY 
2013 

Committee setting out how decisions had been taken and clarifying the situation before 
and after budget council.   

 
40.8 RESOLVED That the Minutes of the Housing Management Consultative Sub Committee 

held on 18 December 2012 be agreed and signed as a correct record subject to the 
amendment mentioned in paragraph 40.5 and subject to Paragraph 28 A – Declarations 
of Substitute Members recording that Valerie Paynter had substituted for  Keith Cohen.   

 
41. CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS 
 

Dams at Bevendean  
 

40.1 Councillor Farrow informed the Chair that he had submitted a letter for inclusion on the 
agenda asking officers to give an update on the condition of the dams at Bevendean 
and the amount of water behind them.  Councillor Farrow had been told that the letter 
could not be placed on the agenda.  Councillor Farrow expressed concern that a matter 
of interest to the residents was not included on the agenda. He had taken it up with 
senior officers including the Chief Executive.   

 
40.2 The Chair stated that he understood that Councillor Farrow would receive a written 

response.  There had been some discussion as to whether the letter should be 
submitted to the Sub-Committee as the dams were not the responsibility of housing. 

 
40.3 The Senior Lawyer stated that in order for a letter to be included on an agenda, it should 

be relevant to the terms of reference of the Committee or Sub-Committee.  The HMCSC 
had narrow terms of reference and the view taken by officers was that the letter was not 
relevant to the terms of reference.    

 
40.4 Councillor Farrow stated that he did not believe that the constitutional point should 

preclude him from taking up a matter that was of concern to tenants.  He asked for a 
response to be sent to all members of the Sub-Committee. 

 
40.5 The Chair replied that the matter was being taken seriously but there was an issue as to 

which meeting should consider the issue.  He was not prepared to say that he had been 
given the wrong advice by the Senior Lawyer.    

 
40.6 Councillor Peltzer Dunn accepted that the Senior Lawyer’s advice had been absolutely 

correct; however, the effect of what might happen to the dams was a matter of concern 
for the community.    

 
40.7 Councillor Mears endorsed the view of the Senior Lawyer but considered that a report 

should be brought to the Sub-Committee as landlord and freeholder of properties in 
order to reassure tenants that everything was being done to avoid flooding.     

 
40.8 Councillor Farrow requested officers to take action as a matter of urgency and report 

back to Moulsecoomb and Bevendean councillors so they could report back to tenants.   
 
40.9 The Chair stated that Councillor Farrow would receive a written response.   
 
40.10 The Chair had no other communications to report.   

11



 

4 
 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB-COMMITTEE 12 FEBRUARY 
2013 

42. CALL-OVER 
 
42.1 It was agreed that all items be reserved for debate and determination. 
 
43. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 
43.1  There were no petitions, written questions or deputations received from members of the 

public. 
 
44. ISSUES RAISED BY MEMBERS 
 
 (a) Petitions 
 
44.1 The Committee noted that there were no petitions raised by members.  
 

(b) Written Questions  
 
44.2 The Committee noted that there were no written questions raised by members.  
 

(c) Letters 
 

44.3 The Committee considered a letter from Charles Penrose on behalf of the Sheltered 
Action Housing Group which requested an increase in the sheltered budget.  This would 
enable on-site scheme managers to cope with the additional demand on the service due 
to the complex needs of new tenants. 

 
44.4 Charles Penrose informed the Sub-Committee that tenants with complex needs were 

becoming prisoners in their flats, and were missing out on attending tenants’ meetings.      
 
44.5 The Chair stated that he recognised that there was a problem of tenants with increased 

needs.  He thought there was a need to assess the scale of the problem.  
 
44.6 Councillor Mears considered that the points made in the letter raised concerns as it 

would appear that there was a need for extra care.  She stressed that there had been 
1.6 million savings in Adult Care & Health and a decision had been taken to take out 2 
units of sheltered housing stock.  She asked if Adult Care & Health were paying housing 
for extra social care.  She also asked for details of numbers of people going into 
sheltered housing.  Councillor Mears considered that there was a need for a report to 
the Sub-Committee to explain the changes to sheltered housing.   

 
44.7 Councillor Farrow stated that he had concerns as to whether normal sheltered housing 

was the right place for extra care.  He supported Councillor Mear’s view that a report 
was required on the subject.  He hoped people were being placed appropriately in 
housing.  He requested a report before the next meeting.  

 
44.8 Charles Penrose welcomed the above comments and agreed that a report should be 

written to explain what was happening in sheltered housing.  A report would be 
welcomed by members of the Sheltered Housing Action Group.   

 

12



 

5 
 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB-COMMITTEE 12 FEBRUARY 
2013 

44.9 Roy Crowhurst considered that that sheltered housing was changing.  It appeared that a 
number of people were coming through Adult Care & Health.  Mr Crowhurst mentioned 
a case where a man had come from a house he had shared with other people with 
learning disabilities.  The man was now isolated and found it difficult to get involved with 
other sheltered housing tenants.  Mr Crowhurst stressed that sheltered housing was not 
an ideal place for people with complex needs.  Mr Crowhurst thought that 50 year olds 
should not be placed in blocks with people in their 70’s and 80’s.  

 
44.10 Mr Crowhurst stated that some local authorities had older peoples’ housing and 

supported housing.  In Brighton & Hove there was sheltered housing for all, which Mr 
Crowhurst felt did not work. 

 
44.11 Jean Davis stated that she lived in Leach Court.  She agreed that people with extra care 

needs were being placed into the flats at Leach Court.  Some of these people were in 
their forties and fifties.   

 
44.12 Robert Spacie expressed concern that officers were making decisions about sheltered 

housing without a full report.   
 
44.13 The Chair confirmed at this point that a full report would be submitted   to the next 

meeting.   
 
44.14 Charles Penrose mentioned that the government had a fund for care of the elderly.  Roy 

Crowhurst suggested that part of any funding could be used to develop extra care 
housing.   

 
44.15 Councillor Mears asked if officers had already applied for funding of £300 Million.   She 

asked if the reason for younger people with learning disabilities moving to sheltered 
housing was related to the closure of learning disability homes.  Councillor Mears 
wanted to see details of the impact of Adult Social Care not meeting their savings target 
last year and the contribution of Adult Care & Health to the housing budget.   She 
stressed that housing should not be a cushion for Adult Care & Health.  There needed to 
be a wide reaching report.   

 
44.16 Robert Spacie stressed that the Sheltered Housing Action Group should be consulted 

on what was going into the report.   
 
44.17  The Head of Housing stated that the Chair had already asked him to write a report.  

The £300 million bidding deadline was before Christmas. The bid went in on time and 
the Homes and Communities Agency were impressed by the quality of the bid.  There 
would be 40 extra care units using HRA land.  The issue was whether Brighton & Hove 
would be awarded a grant.     

 
44.18 The Head of Housing explained that all allocations to sheltered housing occurred 

through the Choice Based Lettings process.  There were a number of allocations which 
were being reviewed to ensure that they were appropriate.  The report would look at 
who had been allocated a place and how the decision had been made.  The Head of 
Housing stressed that if the report was to be submitted first to the Area Panels it would 
not be able to come back to the next meeting of the Housing Management Consultative 
Sub-Committee.  He suggested that the report was initially submitted to the Sub-

13



 

6 
 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB-COMMITTEE 12 FEBRUARY 
2013 

Committee for debate.  The report could then be submitted to the Area Panels for 
comment.   

 
44.19 Councillor Mears asked how many Adult Care places were allocated into housing 

directly rather than coming through the letting process.  She asked for reassurance that 
there had not been any allocations from Adult Care that had not come through the 
housing process.  

 
44.20 Barry Kent stated that he had heard a one bedroom flat had been kept for a young 

person in Adult Care and Health.  He stressed that young people could feel isolated if 
housed with elderly people.   
 

44.21 Charles Penrose informed the Sub-Committee that he was trying to arrange for 
someone in Adult Social Care to address the Sheltered Housing Action Group on 13 
March 2013 in Leach Court.   
 

44.22 The Head of Temporary Accommodation & Allocation informed members that there was 
no age limit.  The Housing Committee had agreed to remove the age limit some years 
ago.  The Housing Management Consultative Committee and the Sheltered Housing 
Action Group had both been consulted.   

 
44.23 The Chair stated that there had been no policy of placing additional people in sheltered 

housing.  Extra people might arrive in sheltered accommodation for a number of 
reasons.  There was a need to look at these reasons in the report.  

 
44.24 Councillor Mears stated that in the past there had been two lists.  One for housing and 

one for adult social care. There needed to be one clear route of allocations through 
housing.  She would like to see figures in a report. 

 
44.25 The Head of Housing informed the Sub-Committee that there would be a written report 

on Extra Care.  He would not be in a position to capture all the issues raised in a report 
but suggested that there should also be a presentation to the HMCSC in order to work 
through questions.      

 
44.26 RESOLVED – That the letter be noted. 

 
(d) Notices of motion 
 

44.27 The Committee noted that there were no notices of motion raised by members. 
 
45. LETTINGS - PRESENTATION 
 
45.1 The Sub-Committee considered a presentation from Lorraine Hamilton Re-Housing 

Manager concerning the Re-housing Team (formally Lettings).  The presentation set out 
the structure of the team and who they worked with.  It discussed the Choice Based 
Lettings Policy and why it was important to let empty properties quickly.   

 
45.2 The presentation explained the re-housing process, how adaptations were dealt with by 

the team and how local letting plans were making better use of housing stock or other 

14



 

7 
 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB-COMMITTEE 12 FEBRUARY 
2013 

local need.  Members were informed of performance data and empty property rent loss 
for all re-lets.  Finally members were informed of exciting initiatives.  

 
45.3 Councillor Peltzer Dunn referred to the slide explaining the re-housing process and 

asked the following questions.  He asked if the end of tenancy visit was a visit taken 
before the end of the tenancy.  Once the tenancy ended, how long was it advertised and 
how long did prospective tenants have to respond.  Once the shortlist was completed 
how long did officers take to contact the people shortlisted. 

 
45.4 The Re-Housing Manager explained that the end of tenancy visit took place just prior to 

the end of a tenancy. Officers advertised the property four weeks before the tenancy 
end date.  Tenants had one day short of a week to bid for a property.  Tenants were 
contacted approximately within three days of a shortlist being compiled, although it 
sometimes could late longer. Tenants were contacted immediately there was a target 
date.  A decision was given within 24 hours of the deadline.  It took four weeks 
maximum to advertise a property.   Officers worked on 7 day calendar weeks.  

 
45.5 Councillor Mears expressed concern about the cost of restructuring the section.  She 

asked for details of restructuring costs, why it had been sanctioned and why there had 
been no tenant input.  Councillor Mears was concerned that the process had gone 
forward without a report being submitted to committee.   

 
45.6 The Head of Housing informed Councillor Mears that she would be given a written 

response.  Councillor Mears asked for the response to be submitted to the Sub-
Committee. She stated that tenants would prefer their rents to be spent on their 
properties and not re-structuring.   

 
45.7 Charles Penrose stated that he had no recollection of the restructuring going through 

Area Panels.   
 
45.8 The Chair stated that this information would be included in the response. 
 
45.9 Keith Cohen asked for clarification regarding the over 50’s in relation to the sheltered 

local lettings plan.  The Head of Tenancy Services explained that the Sheltered Local 
Letting Plan only applied to sheltered housing and not to over 50’s blocks.       

45.10 Questions were raised as to whether tenants with particular needs could move to lower 
floors in blocks.  It was agreed that Keith Cohen would check the policy with the Head of 
Tenancy Services. 

 
45.11 RESOLVED – That the presentation be noted. 
 
46. UPDATE ON RIGHT TO BUY AND LEASEHOLD MANAGEMENT - PRESENTATION 
 
46.1 The Sub-Committee considered a presentation from Dave Arthur, Leasehold Manager, 

that provided an update on the Right to Buy, and leasehold management.  The 
presentation explained recent changes to Right to Buy and imminent government 
department marketing activity.  It explained the situation with regard to major works and 
implications for leaseholders, working with leaseholders when major works are 
proposed or carried out and payment options.    

 

15



 

8 
 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB-COMMITTEE 12 FEBRUARY 
2013 

46.2 Councillor Peltzer Dunn asked if works carried out by the council were subject to 
competitive tender for quotes.  The Leasehold Manager explained that the council no 
longer asked for quotes as there was a long term contract with Mears Ltd in place.  
Consultation had been carried out with tenants before the partnership was agreed.   

 
46.3 Councillor Peltzer Dunn asked if the standard lease specifically allowed for the council 

not to have to arrange for competitive quotes.  The Head of Property of Investment 
explained that the council used Mears Ltd as the primary contractor; however they must 
demonstrate value for money.  Mears Ltd asked for quotes.  The compliance team 
reviewed tenders to ensure proper procedures had taken place.   

 
46.4  Councillor Peltzer Dunn expressed concern that leaseholders might not be getting value 

for money under the Mears contract.   The Head of Housing informed members that 
there were still at least two types of lease in operation as a result of Brighton & Hove 
having once been separate local authorities.  All the leases allowed the council to make 
a charge for improvements, except for the early Brighton one.  All works were open to 
challenge.  There was an internal disputes process with built in appeals.  The Leasehold 
Valuation Tribunal could ultimately decide whether the council had been fair to 
leaseholders.         

 
46.5 Councillor Mears stated that value for money was written within the contract.  She 

hoped this would be adhered to.  Councillor Mears noted that the presentation did not 
say what had happened to Right to Buy receipts.  Councillor Mears made the point that 
the council had gone through the stock transfer process which had not gone ahead.  
There was need for a massive catch up to ensure there were decent homes.  This was a 
major issue for leaseholders.    

 
46.6 Councillor Mears reminded members that there used to be a 10 year contract for lifts.  

This was now a 7 year contract.  She asked whether consultation had taken place with 
regard to lifts and whether there was an extra cost in reducing the contract to 7 years.   

 
46.7 The Leasehold Manager stated that the consultation process with regard to lifts was 

similar to the Mears contract consultation.  Leaseholders were given estimated costs for 
annual maintenance and were given a provisional timescale.  Further consultation took 
place when works were proposed.   

 
46.8 The Head of Property & Investment informed the Sub-Committee that he had an 

updated programme he could share.  The lift contract started in January 2011.  The total 
contract would be completed in about 8 years.  There would be no extra cost involved in 
completing in 8 years instead of 10.  He accepted there would be an extra annual cost 
but this would be offset by beneficial capital receipts.  

 
46.9 Councillor Mears stated that these matters should have been reported to committee and 

she requested detailed figures.  The Head of Property & Investment replied that this 
information would be available by the end of next week.  Councillor Mears asked for this 
information to be sent to members of the Sub-Committee. 

 
46.10 The Chair stated that he anticipated an increase take up of the Right to Buy scheme.  

He asked if officers were anticipating loss of units as a result of the process.  The 
Leasehold Manager replied that the numbers of people applying for Right to Buy had not 

16



 

9 
 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE SUB-COMMITTEE 12 FEBRUARY 
2013 

reached the level they were in the 2 years prior to the economic collapse.  Officers were 
forecasting an approximate 150 applications this year.  35-40% tended to complete.   

 
46.11 Barry Kent asked how Right to Buy affected new properties.  Could someone buy them 

after a year or two? The Leasehold Manager explained that new tenants had the Right 
to Buy but the council could not sell new houses, under the Cost Floor arrangements, at 
a price that was less than the cost of building the house.  This arrangement lasted for 15 
years.    

 
46.12 The Chair stated that when someone expressed an interest in Right to Buy, the 

responsibilities they were taking on were made clear to them, in terms of maintenance 
charges.   The Leasehold Manager stated that a small number of tenants purchased on 
Right to Buy.  A large number were sold on the private market.   With regard to Right to 
Buy, the council offered interviews to explain major works that were required.   

 
46.13 Roy Crowhurst referred to the Right to Buy Roadshow event and made the point that 

no-one could obtain a mortgage at the moment.   The Chair suggested that this matter 
should be referred to the Department for Communities and Local Government.   

 
46.14 Robert Spacie asked about numbers of repossessions under Right to Buy.  He also 

asked whether the council had been chasing money owed to it by leaseholders.  The 
Leasehold Manager explained that there may have been a number of repossessions by 
mortgage companies for non payment of mortgages, but not by the council.  The 
Council had a robust procedure for recovering non payment of service charges from 
leaseholders.   Approximately £750,000 of arrears had been passed to the council’s 
solicitors over the past 10 years, with a 90-95% collection rate achieved.  The Council 
had always managed to secure the money without having to go to the recourse of taking 
back the property.  The Council were doing everything possible, through the payment 
options it offered, to avoid so far as possible having to take forfeiture action.   
 

46.15 RESOLVED – That the presentation be noted. 
 
 

 
The meeting concluded at 5.40pm 

 
Signed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair 

Dated this day of  
 

17



18



HOUSING COMMITTEE 
MEETING      

Agenda Item 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: New Homes for Neighbourhoods –  
Estate Regeneration Programme 

Date of Meeting: 6 March 2012 

Report of: Head of City Regeneration 

Contact 
Officer: 

Name: Nick Hibberd Tel: 293020 

 Email: nick.hibberd@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All    

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE  
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
 
1.1 At its meeting on 26 September 2012 the Housing Committee agreed the 

funding and delivery strategy for the development of new and improved 
affordable housing on council owned Housing Revenue Account (HRA) land. 

 
1.2 The Committee agreed to the procurement of a delivery partner to take forward 

the final feasibility, design and development of new council homes on vacant 
garage sites in consultation with stakeholders, using a range of housing options 
based on Low Cost Home Ownership, Affordable Rents and Target Rents. 

 
1.3 The Committee also agreed the procurement of initial feasibility and design on 

identified case studies for housing opportunities on HRA land where 
appropriate, including stakeholder engagement and consultation. 

 
1.4 This report updates the Committee on progress made and outlines the 

proposed framework for an Estate Regeneration Programme of three phases 
and how it will be delivered. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
  
2.1 That the Housing Committee note the next steps and processes in the proposed 

Estate Regeneration Programme. 
 
2.2 That the Housing Committee note progress with the garage site procurement 

(Phase 1 of the Estate Regeneration Programme) and give delegated authority 
to the Strategic Director of Place in consultation with the Director of Finance and 
Resources to award the contract following completion of procurement of a 
delivery partner for the development of new housing at the sites specified in 
paragraphs 3.12 and 3.13 below and any substitute or additional garage sites. 

 
2.3 That the Housing Committee recommend that the Policy and Resources 

Committee agree: 

19



 2 

(1) that the four vacant and unlettable prefabricated bungalow units in the rear 
gardens of 243-245 Preston Road, Brighton (as shown on the annexed 
plan at Appendix 1) be demolished as required to enable redevelopment of 
that garden site with new housing, subject to planning consent, under 
Phase 2 of the Estate Regeneration Programme as outlined in paragraphs 
3.21 and 3.22 below; 

 
(2) that the vacant former Housing Office at Manor Place, Brighton (as shown 

on the annexed plan at Appendix 2) be demolished in order to be 
redeveloped, subject to planning consent, under Phase 2 of the Estate 
Regeneration Programme as outlined in paragraph 3.23 below; 

 
(3) to delegate authority to the Housing Committee to approve any further 

demolition of buildings on HRA land in relation to the Estate Regeneration 
Programme as required. 

 
2.4 That the Housing Committee agree that a range of funding, rent and home 

ownership options should be provided in new housing to be developed on HRA 
land under the Estate Regeneration Programme in order to ensure that 
development is viable and to increase the number of new homes the Estate 
Regeneration Programme can deliver, as set out in paragraphs 3.31 to 3.42. 

 
 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF 

KEY EVENTS: 
  
3.1 The report to Housing Committee in September 2012 provided an overview of 

the policy context of developing new housing on HRA land.  This includes: 
 

• Housing Strategy 2009-14 
- 3,759 affordable homes by 2030 
- Commitment to make best use of HRA assets, improve housing 

supply and ensure new developments contribute to improving the 
tenure mix of an area 

- Rising homelessness, small social and large private rented 
sectors, and rising needs  

• Housing Investment Programme 
- Investment for 500 homes with Registered Providers and Homes 

and Communities Agency (HCA) 
- 400 of these are affordable homes currently in development 

• City Plan 
- Target of 11,300 new homes in the city by 2030  
- Target of 500 new homes through longer term HRA estates 

masterplan/renewal to 2030 
- Need for 12,550 affordable homes to be provided 2012-2017 
- New sliding scale of affordable housing requirements for 

developments, from 20% on sites of 5-9 units to 40% on sites of 
15+ units 

• Housing Summit June 2012 
- New funding landscape and introduction of Affordable Rents for 

new social housing development 
- Need for new approach and financial modelling. 

20



 3 

 
Balchin Court  

 
3.2 The first new council homes to be built in the city for several years are at 

Balchin Court, where development has been led by the Housing Development 
Team. These 15 new homes on the site of the former Ainsworth House 
sheltered scheme include three 4 bedroom houses, eight 2 bed flats and four 1 
bed flats.  Two properties are designed for households with wheelchair users.  
 
 
Extra Care Housing  

 
3.3 Extra care housing for older people is a corporate priority and some HRA sites 

identified may be suitable to be developed for this purpose where funding is 
available.  This is subject to a separate project jointly undertaken by Housing 
and Adult Social Care. The proposed extra care scheme for development on 
HRA land at Brooke Mead is reported in a separate item on this agenda. 

 
  

New City Regeneration Unit and Estate Regeneration Team 
  
3.4 The internal restructure of the Place Directorate which took place in December 

2012 included the bringing together of existing council teams with a 
regeneration focus, the creation of a new Head of City Regeneration and a 
small Estate Regeneration team, in a new City Regeneration Unit. The City 
Regeneration Unit also includes the Major Projects & Regeneration, Economic 
Development and Sustainability teams to ensure joined up working to support 
delivery of the council’s regeneration, economic and sustainability objectives as 
well as the development of new affordable housing.   

 
3.5 Estate regeneration will form one strand in the wider City Regeneration 

Programme which will coordinate the projects managed by the City 
Regeneration Unit, also including major capital projects, City Deal and One 
Planet Living. A Programme Management approach will ensure that the 
governance and accountability for these projects is clear, and that outcomes 
and objectives are linked to the key priorities for the unit and wider council. 

 
3.6 The Estate Regeneration team within the City Regeneration Unit will provide a 

focus on regeneration opportunities on council land, including taking forward the 
projects to develop housing on vacant garage sites and wider estate 
regeneration opportunities which were detailed in the Housing Committee report 
in September 2012.  The new team, which became operational in January 2013, 
will lead the procurement of partners and expertise in order to deliver these 
projects and maximise regeneration opportunities on HRA land.  

 
3.7 The Estate Regeneration team will work closely with the Housing Property and 

Investment team who will lead the development of a HRA Asset Management 
Strategy and 30 year HRA Business Plan linked to a new Estate Regeneration 
Programme and Brighton and Hove One Planet Living sustainable housing 
plans. The building of new homes will complement the existing progress with 
major refurbishment and retrofitting of council housing stock.  

 

21



 4 

 
Estate Regeneration Programme 

 
3.8 The Estate Regeneration Programme will provide new sustainable and 

affordable homes in the city and improve some of our most disadvantaged 
estates. The programme aims to maximise opportunities to build new homes on 
HRA and other council land, and undertake larger scale redevelopments of 
existing estates in need of improvement.  The programme will continue and 
expand on the work started by Housing Commissioning (now Housing) which 
has seen the first new council homes built in the city for many years. 

 
3.9 A programme of three phases has been started, involving sites identified from 

the analysis of HRA stock and opportunities in the HRA estate master plan 
(produced in 2010 by CBRE Consultants), high level case studies prepared for 
some identified housing opportunities on HRA land (procured from GVA 
Consultants), business case appraisals for garage sites (procured from The 
Guinness Partnership) and new opportunities. Housing Property and Investment 
and the Estate Regeneration Team are working closely together to identify 
suitable estates and buildings for investment or redevelopment as part of our 
strategy to make best use of HRA assets and new opportunities.  A new HRA 
business planning model incorporating a range of data on HRA stock is being 
developed with Finance as an in-house tool, which will help assess risks and 
benefits of a variety of investment scenarios for HRA stock, including 
regeneration options. The business planning tool will enable long term 
investment planning to make best use of the newly self-financing HRA. 

 
 

Estate Regeneration Programme 

Phase Details 
Project 

Initiation 
Project 

Completion 

1 Former garage sites Underway 2015 

2 Infill and vacant land/ buildings March 2013 2017 

3 
Wider estate regeneration 
opportunities 

May 2013 2020 

 
 

3.10  The approach for each phase differs according to the project scale and impacts; 
for example the viability and consultation stage of phase 3 will be far more in-
depth and take longer than that for the garage sites and infill projects as it is 
likely to affect more people, land and homes (potentially involving decanting 
occupied properties and buy back from leaseholders). Despite these differences 
each phase will follow the process in the table below: 

   

22



 5 

 
Stage Project task  

1 Project Initiation 

2 Procurement 

3 
Initial consultation and 
interim design 

4 Consultation 

5 
Design and pre-
planning 

6 Planning 

     
      Financial     

modelling 

7 Mobilisation  

8 Construction  

9 Handover  

 
3.11 Each phase is subject to a project initiation process which will involve 

assessment of scheme viability (business case), detailed project planning and 
risk analysis. All final development will be subject to achieving financial viability, 
the availability of funding, the outcome of consultation and engagement with the 
local community and planning consent. Throughout the programme there will be 
a commitment to building energy efficient, sustainable homes and communities.  

 
 

Phase 1 Estate Regeneration Programme - Garage Sites 
 
3.12 We have briefed and consulted local councillors, appointed a technical adviser 

to support preparation of tender documents and evaluation and completed the 
preliminary stage to procure a delivery partner for development of eight former 
HRA garage sites across the city. As detailed in the September report, these 
have already been cleared, secured and made ready for development.  Initial 
feasibility and design work identified a potential 29 units across these eight 
sites, at the following locations: 

 

• Between Foredown Road and Easthill Drive, Portslade 

• Flint Close (South side), Portslade 

• Hinton Close, Hollingdean, Brighton 

• Natal Road, off Lewes Road, Brighton 

• Harmsworth Crescent, Hangleton, Hove 

• Rotherfield Crescent, Hollingbury, Brighton 

• Plumpton Road, Brighton 

• 4-7 Kensington Street and 15-20 Kensington Street, 
Brighton 

 
3.13 It is possible that following detailed design, viability and community consultation 

some of these sites will not be able to be progressed for housing development 
(for example due to issues such as access, planning and community views).  
The following HRA site has therefore been added to the procurement in order to 
secure more units and make the package more attractive to potential bidders: 

 

• Garage site at Flint Close (North side), Portslade. 

23



 6 

3.14 The garage site on the north side of Flint Close is immediately opposite the 
cleared and very similar south site and is in poor condition. Only four of the 14 
garages are currently tenanted and there is no waiting list. There are four 
vacant, lettable garages at other council housing garage sites within easy 
walking distance to which the current garage tenants could be transferred if 
development of this site progresses. 

 
3.15 Officers are also seeking to identify any other viable garage sites which could 

substitute for any of the above sites if necessary. Suggestions from members, 
the Building New Council Homes (BuNCH) resident group and other local 
residents will be welcomed.  There may also be additional future packages of 
garage site development under this phase where viable suitable sites are 
identified and communities support development.  

 
3.16 Briefings with ward councillors took place in February 2013 to take them 

through the initial designs and identify views and potential issues.  We are now 
starting a tender process with members of the HCA’s Southern Cluster Delivery 
Partner Panel. Procurement through this Panel is OJEU compliant and therefore 
allows us to procure a delivery partner much more quickly than if the council 
acted on its own. In addition to being a relatively fast and simple option, Panel 
members have agreed maximum tendered rates for development management 
services and construction works and minimum insurance cover.  

 
3.17 Resident consultation and engagement will focus primarily on the local 

communities neighbouring each site, ward councillors and other local 
stakeholders, in line with the ‘localism’ and ‘neighbourhood’ approach of the 
council’s delivery strategy detailed in the September 2012 report. The former 
garage sites are generally small and some of them are surrounded almost 
exclusively by housing which was sold years ago under the Right to Buy.  The 
contract with the delivery partner will require them to carry out resident 
engagement, working with the council. 

 
 
Phase 2 Estate Regeneration Programme - Infill sites and vacant land and 
buildings   
 

3.18 Phase 2 is progressing development opportunities on infill sites and vacant land 
and buildings. The Committee has already agreed in September 2012 to the 
procurement of initial viability and design on identified case studies for housing 
opportunities on HRA land where appropriate, including stakeholder 
engagement and consultation. Some very high level case studies have already 
been conducted. This phase is now being initiated by the new Estate 
Regeneration team and ward councillors will be consulted about possible sites. 

 
3.19 Again, resident consultation and engagement will focus primarily on the local 

communities neighbouring each site and other local stakeholders, with 
development options being tailored to the specific circumstances of each site, 
the preferences of the local community and the support of ward councillors.  
Larger sites may offer opportunities for mixed development of housing, work 
and community spaces and for using the innovative ways of involving local 
communities in transforming their neighbourhoods and their sustainability which 
are described in paragraph 3.29 below.  

24



 7 

 
3.20 The following are three examples of possible opportunities, subject to financial 

viability and funding, consultation and planning consent. 
 

• Rear gardens at 243 and 245 Preston Road, Brighton   
3.21 On Housing Committee’s recommendation, the Policy and Resources 

Committee agreed in July 2012 that the buildings and land at 243-245 Preston 
Road be appropriated to the HRA.  Housing Committee noted at its meeting on 
20 June 2012 that it may be possible to develop some new council housing in 
the rear gardens, behind the main buildings which are being refurbished. The 
four prefabricated bungalow units in those gardens – which have been empty 
since 2009 – were formerly used as temporary accommodation, are in very poor 
condition and unlettable. Although originally identified for leasing to Brighton & 
Hove Seaside Community Homes, none of them have been leased in order to 
facilitate redevelopment of the garden land, as suggested at that Housing 
Committee meeting.  

 
3.22 The units are currently being used as a site office and staff welfare facility by the 

contractors refurbishing the main buildings, but all four bungalow units could be 
demolished and the site be cleared in summer 2014. The Committee is asked 
now to recommend that Policy & Resources Committee approve that the 
bungalows be demolished in order to expedite further progress in exploring this 
potential development opportunity as part of Phase 2 of the Estate 
Regeneration Programme. 

 

• Former Manor Place Housing Office 
3.23  The Manor Place Housing Office was vacated when housing staff relocated to 

the new Whitehawk hub in spring 2012 and is no longer required as office 
space. This prefabricated building would also need to be demolished to make 
way for new development on the site.  

 

• Former Whitehawk Library 
3.24 There may be opportunities to develop new housing on some General Fund 

vacant sites and we are currently working with Property & Design on the vacant 
former Whitehawk Library declared surplus to requirement that has Cabinet 
approval to market and dispose of. Development options for this site are being 
considered with corporate partners and may be included within Phase 2. 

  
3.25 Officers will be looking to identify other vacant sites to include in Phase 2 and 

welcome suggestions from members, BuNCH and residents.   
 
Self Build housing 

3.26 In identifying vacant sites with development potential we will consider whether 
there are any opportunities which could be offered for self build rather than 
council housing, as suggested at the Housing Committee meeting on 16 
January 2013. 

 
 
Phase 3 Estate Regeneration Programme – Wider Estate Regeneration 

 
3.27 Wider estate regeneration in Phase 3 will involve working with local 

communities to develop proposals for the regeneration of estates in greatest 

25



 8 

need of investment and where there are development opportunities. It will be 
about more than providing decent homes and improvements. We will work with 
communities to develop a vision for their area, which may include new homes, 
commercial buildings and other facilities for residents, to address local housing 
needs, help people into training and employment and improve public health and 
residents’ wellbeing. We will work with colleagues across the council to make 
sure that our estate regeneration activities join up with other initiatives and 
major projects and that we maximise the opportunities available for residents. It 
will also require close work with Housing and their partner contractors for any 
retrofit and refurbishment aspects of individual schemes.   

 
3.28 The Housing Committee agreed in September 2012 to the procurement of initial 

feasibility and design on identified case studies for housing opportunities on 
HRA land where appropriate, including stakeholder engagement and 
consultation. Some very high level case studies relevant to Phase 3 have 
already been conducted. Subject to capacity and resources, the Estate 
Regeneration team aim to start project initiation for Phase 3 and progress initial 
feasibility assessment as quickly as possible. We will consult ward councillors at 
an early stage. 

   
3.29 Opportunities to redesign estates to help build sustainable communities where 

people want to live will enable us to engage and involve local residents in 
innovative and exciting ways to shape a new environment as well as providing 
energy efficient, sustainably built new homes. For example, the ‘Charrette’ 
system involves intensive planning sessions where residents, designers and 
others work together to share ideas and create a vision for development. It 
allows everyone who participates to be part of the design team. ‘Planning for 
real’ techniques use a wide variety of ways for communities to have ‘hands on’ 
involvement in shaping their neighbourhoods and get more involved in local 
decision making. 

 
3.30 We will welcome suggestions from residents and councillors of other sites to 

include in Phase 3 and will use the estates master plan and our new in-house 
business planning and asset management model to help assess suitability for 
redevelopment. Working with the Housing Property and Investment team we will 
identify where existing HRA investment programmes and projects have the 
potential to be developed into larger scale redevelopment opportunities.  

 
 
Financial modelling, rents and funding options 
 

3.31 Section 4 of the Housing Investment: 2012 – 2020 report to Housing Committee 
last September broadly set out the three categories of funding, with possible 
permutations as follows: 

• HRA self financing option 

• Registered Provider (RP), Co-operative & Charitable Vehicle Provider 

• Private Sector Funded options. 
 

3.32 The report recommended that all future funding options are kept under 
consideration until clarity emerges on the scale of the development programme. 
In light of this, following the initial financial modelling for the garage sites, the 

26



 9 

council’s brief asks bidders to explore private funding and innovative funding 
options with institutional investors, to be compared with the self financing option.  

 
3.33 For all options, the use of Affordable Rents for some properties will be key to 

enabling the council to deliver a larger new build programme. Affordable Rent is 
now the primary model for developing new social rented housing (see Glossary 
at Appendix 3). The HCA’s Affordable Housing Programme 2011-2015 for 
developing new social housing with subsidy comprises mainly homes for which 
housing providers may charge social tenants Affordable Rents of up to 80% of 
local market rates in order to achieve viable development. The government is 
expected to announce shortly the system for funding new social housing to 
replace it in 2015. 

 
3.34 It is also possible for the council to build new schemes without HCA funding 

through other funding options. The initial viability studies on the eight garage 
sites estimated that the HRA could develop the 29 proposed units on garage 
sites with a HRA subsidy of around £88,000 per property if they are let at Target 
Rents.  If Affordable Rents of around 70-80% of market rents (including service 
charges) were to be charged, the studies indicated subsidy required from the 
HRA could drop by over four fifths to less than £16,000 per home (assuming no 
external grant funding).  

 
3.35 The table below indicates the average level of subsidy required per property for 

developing the 29 homes (assuming that the net rental income is used to repay 
the capital and interest repayments for the new build) depending on the type of 
rent charged: Target, Affordable or Market. Target Rents are set to a 
government formula and are substantially below local Market Rents. The 
Affordable Rent is based on 80% of the local average private sector rent capped 
at Local Housing Allowance housing benefit levels (see also Glossary at 
Appendix 3).   
 
Rent levels and HRA subsidy  

 Target Rent   Affordable Rent Market  Rent 

Weekly rent for a 
2 bed property 

£96.48 per week1 
(38% market rent) 

£184.62 per week2 
(73% market rent) 

£252.25 per 
week3 

HRA or other 
subsidy required 

£88,0174  per unit £15,8624 per unit None 

 
3.36 This means that the council could build five and a half homes for Affordable 

Rent to every one home at Target Rent.   For example, assuming the current 
revenue surpluses in the medium financial strategy for 2014/15 of £2m 
(currently identified for debt set aside), we would achieve 125 new homes per 
annum with Affordable Rents compared to 23 homes a year with Target Rents. 

 
3.37 The actual subsidy will vary from scheme to scheme depending on the actual 

build costs, borrowing costs, rental income and other ongoing costs. For 
example, the total cost for the Balchin Court development is forecast at £1.973 

                                            
1
 Rent set for Balchin Court in 2012/13 including service charges 

2
 Local Housing Allowance limit in 2012/13 for a household needing 2 bedroom accommodation 

3
 BHCC Quarterly Housing Costs Update Report (2012 Q2) based on sample monitoring of the homes 
advertised in the weekly Latest Homes magazine 

4
 As calculated in business case viability studies for the eight garage sites 

27



 10 

million, which the HRA is fully funding apart from a small HCA grant of £0.222 
million. The 15 properties are to be let at Target Rents (i.e. usual social housing 
rent levels without reduction under rent restructuring phasing arrangements). 
The net rental income streams will fund approximately £1.004 million of the 
build costs through borrowing, which means there is a HRA subsidy of £0.747 
million, circa £50,000 per unit.  

 
3.38 If new homes in the former garage sites were used for Low Cost Shared 

Ownership, with 50% equity sales and 2% rents, the subsidy required from the 
HRA was calculated at less than £20,000 per dwelling and, in addition, lower 
levels of loan finance would be needed than for the Affordable Rent option. Low 
Cost Home Ownership schemes such as Homebuy are commonly used to cross 
subsidise new social housing development. These enable first time buyers to 
enter the housing market by, for example, buying a 25% or 50% share of a 
property and paying rent on the remainder. 

 
3.39 It is clear that mixed tenure options with new funding models and higher rents 

are required to maximise output from HRA assets. The initial viability studies on 
the garage sites suggested a mixed programme of tenures to ensure a 
balanced and deliverable programme. Mixed tenure development complies with 
the Housing Strategy and the draft City Plan requirement that Affordable 
housing provision should incorporate a mix of tenures. New development will 
also follow City Plan policy on proportion of affordable housing within 
developments and unit size mix. To support discussions with members and 
resident representatives, including Tenant Scrutiny, further work will be 
undertaken to review local Affordable Rent levels based on housing costs as a 
proportion of income for a range of needs including those in receipt of benefit, 
pension and working households.  

 
3.40 In line with the council’s Tenancy Strategy, also on this agenda for approval, we 

would expect Affordable Rents to be set at the lower of either 80% market rent 
level or the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) limit to ensure they remain 
affordable to those on benefits and for council tenancies for new Affordable 
Rent homes to continue to be lifetime tenancies.  The introduction of Affordable 
Rents for new council homes would have no impact on existing tenants unless 
they choose to move to an Affordable Rent home.  

 
3.41 There is some evidence of tenant support for higher rents for new homes. At the 

City Assembly of council tenants and leaseholders in November 2012, the most 
popular means of making efficiencies to reinvest in existing and new homes that 
residents identified included increasing rents for new homes.  We will also 
discuss funding, rent and tenure options with the Building New Council Homes 
(BuNCH) group when we brief them on the Estate Regeneration Programme 
(see also section 4 below). 

 
3.42 The impact of higher rents on tenants would be offset by lower energy costs 

from new homes built to high sustainability standards. Affordable Rents could 
still be covered within eligible households’ benefits. Mixed tenure schemes 
would also facilitate more sustainable communities, with rented and Low Cost 
Home Ownership housing ‘speckled’ within developments where practicable. 
We will therefore continue to model various scenarios for each potential site, 
based on a mix of housing types, rents and funding options. 

28



 11 

 
 
Procurement options 
 

3.43 Due to the value of contracts to build new homes, the council will need to follow 
EU compliant procedures to procure a development partner(s) for further sites 
under the council’s contract standing orders. Procurement options include: 

 

• Procuring a collaborative strategic construction partnership specifically for 
the Estate Regeneration  Programme  

• Using an OJEU compliant panel such as the HCA Delivery Partner Panel 
(the HCA is currently re-procuring and a new Panel will be in place for April 
2013)  

• Procuring a new framework to use for housing development projects as and 
when they are ready 

• Procuring delivery partners for individual projects. 
All procurement options involve significant timescales and will be weighed up in 
light of the likely scale of the Estate Regeneration Programme from funding 
available, the options’ speed of delivery, value for money and optimum outcome 
for the council, including wider benefits to the city.  

 
 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
  
4.1 The consultation with council tenants and leaseholders on the HRA budget for 

2013/14 found substantial resident support for house building with HRA funds, 
increasing rents for new homes and effective management of council housing 
assets, including sale of buildings and sites. In autumn 2012 tenants and 
leaseholders attending Area Housing Management Panels voted 56% in favour 
of making efficiencies to reinvest in existing and new homes over maintaining 
things as they are (5%), and 40% wanted both options to be in balance. 
Tenants and leaseholders were subsequently asked at the November 2012 City 
Assembly to identify and then vote on how they would prefer those efficiencies 
to be made. The most popular option included increasing rents for new homes 
and the second most favoured option was to review HRA assets e.g. housing 
offices, garages or land to see if any can be sold.  

 
4.2 Local residents neighbouring the former garage sites which were cleared in 

spring 2012 were informed the council was arranging feasibility studies to look 
at the options for the future use of the sites and that they would have the 
opportunity to be involved in any proposals.   We will write to those local 
residents to update them on the procurement of a delivery partner and the 
timetable for consultation. Ward councillors have been kept up to date and 
briefed on the viability studies in their wards. We will continue to keep them 
informed and involve them in community engagement.   

 
4.3 Community involvement and effective consultation is key to site development, 

design and viability and the successful delivery of our Estate Regeneration 
Programme. We will publicise the programme under the name ‘New Homes for 
Neighbourhoods’, emphasising the ‘localism’ and ‘neighbourhood’ approach that 
Housing Committee agreed for the delivery strategy.  We will use a bottom up 
community engagement approach, providing opportunities for local residents to 

29



 12 

discuss plans in a safe and open environment employing innovative techniques 
detailed in paragraph 3.29 above. We will aim to give a voice to residents who 
have not got involved before and support the Everyone Counts action plan of 
other measures to extend resident involvement in council housing.   

 
4.4 Regular updates will be given to Housing Committee, Housing Management 

Consultative Sub-Committee, the BuNCH group and Area Panels. Council 
tenants and leaseholders will also be kept informed through Homing In and will 
be encouraged to come forward with suggestions of sites and redevelopment 
opportunities on council housing land. Information will also be put on the 
council’s website. Queries and suggestions can be directed to 
Estate.regeneration@brighton-hove.gov.uk. It will be made very clear that no 
development will take place without proper consultation with local residents. 

 
 
5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
 Financial Implications: 
  
5.1 The Housing Investment 2012-2020: Strategy & Implementation Plan report 

approved by Housing Committee on 26 September 2012 outlined proposals for 
future redevelopment and new build opportunities on HRA land.  This included 
developing the final feasibility, design and build of 29 new housing units on 
demolished vacant garage sites. The current capital programme includes 
funding for initial feasibility, design, planning to develop these schemes, with 
£1.000 million for building costs (during 2012/13) and a further £4.315 million in 
the provisional 2014/15 programme. Once full schemes are developed, a report 
will be presented to Committee for scheme approval. 

 
5.2 The Housing Investment 2012-2020 report also included approval for funding (of 

£0.350 m for 2012/13 and £0.650 m for 2013/14) for the procurement of initial 
feasibility and design, on identified case studies for housing opportunities on 
HRA land where appropriate, including stakeholder engagement and 
consultation.  Any proposed deliverable schemes from these case studies 
identified within 2013/14 will be reported to Policy & Resources for project, 
budget and funding approval.  
 

5.3 The HRA currently has headroom for additional borrowing of around £31m 
below the borrowing cap of £158.2m set by central government, subject to 
affordability. In addition to the scope for HRA borrowing up to the cap to fund 
new development, there is provision of £1m in the 2013/14 HRA budget and 
£2m in each of the years 2014/15 and 2015/16 to pay off existing debt which 
could, if necessary, be used to subsidise new schemes. The 30 year HRA 
Business Plan is being developed and new investment opportunities will be 
modelled within the plan to identify the optimum solutions. 

 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Sue Chapman           Date: 11 February 2013  
 
 Legal Implications: 
 
5.4 This report provides details of the HRA Estate Regeneration Programme and 

generally any legal implications are set out within the body of the report. With 

30



 13 

specific reference to the Preston Road properties, it should be noted that the 
report regarding the appropriation of land to the HRA, considered by Housing 
Committee on 20 June 2012 and by Policy & Resources on 12 July 2012, stated 
that  “Any inclusion of some of the residential units and gardens in a subsequent 
Batch disposal to Seaside will be actioned in accordance with existing 
arrangements regarding such leases and any proposal for development of the 
remainder of the site to be appropriated will be the subject of a further report in 
due course” For the avoidance of doubt this is the further report referred to. 

 
5.5 It should be noted that it is proposed that all future demolition of HRA  

properties within the Programme will be delegated to Housing Committee. 
 
 Lawyer Consulted: Bob Bruce, Deputy Head of Law      Date: 7 February 2013

  
 Equalities Implications: 
 
5.6 An increase in housing supply will increase the opportunity to provide new, well 

designed homes to local households registered in need. New development 
provides an opportunity to better meet the needs of particularly vulnerable 
households including those, such as existing elderly residents, who may be 
under occupying their current home. 

 
5.7 Across the housing portfolio, 10% of all new housing will include 

accommodation designed for households with a disability, increasing the 
visibility and inclusion of such households. The brief for development of the 
former garage sites requires 5% of the new units to be wheelchair adapted.  

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
5.8 High sustainability standards are important for new homes built by the council 

and we want to achieve homes that are energy efficient and minimise carbon 
emissions.  New homes should also include features to help support people to 
live sustainable lifestyles and encourage the development of more sustainable 
communities. 

 
5.9 The council will ensure our partners follow local sustainability planning guidance 

and policies, and that new homes are built to at least Code for Sustainable 
Homes Level 4 and higher where viable.  We will also look to include Solar 
Photo Voltaic systems and other renewable energy sources where possible on 
relevant homes and for new homes to meet Lifetime Homes space standards 
(see Glossary at Appendix 3). 

 
5.10 It is anticipated that some new homes will be built to Passivhaus principles so 

they are super insulated with a high level of air tightness, requiring up to 75% 
less energy for space heating than standard practice for UK new build.  This 
reduces energy use and therefore results in lower energy bills for residents and 
lower carbon emissions.  Passivhaus homes provide high standards of comfort 
and building health and the construction method can provide opportunities for 
young and semi-skilled people to be involved in building process. 

 

31



 14 

5.11 The new homes will support One Planet Living and when contracts are tendered 
bidders will be asked put forward innovative ways of meeting the 10 One Planet 
Living principles.  This could be achieved by for example:  

 

• Providing secure cycle storage 

• Incorporating food growing areas into schemes 

• Including recycling facilities in kitchen units 

• Providing composting facilities in gardens and communal areas 

• Incorporating water saving and re-use measures 

• Providing green walls and roofs on some developments to encourage 
wildlife 

• Incorporating community facilities where needed and possible.  
 

5.12 Some of these measures will not need to significantly increase scheme costs 
and will help new residents to live more sustainable lives. Partners will also be 
asked to demonstrate these principles through the construction process by for 
example minimising distances that materials travel (e.g. local materials and 
supply chain), using re-cycled materials, using local labour and ensuring that 
food and refreshments provided on site are locally sourced or Fair Trade. 

 

 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 
5.13 The Estate Regeneration Programme will offer the opportunity to provide new, 

well-designed homes and link to wider regeneration opportunities, including 
work to deliver the council’s economic and sustainability objectives. Good urban 
housing has been shown to influence the rate of crime and disorder and quality 
of life. 

 
 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
  
5.14  There are a number of risks and benefits associated with the estate 

regeneration programme and a risk log will be maintained to monitor these and 
ensure contingency plans are in place.  Key risks include: 

 

• Social – that schemes do not have long term sustainability e.g. fall into 
disrepair or anti-social behaviour 

• Financial – that schemes are not financially viable or unable to gain 
sufficient finance to fund them 

• Planning – that planning permission is not given or there is a protracted 
planning process for individual schemes  

• Stakeholder – that local communities do not support individual schemes 

• Sustainability – that it is difficult to balance sustainability goals with 
financial viability. 

 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
5.15 There are strong links between improving housing, providing new affordable 

homes and reducing health inequalities. Energy efficient homes which are 
easier and cheaper to heat will help support the health of households. 

 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 

32



 15 

 
5.16  As reported in the Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 2013-2016 

considered by the Housing Committee on 16 January 2013, the development 
of new housing has a strong economic multiplier impact on the local economy, 
estimated at over £3 of economic output for every £1 of public investment, 
creating jobs and supply chain opportunities.  

5.17 Partners will be asked to work with the Local Employment Scheme to 
ensure that work, apprenticeship and training opportunities are 
provided for local people.  We will also look at how larger schemes 
can provide employment opportunities for people living on estates 
included in the Estate Regeneration Programme.   

33



 16 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
  

1. Plan of four bungalow units in the rear gardens of 243-245 Preston 
Road, Brighton for which permission to demolish is being sought 

 
2. Plan of former Housing Office in Manor Place, Brighton for which 

permission to demolish is being sought 
 

3. Glossary 
 

 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
 None 
 
Background Documents 
  
Housing Investment 2012-2020: Strategy & Implementation Plan report to Housing 
Committee 26 September 2012 

34



N Preston

Shelter

28.8m

Rissom
Court

St John's Church

27.7m

LB

TCB

Stamford Lodge

Lynden
Court

Cumberland
Lodge

El
Sub Sta

LB

27.3m

Bowling Green

Pavilion

Resort

Hotel

Shelter

 243

 245

New Homes for Neighbourhoods – Estate

Regeneration Programme

        Appendix 1: Bungalow units at 243-245 Preston

Road, Brighton

 THE

BUNGALOWS

35



36



N

Bus Garage

27.8m

Shelter

Whitehawk

Inn
(PH)

Robert

Lodge

32.3m

Surgery

Posts

TCB

Robert

Lodge

Works

27.0m

HOUSING OFFICE

New Homes for Neighbourhoods – Estate

Regeneration Programme

Appendix 2: Former Housing Office at Manor Place,

Brighton

37



38



New Homes for Neighbourhoods – Estate Regeneration Programme Appendix 3 
 
  
Glossary  
 
Affordable housing – housing for rent or sale, including shared ownership, at below 
market levels. Affordable housing includes: 

• social rented housing for which guideline Target Rents are set through the 
national rent regime   

• Affordable Rent housing and  

• Intermediate housing  
provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market.   
 
Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. Affordable 
housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable price for future eligible 
households or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing 
provision1. 
 
Affordable Rent – rents (including service charges, where applicable) up to a 
maximum of 80% of local Market Rent. Most new social housing now being developed 
by Registered Providers with government funding under the Affordable Homes 
Programme will be let at Affordable Rents. Affordable Rent homes are allocated in the 
same way as properties let at usual social housing rents, i.e. through Homemove.  
 
The council’s draft Tenancy Strategy expects rents for Affordable Rent housing in the 
city to be capped at the lower of either 80% market rent level or the Local Housing 
Allowance housing benefit limit, to ensure Affordable Rent homes remain truly 
affordable to local tenants of registered providers of social housing.  
 
Affordable Home Ownership – Low Cost Home Ownership schemes to help 
people take their first steps onto the housing ladder who cannot purchase on the 
open market due to lack of affordability and problems obtaining a mortgage.  For 
example, Homebuy enables first time buyers to enter the housing market by 
buying a 25% to 75% share of a property and paying rent on the remainder.   
  
Affordable Housing Programme – the Homes and Communities Agency’s Affordable 
Homes Programme 2011-15 is a programme of investment for Registered Providers to 
increase the supply of new affordable homes in England. This programme reflects a 
move away from central government block grant funding for new development and its 
replacement with private finance funding and the Affordable Rent model. The extra 
rent enables the housing provider to borrow more money to pay for building the home.   
 
Most homes in the programme will be at Affordable Rents, with some for affordable 
home ownership, supported housing and in some circumstances, social rent. An 
announcement is awaited on what will replace this programme in 2015. 
 
Code for Sustainable Homes – a national sustainability standard developed by the 
Government for the design and construction of new homes as part of building 
assessment tools called BREEAM (Building Research Establishment environmental 

                                            
1
 National Planning Policy Framework March 2012 DCLG 

39



 2 

assessment method). The Code rates the whole home as a complete package, 
measuring its sustainability against: 

• energy/CO2 

• pollution 

• water  

• health and well-being 

• materials  

• management 

• surface water run-off 

• ecology and 

• waste. 
  
It scores each dwelling within a scale from Level 1 (the lowest) to Level 6 (the highest, 
achieving Zero Carbon status). Even the lowest level is above standards required by 
Building Regulations. 
 
Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 – Code Level 4 homes have, for example, to 
be 44% more energy efficient than required by the 2006 Buildings Regulations and 
25% more energy efficient than under the 2010 Buildings Regulations. 
  
Estate Regeneration Programme – a medium term programme to provide new 
sustainable and affordable homes in the city and improve some of our most 
disadvantaged council estates. The council’s programme aims to maximise 
opportunities to build new homes on Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and other 
council land, both using infill sites of vacant land and buildings and undertaking 
larger scale redevelopment of existing estates in need of improvement.  Its name - 
New Homes for Neighbourhoods - emphasises its focus on producing new homes 
and involving local residents in improving their neighbourhoods. 
 
Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) – the government agency that allocates 
funding to deliver new Affordable social housing in England. Since April 2012 the HCA 
also regulates registered providers under the Regulatory Framework for social housing 
in England. 
 
Intermediate housing – homes for sale and rent provided at a cost above social rent 
but below market levels subject to the criteria in the Affordable Housing definition 
above. These can include shared equity (shared ownership and equity loans), other 
low cost homes for sale and intermediate rent, but not Affordable Rent housing. 
 
Lifetime Homes standard – a set of 16 design criteria for building accessible, flexible 
and easily adaptable homes to meet the broadest range of housing need and enable 
simple and cost-saving future adaptations if and when required: 

1. wider parking spaces for easier access to vehicles 
2. a convenient level or sloping footpath from car space to home 
3. level or gently sloping access to homes rather than steps 
4. a level threshold at the entrance door 
5. wider, shallower, ‘easy going’ stairs 
6. doorways and hallways wide enough for a wheelchair 
7. basic wheelchair access and turning room throughout the property 
8. entrance level living room accessible to all 
9. potential for an entrance level bedspace 
10. entrance level wc and drainage to fit an accessible shower if required 

40



 3 

11. bathroom and cloakroom walls strong enough to take grab rails etc if required 
12. provision to allow a through floor or stair lift if required 
13. potential route for ceiling tracking hoist between bedroom and bathroom 
14. bathroom layout giving easy access to facilities 
15. windows and handles at a convenient height for all and low level cill in living 

room so a seated person can see out 
16. sockets, switches and controls for day to day use at a comfortable height for 

all users. 
 
Low Cost Home Ownership – there are a number of schemes designed to help 
residents buy an affordable home, including shared ownership, First Buy equity loans 
and New Buy. These schemes are to help first time buyers, key workers and social 
tenants who would otherwise be unable to buy a home. They are generally open to 
households earning less than £60,000 a year.  
 
Market Rent – generally, local private rented sector rents. The RICS definition of 
Market Rent is used for calculating Affordable Rents as a proportion of Market 
Rent:   ‘Market rent is the estimated amount for which a property, or space within 
a property, should lease (let) on the date of valuation between a willing lessor and 
a willing lessee on appropriate lease terms in an arm’s-length transaction after 
proper marketing wherein the parties had acted knowledgeably, prudently and 
without compulsion. Whenever market rent is provided the ‘appropriate lease 
terms’ which it reflects should also be stated.’ 2  
 
Passivhaus standard – Passivhaus homes are super insulated with a high level of air 
tightness, requiring up to 75% less energy for space heating than standard practice for 
UK new build. Passivhaus homes provide high standards of comfort and building 
health and the construction method can provide opportunities for young and semi-
skilled people to be involved in building process. 
 
Registered Provider (RP) – a provider of social housing registered with and 
regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency. Registered providers include 
housing associations (known as private RPs) and councils with retained housing 
stock. 
 
Subsidy – funding required over and above the income from the newly developed 
properties. 
 
Target Rent – guideline rents set to a government formula for social rented 
housing owned by local authorities and private registered providers, which 
are substantially below local market rents. Current council tenants’ rents are 
being increased towards Target Rents through phased increases under ‘rent 
convergence’. We will start to charge full Target Rents for new council 
tenancies subject to approval of the HRA revenue budget 
 

                                            
2
 Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) guidance on valuation for Affordable Rent  

41



42



HOUSING COMMITTEE Agenda Item 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Extra Care Housing Update 

Date of Meeting: 6 March 2013  

Report of: Strategic Director Place / Director Adult Social 
Services 

Contact Officer: Name: Martin Reid Tel: 29-3321 

 Email: martin.reid@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: Queens Park  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 This report updates Committee on progress to secure increased supply of extra 

care housing in the City in relation to our recent bid to the Homes & Communities 
Agency (HCA) for funding under the Care and Support Specialist Housing Fund. 
This funding is made available by the Department of Health to support the 
development of specialist housing for older people and adults with disabilities.  
Over 5 years from 2013/14, £160m funding will be made available by the 
Department of Health to be delivered through the HCA. The prospectus is clear 
that: 

 
  ‘Priority will be given to schemes which have already achieved, or are well 

advanced in the process of achieving planning consent and in particular those 
which can start on site in the first year of the Fund (2013/14)’. 

 
1.2 Although the City has a relatively young population, growth over the next 20 

years is likely to be strongest in those people aged 60.  In particular, there is an 
anticipated 30% increase of people aged 85 and over living in the City.  

 
1.3 In light of this demographic change, delivery of more extra care housing in the 

City remains a Corporate Plan, Housing Strategy, Older Peoples Strategy and 
City Plan priority.  Extra care housing, not only for older people but for vulnerable 
adults who need to live in a supported environment, enables people to maintain 
their independence whilst delivering economies of scale that drive down unit 
costs.  As a high user of expensive residential care, it is also a Budget priority to 
identify and promote cost effective alternatives including the development of 
more extra care housing. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That Committee note the proposed Brooke Mead Extra Care scheme which will 

be funded through affordable rents, a contribution from Adult Social Care 
revenue budgets, shared ownership and subsidy funding incorporated within the 
recent bid to the Homes & Communities Agency (HCA).  
 

2.2 That Committee note proposals to proceed with a Planning application for the 
approval of extra care housing on the Brooke Mead Extra Care scheme, the 

43



current timetable for the proposed development and the pursuit of other funding 
options as detailed in the report.    

 
2.3 That the Committee recommend that the Policy and Resources Committee agree 

that the vacant Housing Revenue Account (‘HRA’) block of Brooke Mead, Albion 
Street, Brighton [as shown on the annexed plan] be demolished in order to be 
redeveloped, subject to Planning consent.  

 
3. HOUSING NEED/STRATEGY: 
 
3.1 Brighton and Hove has a growing population facing a significant increase in the 

number of older people, in particular those over eighty with a support need.  The 
City is currently a high user of residential care and is committed to providing 
alternative accommodation options, in particular developing extra care housing 
for adults and older people as a Corporate and Budget priority. 

 
3.2 The Council has a strong track record in securing investment for new extra care 

housing in the City, working in partnership with Department of Health, Housing 
Corporation and Registered Providers in delivery of New Larchwood, Patching 
Lodge and Vernon Gardens extra care schemes. 

 
3.3 Following the development of the City’s first extra care scheme at New 

Larchwood in Coldean, both Housing Committee and Adult Social Care 
Committee agreed to adopt the extra care strategy on 3 November 2005 and 12 
December 2005 respectively as a basis for the further development of extra care 
to meet the long term care needs of older people in the City. 

 
3.4 In 2009 a joint report was taken by Adult Social Care and Housing which 

recommended that Extra Care Housing was allocated through Choice Based 
Lettings. This was agreed and by both Housing and ASC Committees and has 
been the adopted policy ever since. 

 
3.5 This is reflected and will be developed under the following Council Corporate 

Plan priorities aligned to Tackling Inequality: 
 

Vulnerable adults supported to live healthy, independent lives 
 
3.6 Provide more extra care housing and supported accommodation to meet the 

growing demand of those people with complex needs to remain in the 
community. 

 
Decent, affordable, healthy housing 

 
3.7 Work with the Homes & Communities Agency, neighbouring authorities, housing 

associations and other organisations to provide new and improved affordable 
and energy efficient homes including the regeneration of Council owned housing 
estates and the development of other housing land. 

 
3.8 The Brighton & Hove Local Housing Investment Plan supports the City’s Housing 

Strategy: ‘healthy homes, healthy lives, healthy city’ which recognises housing as 
a key Determinant of Health and forms an integral part of the City’s Sustainable 
Community Strategy. 

44



 
3.9 Through our Housing Strategy we are committed to: 

• Improving housing supply, including the provision of extra care housing 

• Making best use of the housing stock 

• Increasing the supply of affordable rented housing 

• Identifying opportunities to improve and develop deprived neighbourhoods 

 

3.10 This extra care investment priority has been identified with our partners via the 
Housing Summit, Strategic Housing Partnership and through our regular 
meetings with Homes and Communities Agency as well as Registered Providers 
via our Affordable Housing Delivery Partnership. 

 

Affordable Housing Development Programme 2011-15 
 
3.11 We are reviewing the current  Affordable Housing Development Programme and 

discussing with providers the options for the modelling around the 60% portion 
which was planned for the open market as this may provide a solution if the units 
meet the specification for extra care.  We are discussing with providers what the 
cost of this would be, e.g. to enable those units to be rented at Local Housing 
Allowance rates and identifying any capital shortfall that may impact on viability.  

 

City Plan 

 

3.12 Our proposed City Plan has identified a significant shortfall in affordable homes 
by 2030, including extra care housing.  New affordable homes, including extra 
care, are expected to deliver the following benefits to: 

• Households: support needs are met; stability for households; improved health 
outcomes 

• Communities: attract & maintain employment opportunities; quality 
      neighbourhoods 

•   The City: benefits the economy; supports One Planet Living; supports a 
strong labour force; helps meet our statutory duties 

 
Housing Needs and Older People 

 
3.13 The extra care strategy agreed by the City Council in 2005 was based on the 

premise that extra care housing should be developed to meet the long term care 
needs of older people.  By providing the necessary levels of personal care in 
decent and affordable housing, extra care provides a dignified and cost-effective 
alternative to both residential care and high cost home care packages. 

 
3.14 Population projections1 for Brighton & Hove show that an additional 2,000 people 

aged 85 or over will be living in the City by 2030 (30% increase).  While there 
may be improvements in people’s health and well-being during this time, overall it 
is reasonable to expect that such an increase will lead to additional demand for 
long term care services. 

 
3.15 Specifically, it is estimated that by 2030: 

• more than 2,000 people aged 85 or over will have some form of dementia (an  
increase of 27% over current numbers; 

                                            
1
  ONS population projections DH POPPI website 

45



• 26% of people aged 85 or over will be on low incomes (in receipt of pension 
credit); 

• there will be over 11,000 people aged 75 or over living alone. 
 

3.16 For people in these ‘risk’ categories, there is likely to be a significant impact on       
their ability to remain living independently in their own homes. 

 
3.17 Without the development of additional extra care facilities, this impact will require 

a significant increase in the provision of residential care and home care, with a 
corresponding increase in the community care budget.  By 2030, it is estimated 
that there will be an additional 390 people in residential care supported by the 
City Council, a potential 25% increase on current spend levels. 

 
3.18    The 30% increase in the number of people aged 85 or over also suggests an 

upward pressure on the provision of intensive home care services and there 
could be an additional 343 older people requiring this service by the year 2030.  
Overall, therefore, there appears to be a need to provide additional long term 
care resources for over 700 people by 2030. 

 
3.19 Meeting this need through the provision of extra care housing provides an 

alternative to the current dilemma where there is sometimes an invidious choice 
between ‘best value’ and ‘independence and dignity’.  Enabling someone to 
remain living independently at home may become unaffordable; placing someone 
in a care home may result in institutionalisation and the consequent loss of 
independence and dignity. 

 
3.20 Extra care provides a ‘halfway house’ where independence and dignity can be 

protected by enabling people to live in what is in effect their own home in a 
supported environment.  At the same time, it achieves financial efficiency: at 
Patching Lodge the current weekly unit cost of £201 per resident compares 
favourably with high cost home care packages, and residential care rates of 
between £341 and £460 per week. 

 
3.21 As well as providing a modern and dignified form of long term care that better 

responds to the changing life experiences and expectations of the next 
generation of older people, the development of extra care resources across the 
City offers significant benefits for housing: 

 

• the ability to free up family housing; 

• the provision of higher density housing, using relatively small urban sites; 

• the ability for some people to retain their housing equity; 

• the creation of schemes heavily advocated by their users. 
 
3.22 Brighton & Hove places comparatively large numbers of people in care homes.  

However the City is committed to moving away from care settings which do not 
meet the expectations and requirements of older people and which places a 
significant financial burden on the authority, NHS and the third sector. The 
increased numbers of people with dementia places additional pressure on City.  
We are therefore developing extra care housing for adults/older people and are 
committed to provide additional options in the City other than residential care. As 
a consequence the Council budget strategy includes the need to focus on 
developing more extra care housing to meet demand. 

46



 
4. BROOKE MEAD DEVELOPMENT 
 
4.1 Brooke Mead as an extra care option initially arose from a review of Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA) assets. Brooke Mead is a HRA asset and was originally 
a sheltered housing scheme of 9 non self contained units mostly bedsits with 
warden accommodation and shared facilities. The scheme became unattractive 
and hard to let due to aging and poorly served accommodation i.e. no lift etc. For 
the past 20 years the building was used as temporary accommodation for people 
we have a duty to accommodate under the homelessness legislation but was 
decanted and identified for redevelopment on the discovery of asbestos in the 
roof.  The building is currently empty. 

 
4.2 Brooke Mead would provide an extra care housing scheme for older people and 

those living with dementia.  It will serve as a quality extra care scheme in the 
heart of the City centre in an area with substantial numbers of older people, 
many from low income households in poor neighbourhoods.  Many of the older 
people appear to be living on the periphery of this central location and are often 
excluded and marginalised from the wider community. Proposed investment of 
an extra care housing scheme in this location will make a major contribution to 
the quality of life for those who hitherto have been unable to access affordable 
supported high quality accommodation and provide an alternative form of 
housing for those who can no longer live at home and who previously would have 
to move to a care home. An extra care scheme offers older people a dignified 
environment which enhances their quality of life. 

 
4.3 The proposal is to develop an extra care housing scheme of 45 self contained 

flats in a 5 storey development. The scheme is based on 39, 1 bed units for rent 
and 6, 2 bed units for low cost home ownership, with all flats developed to life 
time home standards. Generous space standard have been allowed for, enabling 
sufficient room for entertaining, relaxing and enjoying personal pursuits, with 
minimum net internal space standards of 52 m2 for 1 bed and 75 m2 for 2 beds 
depending on orientation.  10% of all developments have been identified for fully 
adapted wheel chair use. Capital costs for the entire building are appraised at 
BREEAM standard ‘Good’. Each apartment is designed for independent living 
with a separate kitchen / living area to the bedroom and a shower room designed 
to be fully accessible. The rooms will be well lit, with a terrace / balcony for each 
resident. Terraces could be used for flower pots or easily accessible window 
boxes.  The development has been imaginatively designed with communal space 
at its heart.  It is envisaged that the development of community based resources 
at Brooke Mead will be modelled on the City’s successful work at Patching Lodge 
where through the work of the LifeLines project, a thriving community hub has 
been established. 

 
4.4  Individual flats are developed around the central court yard with double aspect 

views to and from the flats, one view looking out to the street scene, the other 
looking down into the communal space below. The design which is safe for 
people who may become lost creates a sense of community, removing a feeling 
of isolation prevalent of residential settings.  The development has been 
designed as a hub for the community particularly for those with dementia 
complementing existing community provision. The wrap around designs has 

47



particular relevance to those experiencing dementia are well as creating a sense 
of space and openness. 

 
4.5 The community and communal space can be utilised at all times particularly early 

evenings where much of the surrounding existing community activity closes 
down. The central garden space made with glass curtain walling enables night 
and day light to penetrate at all times lending  itself to a comfortable, modern 
exciting space in which community activity can coalesce.  Office, staff and facility 
space is included in the design as well as outside space with the use of balconies 
and a walled roof garden. 

 
4.6 The Scheme design developed by Fielden Clegg & Bradley Studios is appended 

to this report. 
 
4.7 Deliverability, as well as value for money, innovation and quality are key criteria.  

In light of this we propose to proceed with a Planning application for the approval 
of extra care housing on the Brooke Mead Extra Care scheme. 

 
4.8 The table below sets out the indicative timescales for the various stages of the 

planning application. This timetable assumes a three month process with a start 
date from 11 February 2013 and the submitting of the planning application by the 
end of April.  The process assumes regular client contact and progress meetings 
(one every two weeks).  

 

   

Project start w/c 11
th

 February 2013 

Commission surveys w/c 11
th

 February  2013 

Pre-application and 

design process 

w/c  11
th

 
   February  

 2013 to 15
th

 April  2013 

Consultation Early March  2013 

Review of scheme 

following consultation 

Early April 2013 

Collation of planning 

application documents 

From 15
th

 April  2013 

Submission w/c 23 rd
 
 April  2013 

Determination 13 weeks from validation 

 
 
5.  PROPOSED FUNDING OPTION – SUBSIDY FROM HCA 
 
5.1 Lambert Smith Hampton consultants were appointed to develop the extra care 

housing bid for submission to the HCA. The proposed scheme currently includes 
a mix of 39 Affordable Rented and 6 shared ownership homes. In line with HCA 
bid requirements, homes for Affordable Rent are to be made available at a rent 
level of up to 80% of gross market including service charges.  However our 
current modelling limits the rent to the Local Housing Allowance on the basis that 
this equates to c 65% of market rent. 

 

48



5.2 Therefore, this model assumes the HRA land as subsidy (which is consistent with 
recent practice for redevelopments in the City), that rents would be set at 
affordable rent levels up to the Local Housing Allowance levels and the six 2 bed 
homes would be low cost shared ownership.  In addition to rental income, the 
development includes ongoing revenue contribution for the scheme from the 
general fund (Adult Social Care) of £0.102 million per annum. On this basis the 
development requires a net capital subsidy/grant of £2.686 million from the HCA  
towards the total scheme capital cost of £8.925 million.   

 
5.3 Shared ownership is an Affordable Home Ownership product that is designed to 

help people who are in housing need. There are two products one for those who 
cannot otherwise afford to purchase without assistance .Through shared 
ownership the purchaser buys a share of the property on a leasehold basis and 
pays low rent on the unsold share with the option to increase ownership over 
time. The other is to enable older people to buy a home with support on a shared 
ownership basis usually using the equity released from the sale of their existing 
home. 

 
5.4 This model assumes that the development will remain within the HRA which  

would need to make capital payments of up to £8.925 million during the build 
programme with reimbursement of the HCA grant payments, currently proposed 
to be made in agreed instalments, through the development programme and 
capital receipts from the shared ownership at the end of the project.  This is likely 
to result in short term cashflow deficits which will be managed within the HRA 
capital programme and by possibly utilising the debt set aside. However, this will 
also result in a longer term borrowing in the region of £5.159 million fully financed 
by the net rental income streams from the new units.  

 
5.5 The HRA currently has headroom for additional borrowing of around £31m, 

subject to affordability. This scheme would therefore reduce the future borrowing 
capacity to £26m for other regeneration projects and new developments.  There 
is provision of £1m in the 2013/14 HRA budget and £2m in each of the years 
2014/15 and 2015/16 to pay off existing debt which could, if necessary, be used 
to subsidise new schemes or in this case be used to support short term funding 
requirements due to development cashflows. 

 
5.6 Indicative revenue savings to the General Fund, Adult Social Care budget arising 

from the delivery of this project are in the region of £0.300 million per annum. 
This is based on the average current cost of care provided at existing extra care 
schemes compared to current Residential Care costs and is after taking into 
account the £0.102 million per annum, contribution required to make the project 
viable. It is difficult to accurately quantify the level of savings as these will be 
dependant on the individual clients that are accommodated in the scheme. 

 
5.7 The outcome of the HCA bid will be known in May which will determine which, if 

any of the other options need to be considered further. At this stage a report will 
be submitted to Policy & Resources Committee seeking approval for the 
recommended capital scheme. 

 
6.       ALTERNATIVE FUNDING OPTIONS 
 

49



6.1 There are alternative options of delivery available, which can be considered 
alongside the preferred HCA option outlined in section 5 above. These include: 

 
I. Retain within the HRA without HCA funding 
II. Transfer to the General Fund  

III. Transfer to an Registered Provider 
IV. Private sector funded options 

 
6.2 As highlighted in the Housing Summit the housing funding landscape has 

changed. Development surpluses generated from homes built for sale and used 
to cross subsidise, via planning obligations, the provision of affordable housing 
are squeezed. This reflects a major shrinkage in the mortgage market as bank 
lending has reduced and buyers are generally required to invest more significant 
amounts of their own equity.  

 
6.3 To instigate the supply of more affordable housing, including extra care housing, 

means the council exploring alternative / innovative funding options. Over the last 
year the council has been working with a number of agencies, including 
dedicated support from the HCA, to develop the opportunities.  

 
6.4 At this stage it is recommended that all funding options are kept under 

consideration with future consideration and reports back to Committee reflecting 
potential arrangements for improving availability of funding including financial 
implications and risk assessments. 

 
i)   HRA Self Financing Option without HCA funding 

 
6.5 Initial modelling has been undertaken using the same outline cost and income 

assumptions as for the HCA bid but modelled within the HRA financial scheme 
model.  The base position is that the HRA manages and retains all homes except 
for those leased for shared ownership. This modelling using affordable rents and 
an ongoing contribution of £0.102 million per annum for 30 years from the 
General Fund results in a HRA subsidy of £2.686 million which would need to be 
funded from either general HRA reserves or  revenue surpluses within the HRA 
funding additional borrowing.  This scheme would then deliver the same general 
fund savings as the preferred option. 

 
6.6 In order for the HRA to develop this scheme it is likely that the HRA would need 

to borrow up to c£7.8 million, subject to utilising any available reserves (such as 
debt set aside of which £3 million would be available by 2014/15). This would 
reduce the HRA headroom for additional borrowing to around £23 - £26 million.   

  
ii)  Transfer to the General Fund  

 
6.7 There is also the option to transfer the land to the general fund and redevelop 
           using prudential borrowing with or without HCA grant/subsidy funding.  This 

option would reduce the level of savings available to the general fund as in 
addition to the £0.102 million annual contribution required in option 1), the 
general fund would lose the economies of scale of administering this scheme 
compared to the housing service and would also need to fund the additional 
borrowing costs on £2.686 million if the HCA funding was not awarded. This 
development is new housing for a specific client group and will support housing 

50



priorities and also Adult social care priorities through extra care needs and  
therefore the sharing of the subsidy as outlined in option i) would be more 
appropriate. 

 
 iii)  Transfer to a Registered Provider (RP) Funding Option 
 
6.8 Government Social Housing Grant is no longer available and Registered 

Providers are expected to combine available funding with any balance sheet 
surpluses to provide affordable housing for rent at no less than 80% of the 
market level capped at LHA rates.  In addition to Social Housing Grant and 
Registered Provider funding, previous extra care schemes in the City also 
received significant support from Department of Health funding which is also no 
longer available. 

 
6.9 As outlined above we are already reviewing the current  Affordable Housing 

Development Programme and discussing with providers the options for the 
modelling around the 60% portion which was planned for the open market as this 
may provide a solution if the units meet the specification for extra care. 

 
6.10 The option of a Registered Provider partner supporting bidding on the Council’s 

behalf for HCA Care & Support funding was explored but no RP willing to bid / 
fund was forthcoming within the tight bid timescale.  We propose to continue to 
keep RP options open and subject to review. 

 
6.11 In general terms, RPs in the City have indicated that they would be willing to 

work in close partnership with the Council where appropriate and supported. 
Whilst some may be willing and capable of acting solely in a development 
capacity, the funding option likely to be attractive is where they take ownership of 
the new homes financed and/or built by them. 

 
6.12 Depending on specific site development viability, this may produce a capital 

receipt for the Council on a sale or leasehold arrangement. RPs in particular are 
likely to be better structured, experienced and staffed to manage development 
risk than the local authority. It may also be possible to expand the funding 
capacity of the development programme and thus the volume of new homes 
supplied. Such an arrangement, however, may involve ownership, rents, service 
charges, management and maintenance being held and primarily determined by 
the Provider. That said some Providers may be open to negotiating the principle 
and detail of this including Council led nomination to new tenancies. Financial 
implications would need to be developed alongside any firm proposals brought 
forward in the future. 

 
iv)  Private Sector Funded Options 

 
6.13 A range of private sector funding options are emerging and the council is already 

utilising private bank funding from Santander in the establishment of Brighton & 
Hove Seaside & Community Homes (BHSCH). 

 

51



6.14 Perhaps the most significant change has been the interest of Institutional 
investors, including pension companies and finance houses in providing 
development finance in return for guaranteed (i.e. the council underwrites) and 
inflation indexed (i.e. Retail Price Index) loans at market interest rates. The 
market interest rate will reflect that banks and institutional investors are seeking 
to invest relatively large sums in safe places against the backdrop of stock 
market and business uncertainty and council guaranteed borrowing is regarded 
by them as low risk. 

 
6.15 Some emerging models, subject to full financial appraisal, do not require council 

underwriting income, rather are based on assurance of a long term nominations 
guarantee. 

 
6.16 Additionally some major development companies are seeking to create tailored 

packages of finance and development delivery with local authorities. These may 
include price negotiated permutations related to housing ownership, leaseback 
deals, management, maintenance, rent levels and nomination rights.  

 
6.17 Private sector funded options usually have higher transactions costs and are 

therefore more viable for larger scale developments. In addition they usually still 
require some form of council guarantee or subsidy. Financial implications would 
need to be developed alongside any firm proposals brought forward in the future. 

 
7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
7.1 Consultation with the local community will be an important part of developing the 

proposal for the Brooke Mead Extra Care scheme.  The site is located within a 
residential area and the proposals have an element of community use and facilities 
which it is hoped will be used by the wider community in the area and not just the 
future residents of Brooke Mead. It will also be necessary to satisfy the local 
authority’s requirements to undertake public consultation. 

 
7.2 Brighton and Hove City Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement 

(SCI) details the various forms of engagement that are expected of both developers 
and the Council when considering proposals for planning applications. For a scheme 
such as this and based on the information set out in the Council’s (SCI) it is 
envisaged that the following consultation will be undertaken: 

 

• A leaflet drop to local residents and other stakeholders informing them of the 
proposals and inviting them to a public exhibition; 

•  Preparation of a leaflet about the scheme and register of attendees for 
exhibition; 

• An exhibition outlining the proposals with members of the professional team on 
hand to answer questions (assume and late afternoon to evening 3-8pm) and an 
opportunity for the public to leave their comments on the scheme; 

• Meetings with any key identified groups (e.g. Local residents associations and 
amenity groups). 

 
7.3 An exhibition on the early proposals for the Brooke Mead site is considered to be the 

most effective way to involve the community and explain the proposals and the need 
for Extra Care facilities in Brighton and Hove.   Following the consultation, the 
comments and feedback received from both meetings with residents and amenity 

52



groups, and the exhibition will be collated and a statement of consultation included 
with the submission of the planning application to demonstrate compliance with the 
SCI and summaries the consultation process and results.  

 
7.4 In parallel to the external consultation with relevant groups and the community the 

proposals will also be subject to discussions with other departments within Brighton 
and Hove City Council, where officers will be able to give feedback and comment on 
the proposals.  

. 

7.5 Ward Member consultation is due to take place following 6 March Housing 
Committee meeting.   Our consultants (LSH) will present the scheme to Members, 
power point presentation detailing the designs.   A letter drop to the surrounding 
residents and community groups will also be undertaken.  Consultation drop in 
sessions are due to take place week commencing 11th March.  Large boards 
showing designs plus an inexpensive model that residents can touch/see.  We can 
also have a presentations session being shown on a loop as a backdrop or specific 
timed presentations. 

 
8. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
 Financial Implications: 
 
   
8.1 The financial implications of the preferred option are set out in section 5 which 

assumes that this scheme will remain within the HRA.  The HCA bid provides 
grant funding to enable the capital scheme to be fully funded without any HRA 
subsidy.   
 

8.2 This scheme would deliver £0.300 million contribution towards the general fund 
Adult Social Care savings target as included in the council’s Budget Strategy. 

 
8.3 The bid for grant funding will be subject to negotiation  with the HCA and any 

future successful bid will be reported to Policy & Resources Committee for capital 
scheme approval. 

  
 
8.4 Section 6 of the report sets out alternative options that have been initially 

considered and rejected in favour of the preferred option for the reasons 
highlighted in the report, mainly due to the additional grant funding from the HCA. 
Following the outcome of the HCA bid, the alternative options maybe 
reconsidered.  Financial implications for those options will be assessed as 
required and reported to future Committees.  

 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Michelle Herrington/ Sue Chapman Date: 

21/03/13 
 
 Legal Implications: 
 
8.5 The Strategic Director of Place has delegated powers to manage properties 

within the HRA. The council's constitution provides that the power to manage 
includes the power to make the necessary planning applications. The proposal to 
seek planning consent for the development outlined in this report therefore does 

53



not need Committee approval. Should the preferred approach for the Brooke 
Mead site, that is remaining within the HRA, not come to pass, the legal 
implications for the alternative options will need to be assessed and reported to a 
future meeting.It is not considered that the recommendations in the report 
adversely affect any individual's human rights. 

 
 Lawyer Consulted: Liz Woodley Date: 22/02/13 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
8.6 Extra care housing supports Tackling Inequality, priority one of the Corporate 

Plan. 
 
 The statistical evidence demonstrates that a significant increase of older people, 

particularly those experiencing dementia, will be living in the City in coming 
years. This increase is set against a backdrop of a limited number of suitable 
homes able to meet demand. The development of housing catering to a segment 
of people in the City who hitherto have experienced a lack of suitable 
accommodation with the availability of care packages that support increasing 
health and social care needs provides access to a much needed and new 
avenue of independent living ,within good quality  accommodation which also 
offers care and support for older people within the City. 

 

  An increase in the supply of extra care housing will increase housing choice for 
older people with housing, health and social care needs and enable the City to 
better manage demand for specialist housing with support.  In addition, the 
Brooke Meade proposal has been designed to ensure that 10% of  the dwellings 

will be fully wheelchair adapted. 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
8.7 Newly built homes will be built to Affordable Housing Brief standards in terms of 

size, Code for Sustainable Homes, amenity space, Lifetime Homes Standard.  
Development to the BREEAM standard level ‘Good’ ensures that new homes are 
designed sustainably to minimise carbon emissions and use sustainable 
materials in their construction.  New homes will support One Planet Living 
principles. 

 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 
8.8 Good architectural and urban design can contribute to safer homes and 

neighbourhoods.  The proposed development includes Secure by Design 
principles and IT enabled technology supporting older people particularly those 
experiencing dementia. 

 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
8.9 HCA funding is not guaranteed. The HCA prospectus is clear that priority will be 

given to schemes which have already achieved, or are well advanced in the 
process of achieving planning consent and in particular those which can start on 
site in the first year of the Fund (2013/14).  The HCA fund may be over-
subscribed.  The HCA will also go through a scheme appraisal and review 

54



process that may impact on the Development Appraisal submitted in support of 
the bid.  Should HCA funding not be achieved or less subsidy be available than 
envisaged the development appraisal and scheme modelling will be subject to 
review. 

 
 Improving the supply of extra care housing is a Corporate and Adult Social Care 

Budget priority.  Failure to deliver additional extra care housing will have an 
adverse budget impact. 

 
 Further development risks and opportunities will continue to be assessed and 

amended throughout the life of the project and adjusted in line with internal and 
external factors which emerge including those arising from consultation. 

 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
8.10 Secure affordable extra care housing is key to supporting households to maintain 

a healthy life and sustain their independence. 
 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
8.11 Extra care housing aligns to the following Corporate Plan commitments under 

Priority One: Tackling Inequality:  

• Develop 50 new extra care housing and supported accommodation units each 
year for the next three years to help people with complex needs to remain in the 
community 

• Work with partners including the Homes & Communities Agency, neighbouring 
authorities and housing associations to provide 250 new and improved affordable 
and energy efficient homes. 

 

 In addition, the City will benefit from additional specialist housing provision and 
assist in meeting the targets for new housing as identified in the Housing 
Strategy and the City Plan. 

 
9. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 
 
9.1 The report outlines the opportunity to support the requirement for new supply of 

extra care housing that has arisen with the Brooke Mead site aligned to the 
opportunity to bid for HCA funding under the Care and Support Specialist 
Housing Fund.  

 
9.2 Alternative options for the supply of additional extra care housing in the City will 

be subject to future reports to Committee. 
 
10. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Reasons for report recommendations are included in the body of the report. 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
1. Brooke Mead Plan & Scheme Design.  

55



 
2.  
 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
1. None 
 
2.  
 
Background Documents 
 
1. None 
 
2. 

56



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 

E
xt

ra
 C

a
re

 H
o
u
si

n
g

F
e
a
si

b
ili
ty

 S
tu

d
y

D
e
si

g
n
 S

u
b

m
itt

a
l |

 1
8
 t

h
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
1
3

57



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 

E
x
tr

a
 C

a
re

 H
o

u
s
in

g
S

ite
 A

n
a
ly

si
s

S
c
h
e
m

e
 S

u
m

m
a
ry

A
re

a
 S

c
h
e
d

u
le

D
e
sc

ri
p

tio
n
 o

f 
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 S

c
h
e
m

e

T
h
e
 B

ro
o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 E
xt

ra
 C

a
re

 H
o
u
si

n
g
 p

ro
p

o
sa

l i
s 

a
n
 e

xe
m

p
la

r 
sc

h
e
m

e
 f
o
r 

4
5
 

re
si

d
e
n
tia

l u
n
its

, 
c
o
m

m
u
n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
 a

n
d

 s
p

a
c
e
 f
o
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
ity

 u
se

.

58



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 E
xt

ra
 C

a
re

 l 
H

o
u

s
in

g
 a

t 
th

e
 h

e
a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 c

it
y
 

L
o

c
a

ti
o

n

T
h
e
 r

e
si

d
e
n
tia

l a
n
d

 c
o
m

m
u
n
ity

 s
c
h
e
m

e
 is

 lo
c
a
te

d
 a

t 
th

e
 h

e
a
rt

 o
f 
B

ri
g
h
to

n
.  

T
h
e
 b

ro
w

n
fie

ld
 s

ite
 is

 ju
st

 o
n
e
 r

o
a
d

 a
w

a
y 

fr
o
m

 t
h
e
 S

te
in

e
, 

th
e
 h

is
to

ri
c
 

c
e
n
tr

a
l g

re
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 c

ity
 w

ith
 a

 n
e
tw

o
rk

 o
f 
p

u
b

lic
 t

ra
n
sp

o
rt

 li
n
k
s 

a
n
d

 
lo

c
a
l a

m
e
n
iti

e
s 

in
 b

u
ild

in
g
s 

o
n
 A

lb
io

n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

a
n
d

 t
h
e
 a

d
jo

in
in

g
 R

ic
h
m

o
n
d

 
P

a
ra

d
e
.

T
h
e
 p

ro
xi

m
ity

 t
o
 t

h
e
 li

fe
 o

f 
th

e
 c

ity
 e

n
a
b

le
s 

re
si

d
e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 in

vo
lv

e
d

 w
ith

 
c
ity

 c
e
n
tr

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ity

 g
ro

u
p

s 
a
n
d

 a
c
tiv

iti
e
s 

a
n
d

 c
o
n
tin

u
e
 t

o
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
 

a
n
d

 e
n
jo

y 
th

e
 v

ib
ra

n
c
y 

o
f 
c
ity

 li
fe

 a
ro

u
n
d

 t
h
e
m

.

59



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 H
o
u
si

n
g
 l 

S
ite

 C
o
n
te

xt
 a

n
d

 a
n
a
ly

si
s

S
it

e
 i
n

 c
o

n
te

x
t

B
u
ild

in
g
 h

e
ig

h
ts

 in
 c

o
n
te

xt

0
1

0
2

0
3

0
4

0
5

0
6

0
7

0
8

0
1

0
2

0
3

0
4

0
5

0
6

0
7

0
8

ta
k

e
a

w
a

y

R
e

st
a

u
ra

n
t

H
a

ir
d

re
ss

e
rs

H
e

a
lt

h
 C

li
n

ic

B
a

r

S
u

rg
e

ry

D
e

n
ti

st

C
h

u
rc

h

E
n
tr

a
n
c
e
s 

a
n
d

 c
o
m

m
u
n
ity

C
o
n
se

rv
a
tio

n
 a

n
d

 a
rc

h
e
a
o
lo

g
y

S
it

e

T
h
e
 s

ite
 is

 a
ls

o
 lo

c
a
te

d
 in

 p
a
rt

 o
f 
a
 lo

c
a
l r

e
si

d
e
n
tia

l q
u
a
rt

e
r 

o
f 
th

e
 c

ity
 w

h
ic

h
 

c
o
u
ld

 p
ro

vi
d

e
 c

o
n
tin

u
ity

 f
o
r 

re
si

d
e
n
ts

 w
h
o
 h

a
ve

 li
ve

d
 in

 t
h
e
 a

re
a
 a

t 
o
th

e
r 

tim
e
s 

in
 

th
e
ir
 li

fe
.

T
h
e
 s

ite
 s

lo
p

e
s 

u
p

 s
te

e
p

ly
 f
ro

m
 A

lb
io

n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

to
 t

h
e
 h

o
u
si

n
g
 o

n
 A

lb
io

n
 H

ill
 b

e
-

h
in

d
. 

  

T
h
e
 d

iff
e
re

n
c
e
 in

 le
ve

l u
p

 t
h
e
 s

ite
 a

p
p

e
a
rs

 t
o
 b

e
 a

p
p

ro
xi

m
a
te

ly
 2

.7
m

. 
  

 

T
h
e
 s

ite
 is

 c
u
rr

e
n
tly

 o
c
c
u
p

ie
d

 b
y 

a
 r

e
si

d
e
n
tia

l b
u
ild

in
g
 o

f 
a
p

p
ro

xi
m

a
te

ly
 4

5
0
 m

2
 

w
h
ic

h
 is

 n
o
t 

in
 u

se
. 

 T
o
 t

h
e
 r

e
a
r 

o
f 
th

e
 s

ite
 t

h
e
re

 is
 a

 s
lo

p
in

g
 g

a
rd

e
n
 w

ith
 a

 m
ix

 o
f 

a
p

p
a
re

n
tly

 m
a
tu

re
 t

re
e
s,

 s
h
ru

b
b

y 
g
ro

w
th

. 
 

P
ag

e 
4
 | 

B
ro

o
k
e 

M
ea

d
 E

x
tr

a 
C

ar
e 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 | 

F
ea

si
b

il
it

y
 S

tu
d
y
 | 

1
8
th

 J
an

u
ar

y
 2

0
1
3

60



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 s
h

e
e
t 

o
f 

S
c
h

e
m

e
 

A
re

a 5
 s

to
re

y

4
5
 u

n
its

2
5
 x

 1
 b

e
d

 u
n
its

8
 x

 2
 b

e
d

 u
n
its

K
E

Y
 D

E
S

IG
N

 F
E

A
T

U
R

E
S

T
yp

ic
a
l 1

 b
e
d

 u
n
it 

5
2
 m

2
 

T
yp

ic
a
l 2

 b
e
d

 u
n
its

 7
5
 m

2
 

L
o
p

p
e
d

 c
ir
c
u
la

tio
n
 

C
e
n
tr

a
l s

h
a
re

d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
 o

r 

‘g
a
rd

e
n
 r

o
o
m

’ 

C
e
n
tr

a
l s

p
a
c
e
 f
o
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
ity

 u
se

3
D

 v
ie

w
 f
ro

m
 a

b
o
ve

 g
ro

u
n
d

 le
ve

l

E
a
st

-W
e
st

 s
e
c
tio

n

T
yp

ic
a
l p

la
n
 in

 c
o
n
te

xt
 

G
ro

u
n
d

 f
lo

o
r 

o
n
to

 A
lb

io
n
 S

tr
e
e
t

F
ir
st

 f
lo

o
r

61



A
R

E
A

 S
C

H
E

D
U

L
E

, 
5

 S
T

O
R

E
Y

 S
C

H
E

M
E

F
lo

o
r

O
ff

ic
e

B
b

a
ck

 o
f 

h
o

u
se

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

C
o

m
m

u
n

a
l 

n
o

. 
1

 b
e

d
 f

la
ts

N
IA

 1
 b

e
d

 f
la

ts
n

o
. 

2
 b

e
d

 f
la

ts
N

IA
 2

 b
e

d
 f

la
ts

G
IA

G
E

A

G
4

6
1

2
9

4
0

2
1

0
8

5
3

4
5

7
3

1
st

 
1

1
6

1
1

8
8

4
3

4
8

6
4

9
1

5

2
n

d
1

1
5

9
5

7
9

7
8

4
8

3
rd

1
1

5
9

5
7

9
7

8
4

8

4
th

7
3

6
2

3
2

3
5

7
9

7
8

4
8

5
th

3
2

3
5

3
3

2
3

7
6

T
O

T
A

LS
4

6
1

2
9

1
5

6
1

1
8

3
9

2
0

9
4

6
4

7
0

4
1

2
1

4
4

0
8

N
IA

 =
 I

n
cl

u
d

e
s 

in
te

rn
a

l 
fl

a
t 

p
a

rt
it

io
n

s,
 m

e
a

su
re

d
 f

a
ce

 t
o

 f
a

ce
 o

f 
fl

a
t 

p
a

rt
y

 w
a

ll
s 

a
n

d
 e

x
te

rn
a

l 
w

a
ll

s

G
IA

 -
 I

n
cl

u
d

e
s 

a
ll

 i
n

te
rn

a
l 

sp
a

ce
s,

 i
n

cl
u

d
in

g
 c

ir
cu

la
ti

o
n

, 
m

e
a

su
re

d
 t

o
 i

n
te

rn
a

l 
fa

ce
 o

f 
e

x
te

rn
a

l 
w

a
ll

s,
 e

x
cl

u
d

e
s 

v
o

id
s 

a
n

d
 l

if
ts

G
E

A
 =

 T
o

ta
l 

in
te

rn
a

l 
a

re
a

, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 e

x
te

rn
a

l 
w

a
ll

s,
 e

x
cl

u
d

in
g

 a
tr

ia
 a

n
d

 l
if

ts

R
E

V
IS

E
D

 C
O

U
R

T
Y

A
R

D
 O

P
T

IO
N

 (
1

) 
- 

1
5

/0
1

/1
3

 R
E

V
 C

 

B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l 
A

re
a
 S

c
h

e
d

u
le

 

N
u

m
b

e
r,

 s
iz

e
 a

n
d

 t
e

n
u

re
 m

ix
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
p

e
rt

ie
s

T
h
e
 p

ro
p

o
sa

l w
ill
 p

ro
vi

d
e
 a

 m
ix

 o
f 
1
 b

e
d

 a
n
d

 2
 b

e
d

 a
p

a
rt

m
e
n
ts

, 
a
p

p
ro

xi
m

a
te

ly
 7

5
 %

 a
re

 1
 b

e
d

ro
o
m

 a
p

a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 a
n
d

 t
h
e
 

re
m

a
in

in
g
 2

5
 %

 a
re

 2
 b

e
d

ro
o
m

 a
p

a
rt

m
e
n
ts

. 
 I
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

ith
 B

ri
g
h
to

n
 a

n
d

 H
o
ve

 C
ity

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 1

0
 %

 o
f 
th

e
 

u
n
its

 a
re

 f
u
lly

 w
h
e
e
lc

h
a
ir
 a

c
c
e
ss

ib
le

. 
 A

ll 
th

e
 u

n
its

 h
a
ve

 b
e
e
n
 d

e
si

g
n
e
d

 t
o
 L

ife
tim

e
 h

o
m

e
 s

ta
n
d

a
rd

s.

P
ag

e 
6
 | 

B
ro

o
k
e 

M
ea

d
 E

x
tr

a 
C

ar
e 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 | 

F
ea

si
b

il
it

y
 S

tu
d
y
 | 

1
8
th

 J
an

u
ar

y
 2

0
1
3

62



B
u

il
d

in
g

 f
o

rm
 a

n
d

 o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n

T
h
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 f
o
rm

 is
 a

 s
te

p
p

e
d

 c
o
u
rt

ya
rd

 b
u
ild

in
g
 o

f 
5
 s

to
re

ys
. 
 T

h
e
 e

n
c
lo

se
d

 c
o
u
rt

ya
rd

 is
 a

t 
th

e
 h

e
a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 s

c
h
e
m

e
, 

a
n
d

 
p

ro
vi

d
e
s 

a
 s

p
a
c
e
 f
o
r 

th
e
 r

e
si

d
e
n
ts

 a
n
d

 t
h
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ity

 t
o
 u

se
 a

n
d

 s
h
a
re

. 
 

T
h
e
 c

o
u
rt

ya
rd

 le
ts

 li
g
h
t 

in
to

 t
h
e
 c

e
n
tr

e
 o

f 
th

e
 b

u
ild

in
g
, 

a
n
d

 p
ro

vi
d

e
s 

a
 v

ie
w

 o
u
t 

a
t 

g
ro

u
n
d

 f
lo

o
r,
 t

o
 t

h
e
 S

o
u
th

, 
w

ith
 a

 S
o
u
th

-
e
rl
y 

a
sp

e
c
t.

 T
h
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 li

n
e
 is

 r
e
-i
n
st

a
te

d
 a

lo
n
g
 A

lb
io

n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

g
iv

in
g
 t

h
e
 s

tr
e
e
t 

a
 w

id
th

 o
f 
1
3
-1

4
 m

, 
w

id
e
r 

th
a
n
 V

ic
to

ri
a
n
 

te
rr

a
c
e
d

 s
tr

e
e
ts

. 
  

  
 

B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
B

u
il
d

in
g

 M
a
s
s
 a

n
d

 O
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

Ty
p

ic
a
l f

lo
o
r 

p
la

n
 in

 c
o
n
te

xt

63



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
G

ro
u

n
d

 f
lo

o
r 

o
n

 A
lb

io
n

 S
tr

e
e
t

Albion Street

G
ro

u
n
d

 f
lo

o
r 

o
n
to

 A
lb

io
n
 S

tr
e
e
t

C
h
u
rc

h
 W

ay

Grove Bank

assumed level + 0.00 m

assumed level + 2.700 m

Main entrance

G
ro

u
n

d
 F

lo
o

r 
- 

e
n

tr
a

n
c

e

T
h
e
 m

a
in

 e
n
tr

a
n
c
e
, 

fo
r 

re
si

-
d

e
n
ts

, 
vi

si
to

rs
 a

n
d

 t
h
e
 c

o
m

-
m

u
n
ity

 is
 o

n
 A

lb
io

n
 S

tr
e
e
t.

  

T
h
e
 e

n
tr

a
n
c
e
 le

ve
l c

o
n
ta

in
s 

th
e
 o

ff
ic

e
s 

fo
r 

th
o
se

 m
a
n
-

a
g
in

g
 t

h
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
, 

se
rv

ic
e
s 

sp
a
c
e
 f
o
r 

th
o
se

 w
h
o
 w

o
rk

 
th

e
re

, 
th

e
 la

u
n
d

ry
 a

n
d

 2
 x

 1
 

b
e
d

 u
n
its

. 
 

It
 a

ls
o
 c

o
n
ta

in
s 

th
e
 lo

w
e
r 

le
v-

e
l o

f 
c
o
m

m
u
n
ity

 u
se

 w
h
ic

h
 

lo
o
k
s 

o
u
t 

o
ve

r 
th

e
 s

tr
e
e
t 

a
n
d

 is
 v

is
ib

le
 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 m

a
in

 
a
p

p
ro

a
c
h
 t

o
 t

h
e
 s

ite
. 

 T
h
e
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
ity

 u
se

 c
o
n
tin

u
e
s 

a
t 

g
ro

u
n
d

 f
lo

o
r,
 a

n
d

 t
h
e
re

 a
re

 
vi

su
a
l c

o
n
n
e
c
tio

n
s 

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 

th
e
 t

w
o
 s

p
a
c
e
s 

a
c
ro

ss
 t

h
e
 

d
o
u
b

le
-h

e
ig

h
t 

sp
a
c
e
.

T
h
e
 li

ft
s 

a
n
d

 s
ta

ir
s 

to
 t

h
e
 

re
si

d
e
n
tia

l a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d

a
tio

n
 

a
t 

h
ig

h
e
r 

le
ve

ls
 is

 im
m

e
d

ia
te

-
ly

 a
c
c
e
ss

ib
le

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 f
ro

n
t 

d
o
o
r.

T
h
e
re

 a
re

 3
 s

ta
ir
 c

o
re

s 
in

 t
h
e
 

b
u
ild

in
g
. 

 T
h
e
 c

e
n
tr

a
l s

ta
ir-

c
a
se

 a
n
d

 li
ft
s 

lo
o
k
 a

c
ro

ss
 

a
n
d

 in
to

 t
h
e
 e

n
c
lo

se
d

 c
e
n
tr

a
l 

g
a
rd

e
n
 r

o
o
m

 a
n
d

 p
ro

vi
d

e
 

g
e
n
e
ro

u
s 

c
irc

u
la

tio
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

to
 t

h
e
 f
ro

n
t 

d
o
o
r 

o
f 
e
ve

ry
 f
la

t.
  

  
  

P
ag

e 
8
 | 

B
ro

o
k
e 

M
ea

d
 E

x
tr

a 
C

ar
e 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 | 

F
ea

si
b

il
it

y
 S

tu
d
y
 | 

1
8
th

 J
an

u
ar

y
 2

0
1
3

64



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
F

ir
s
t 

fl
o

o
r 

o
n

 A
lb

io
n

 S
tr

e
e
t

F
ir
st

 F
lo

o
r 

p
la

n
 -

 s
h
a
re

d
 s

p
a
c
e
 w

ith
 1

 b
e
d

 f
la

ts
 a

ro
u
n
d

 it
.

F
ir

s
t 

F
lo

o
r 

- 
s
h

a
re

d
 s

p
a

c
-

e
s

T
h
e
 lo

c
a
l c

o
m

m
u
n
ity

 a
re

 in
-

vi
te

d
 t

o
 c

o
m

e
 in

to
 t

h
e
 h

e
a
rt

 
o
f 
th

e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 a

n
d

 u
se

 t
h
e
 

sp
a
c
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 S

o
u
th

 o
f 
th

e
 

b
u
ild

in
g
 w

h
ic

h
 lo

o
k
s 

in
to

 t
h
e
 

e
n
c
lo

se
d

 c
o
u
rt

ya
rd

 o
r 

g
a
r-

d
e
n
 r

o
o
m

. 
 T

h
is

 s
p

a
c
e
 h

a
s 

a
 

S
o
u
th

e
rl
y 

o
u
tlo

o
k
. 

 

In
 t

h
e
 c

e
n
tr

e
 o

f 
th

e
 p

la
n
 is

 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
. 

 T
h
is

 
is

 im
a
g
in

e
d

 t
o
 b

e
 a

 g
a
rd

e
n
 

ro
o
m

, 
w

ith
 f
ra

g
ra

n
t 

in
te

rn
a
l 

p
la

n
tin

g
 t

o
 p

ro
vi

d
e
 a

 c
a
n
o
p

y,
 

a
 lo

u
n
g
e
 s

p
a
c
e
 f
o
r 

sh
a
re

d
 

a
c
tiv

iti
e
s 

a
n
d

 a
 p

la
c
e
 t

o
 in

-
vi

te
 v

is
ito

rs
.

B
e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 s

p
a
c
e
s 

fo
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
ity

 u
se

 a
n
d

 c
o
m

m
u
-

n
a
l a

c
tiv

iti
e
s 

th
e
re

 is
 s

p
a
c
e
 

to
 p

ro
vi

d
e
 ‘

p
o
p

-u
p

’ 
c
a
te

ri
n
g
 

fa
c
ili
tie

s 
fo

r 
p

a
rt

ic
u
la

r 
o
c
c
a
-

si
o
n
s 

o
r 

a
t 

th
e
 r

e
q

u
e
st

 o
f 
th

e
 

re
si

d
e
n
ts

. 

  
  

  

65



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
S

e
c
o

n
d

 f
o

o
r 

p
la

n

S
e
c
o
n
d

 F
lo

o
r 

P
la

n
 -

 lo
o
p

 o
f 
c
ir
c
u
la

tio
n

T
y
p

ic
a

l 
F

lo
o

r 
P

la
n

 L
a

y
o

u
t

T
h
e
 f
la

ts
 w

ra
p

 a
ro

u
n
d

 t
h
e
 c

e
n
-

tr
a
l g

a
rd

e
n
 r

o
o
m

. 
A

d
jo

in
in

g
 t

h
e
 

ve
rt

ic
a
l c

irc
u
la

tio
n
 is

 a
 g

e
n
e
ro

u
s 

c
irc

u
la

tio
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p

le
 t

o
 

st
o
p

 a
n
d

 c
h
a
t,

 o
r 

re
st

. 
 

A
ll 

th
e
 f
la

ts
 e

n
jo

y 
g
o
o
d

 v
ie

w
s 

in
to

 
th

e
 c

e
n
tr

a
l s

h
a
re

d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
a
l 

sp
a
c
e
, 

b
u
t 

a
ls

o
 o

u
tlo

o
k
 a

c
ro

ss
 

th
e
 s

tr
e
e
t,

 in
to

 t
h
e
 g

a
rd

e
n
. 

 E
a
c
h
 

fla
t 

h
a
s 

a
 t

e
rr

a
c
e
 o

r 
b

a
lc

o
n
y.

  

E
a
c
h
 e

n
tr

a
n
c
e
 is

 e
a
si

ly
 v

is
ib

le
 a

n
d

 
re

c
o
g
n
is

a
b

le
, 

th
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e
 u

se
 o

f 
lig

h
t,

 a
n
d

 c
o
lo

u
r 

in
 t

h
e
 in

te
rn

a
l 

d
e
c
o
ra

tio
n
s.

  
D

e
sp

ite
 b

e
in

g
 a

n
 

in
te

rn
a
l d

o
o
r,
 t

h
e
 f
ro

n
t 

d
o
o
r 

to
 

e
ve

ry
 f
la

t 
w

ill
 b

e
 d

e
ta

ile
d

 a
s 

if 
to

 
a
n
 e

xt
e
rn

a
l f

ro
n
t 

d
o
o
r.
  

T
h
e
re

 w
ill
 b

e
 v

ie
w

s 
fr

o
m

 t
h
e
 k

itc
h
-

e
n
 o

u
t 

in
to

 t
h
e
 c

irc
u
la

tio
n
. 

 T
h
e
re

 
w

ill
 b

e
 t

h
e
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n
ity

 t
o
 p

e
rs

o
n
-

a
lis

e
 t

h
e
 a

re
a
 im

m
e
d

ia
te

ly
 a

d
jo

in
-

in
g
 t

h
e
 f
ro

n
t 

d
o
o
r.
  
A

n
 in

te
g
ra

te
d

 
se

a
t,

 li
g
h
t 

to
 m

a
k
e
 it

 e
a
sy

 t
o
 p

u
t 

th
e
 k

e
y 

in
 t

h
e
 lo

c
k
, 

a
n
d

 a
 s

m
a
ll 

w
in

d
o
w

 s
o
 r

e
si

d
e
n
ts

 c
a
n
 s

e
e
 w

h
o
 

h
a
s 

a
rr

iv
e
d

.

O
u
tlo

o
k
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 c

irc
u
la

tio
n
 

a
n
d

 t
h
e
 in

te
rn

a
l l

ife
 o

f 
th

e
 f
la

ts
 

is
 im

p
o
rt

a
n
t 

to
 e

n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 in

te
r-

a
c
tio

n
 a

n
d

 n
e
ig

h
b

o
u
rl
in

e
ss

, 
a
s 

m
ig

h
t 

b
e
 g

e
n
e
ra

te
d

 in
 a

 s
tr

e
e
t 

o
f 

te
rr

a
c
e
d

 h
o
u
se

s.

T
h
e
 c

irc
u
la

tio
n
 lo

o
p

s 
a
ro

u
n
d

 t
h
e
 

c
e
n
tr

a
l, 

to
p

 li
t 

sp
a
c
e
 s

o
 t

h
e
re

 
is

 n
o
 e

n
d

 t
o
 it

, 
fo

r 
th

o
se

 s
u
ffe

r-
in

g
 f
ro

m
 d

e
m

e
n
tia

. 
 T

h
e
 c

e
n
tr

a
l 

sp
a
c
e
 a

c
ts

 a
s 

a
 k

e
y 

p
o
in

t 
o
f 

o
ri
e
n
ta

tio
n
. 
 

P
ag

e 
1
0
 | 

B
ro

o
k
e 

M
ea

d
 E

x
tr

a 
C

ar
e 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 | 

F
ea

si
b

il
it

y
 S

tu
d
y
 | 

1
8
th

 J
an

u
ar

y
 2

0
1
3

66



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
T

h
ir

d
 F

lo
o

r 
o

n
 A

lb
io

n
 S

tr
e
e
t

T
h
ir
d

 F
lo

o
r 

- 
a
 m

ix
 o

f 
1
 b

e
d

 a
n
d

 2
 b

e
d

 u
n
its

67



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
F

o
u

rt
h

 F
lo

o
r 

o
n

 A
lb

io
n

 S
tr

e
e
t

F
o
u
rt

h
 F

lo
o
r 

- 
2
 b

e
d

 u
n
its

P
ag

e 
1
2
 | 

B
ro

o
k
e 

M
ea

d
 E

x
tr

a 
C

ar
e 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 | 

F
ea

si
b

il
it

y
 S

tu
d
y
 | 

1
8
th

 J
an

u
ar

y
 2

0
1
3

68



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
F

if
th

 F
lo

o
r 

o
n

 A
lb

io
n

 S
tr

e
e
t

F
ift

h
 F

lo
o
r 

- 
2
 b

e
d

 u
n
its

H
ig

h
e

r 
le

v
e

l 
fl

o
o

r 
P

la
n

s

T
h
e
 2

 b
e
d

ro
o
m

 a
p

a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 
a
re

 g
ro

u
p

e
d

 t
o
g
e
th

e
r 

a
t 

h
ig

h
e
r 

le
ve

l. 
 

A
t 

th
e
 h

ig
h
e
st

 f
lo

o
r 

le
ve

l t
h
e
y 

h
a
ve

 e
a
sy

 a
c
c
e
ss

 t
o
 t

h
e
 r

o
o
f 

g
a
rd

e
n
 w

h
ic

h
 c

o
u
ld

 b
e
 p

ro
-

te
c
te

d
, 

lik
e
 a

 w
a
lle

d
 g

a
rd

e
n
, 

a
n
d

 p
ro

vi
d

e
 a

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

ve
n
u
e
 

fo
r 

sh
a
re

d
 a

c
tiv

iti
e
s 

su
c
h
 a

s 
a
 g

a
rd

e
n
in

g
 c

lu
b

.

69



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
1
 b

e
d

 a
n

d
 2

 b
e

d
 a

p
a

rt
m

e
n

ts

1
 b

e
d

 a
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t

5
2
 m

2
 G

IA
2
 b

e
d

 a
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t

7
5
 m

2
 G

IA

T
y
p

ic
a

l 
F

la
t 

P
la

n

E
a
c
h
 a

p
a
rt

m
e
n
t 

is
 d

e
si

g
n
e
d

 f
o
r 

in
d

e
p

e
n
d

e
n
t 

liv
in

g
. 

 I
t 

h
a
s 

a
 s

e
p

a
ra

te
 k

itc
h
e
n
 /

 li
vi

n
g
 a

re
a
 t

o
 t

h
e
 b

e
d

ro
o
m

 a
n
d

 a
 s

h
o
w

e
r 

ro
o
m

 d
e
si

g
n
e
d

 t
o
 b

e
 f
u
lly

 a
c
c
e
ss

ib
le

.

T
h
e
 li

vi
n
g
 a

re
a
 is

 g
e
n
e
ro

u
s 

e
n
o
u
g
h
 t

o
 h

a
ve

 f
ri
e
n
d

s 
fo

r 
a
 m

e
a
l a

s 
w

e
ll 

a
s 

b
e
in

g
 c

lo
se

 t
o
 t

h
e
 t

e
le

vi
si

o
n
. 

 

T
h
e
se

 a
re

 w
e
ll 

lit
 r

o
o
m

s,
 w

ith
 a

 t
e
rr

a
c
e
 /

 b
a
lc

o
n
y 

fo
r 

e
a
c
h
 r

e
si

d
e
n
t.

  
Te

rr
a
c
e
s 

c
o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

se
d

 f
o
r 

flo
w

e
r 

p
o
ts

 o
r 

e
a
si

ly
 a

c
-

c
e
ss

ib
le

 w
in

d
o
w

 b
o
xe

s.

T
h
e
 s

h
a
llo

w
 f
lo

o
r 

p
la

n
 e

n
a
b

le
s 

c
ro

ss
 v

e
n
til

a
te

d
 s

p
a
c
e
s 

in
to

 t
h
e
 s

h
a
re

d
 c

o
u
rt

ya
rd

 s
p

a
c
e
.

  P
ag

e 
1
4
 | 

B
ro

o
k
e 

M
ea

d
 E

x
tr

a 
C

ar
e 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 | 

F
ea

si
b

il
it

y
 S

tu
d
y
 | 

1
8
th

 J
an

u
ar

y
 2

0
1
3

70



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
S

tr
e
e
t 

V
ie

w
s

V
ie

w
 a

lo
n
g
 A

lb
io

n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

fr
o
m

 R
ic

h
m

o
n
d

 P
a
ra

d
e

L
o
o
k
in

g
 S

o
u
th

 d
o
w

n
 A

lb
io

n
 S

tr
e
e
t

c
ro

ss
 s

e
c
tio

n

71



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
A

lb
io

n
 S

tr
e
e
t

A
lb

io
n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

- 
E

le
va

tio
n

Ill
u
st

ra
tiv

e
 s

e
c
tio

n

P
ag

e 
1
6
 | 

B
ro

o
k
e 

M
ea

d
 E

x
tr

a 
C

ar
e 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 | 

F
ea

si
b

il
it

y
 S

tu
d
y
 | 

1
8
th

 J
an

u
ar

y
 2

0
1
3

72



S
u

s
ta

in
a

b
il
it

y
 –

 f
le

x
ib

le
 a

n
d

 a
d

a
p

ta
b

le

T
h
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 d

e
si

g
n
 h

a
s 

b
e
e
n
 d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 t
o
 b

e
 a

d
a
p

ta
b

le
 in

 t
h
e
 lo

n
g
 t

e
rm

 a
n
d

 f
le

xi
b

le
 in

 t
h
e
 s

h
o
rt

 t
e
rm

 t
o
 r

e
sp

o
n
d

 t
o
 t

h
e
 e

vo
lv

in
g
 n

e
e
d

s 
o
f 
th

e
 r

e
si

d
e
n
ts

.
T

h
e
 h

o
u
si

n
g
 h

a
s 

b
e
e
n
 d

e
si

g
n
e
d

 o
n
 a

 r
e
p

e
a
tin

g
 m

o
d

u
le

 w
h
ic

h
 f
its

 w
ith

 1
 a

n
d

 2
 b

e
d

 a
p

a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 w
h
ic

h
 m

e
a
n
s 

th
a
t 

in
 t

h
e
 lo

n
g
 t

e
rm

 b
e
d

ro
o
m

, 
b

a
th

ro
o
m

, 
k
itc

h
e
n
 a

n
d

 li
vi

n
g
 s

p
a
c
e
s 

c
a
n
 b

e
 in

tr
o
d

u
c
e
d

 in
to

 t
h
e
 s

tr
u
c
tu

ra
l g

ri
d

 d
u
ri
n
g
 f
u
tu

re
 r

e
-f

its
.

T
h
e
 f
la

ts
 h

a
ve

 b
e
e
n
 d

e
si

g
n
e
d

 s
u
c
h
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
y 

c
a
n
 b

e
 a

d
a
p

te
d

 a
s 

th
e
 n

e
e
d

s 
o
f 
th

e
 r

e
si

d
e
n
t 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s.

 
A

t 
g
ro

u
n
d

 f
lo

o
r 

th
e
 o

ff
ic

e
 s

p
a
c
e
 c

o
u
ld

 e
a
si

ly
 b

e
 c

o
n
ve

rt
e
d

 in
to

 r
e
si

d
e
n
tia

l u
se

, 
o
r,
 w

ith
 t

h
e
 h

ig
h
e
r 

flo
o
r 

to
 c

e
ili
n
g
 h

e
ig

h
t 

c
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

 s
m

a
ll 

re
ta

il 
o
u
tle

t,
 jo

in
-

in
g
 t

h
e
 r

a
n
k
 o

f 
p

u
b

lic
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s 

o
n
 A

lb
io

n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

a
n
d

 R
ic

h
m

o
n
d

 P
a
ra

d
e

.

T
h
e
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 a

c
h
iv

e
s 

B
R

E
E

A
M

 le
ve

l 3
.

B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
S

u
s
ta

in
a
b

il
it

y

w
a
st

e

w
a
te

re
n

e
rg

y

C
O

2

73



B
ro

o
k
e
 M

e
a
d

 l 
E

xt
ra

 C
a
re

 P
ro

p
o
sa

l
H

A
P

P
I 

p
ri

n
c
ip

le
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 d

e
s
ig

n

B
ro

o
k

 M
e

a
d

  
H

A
P

P
I 

P
ri

n
c

ip
le

s
 a

t 
fe

a
s
ib

il
it

y
 s

ta
g

e

1
. 

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
h
a
b

ita
b

le
 r

o
o
m

s 
re

la
te

s 
b

a
c
k
 t

o
 t

h
e
 b

ri
e
f.
  
T

h
e
 1

 b
e
d

 a
n
d

 2
 b

e
d

 u
n
its

 a
re

 d
e
si

g
n
e
d

 o
n
 a

 

st
ru

c
tu

ra
l b

a
y 

so
 t

h
e
 t

yp
e
 o

f 
u
n
its

 c
a
n
 b

e
 a

d
ju

st
e
d

 o
ve

r 
th

e
 li

fe
 o

f 
th

e
 b

u
ild

in
g
.

2
. 
A

p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 f
a
c
e
 lo

o
k
 o

u
t 

o
f 
th

e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 t

o
 e

n
jo

y 
g
o
o
d

 v
e
n
til

a
tio

n
, 

su
n
lig

h
t,

 v
ie

w
s 

b
u
t 

a
ls

o
 h

a
ve

 k
itc

h
e
n
 

w
in

d
o
w

s 
a
n
d

 f
ro

n
t 

d
o
o
rs

 w
ith

in
 t

h
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 t

o
 r

e
la

te
 t

o
 c

irc
u
la

tio
n
 a

n
d

 t
h
e
 s

h
a
re

d
 li

fe
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ity

.

3
. 
A

ll 
c
o
rr

id
o
rs

 a
re

 ‘
si

n
g
le

 s
id

e
d

’ 
w

ith
 v

ie
w

s 
o
u
t 

o
r 

in
to

 t
h
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 o

n
 o

n
e
 s

id
e
 a

n
d

 a
p

a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 o
n
 t

h
e
 

o
th

e
r 

si
d

e
. 

 M
a
n
y 

o
f 
th

e
 a

p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 h
a
ve

 b
a
lc

o
n
ie

s.
  
T

h
e
re

 is
 a

 t
e
rr

a
c
e
 a

t 
ro

o
f 
le

ve
l w

h
ic

h
 c

o
u
ld

 h
a
ve

 

fu
rn

itu
re

 a
n
d

 p
la

n
ts

.

4
. 

 ‘
C

a
re

 r
e
a
d

y’
 s

p
e
c
ifi

c
a
tio

n
 t

o
 b

e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 a
s 

d
e
si

g
n
 p

ro
g
re

se
s 

b
e
yo

n
d

 f
e
a
si

b
ili
ty

 s
ta

g
e
.

5
. 

F
lo

o
r 

p
la

n
s 

a
llo

w
 f
o
r 

a
 lo

o
p

 o
f 
c
ir
c
u
la

tio
n
, 

a
ro

u
n
d

 a
 c

e
n
tr

a
l d

o
u
b

le
 h

e
ig

h
t 

c
o
m

m
u
n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
. 

 G
o
o
d

 

vi
e
w

s 
to

 t
h
e
 w

id
e
r 

c
o
n
te

xt
. 

P
a
ir
e
d

 e
tn

ra
n
c
e
s 

to
 f
la

ts
 c

o
u
d

l b
e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 t
o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 in
te

rd
e
p

e
n
d

e
n
c
e
.

6
. 

C
e
n
tr

a
l M

u
lti

-p
u
rp

o
se

 s
p

a
c
e
 is

 a
t 

th
e
 h

e
a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 a

n
d

 c
a
n
 b

e
 u

se
d

 f
o
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
a
l a

c
tiv

iti
e
s 

a
n
d

 

c
a
re

. 
 T

h
e
 C

o
m

m
u
n
ity

 c
a
n
 u

se
 t

h
is

 c
e
n
tr

a
l s

p
a
c
e
 a

ls
o
.

7
. 
T

h
e
 m

a
in

 e
n
tr

a
n
c
e
 is

 o
ff
 A

lb
io

n
 S

tr
e
e
t,

 w
ith

 d
ro

p
 o

ff
 f
o
r 

vi
si

to
rs

 a
n
d

 r
e
si

d
e
n
ts

. 
 I
t 

h
a
s 

a
 c

le
a
r 

vi
e
w

 u
p

 

in
to

 t
h
e
 s

h
a
re

d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
 a

n
d

 t
o
 t

h
e
 c

ir
c
u
la

tio
n
. 

 T
h
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 r

e
-i
n
st

a
te

s 
th

e
 li

n
e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

tr
e
e
t 

in
 

th
is

 u
rb

a
n
 d

is
tr

ic
t 

o
f 
B

ri
g
h
to

n
.

8
. 

 W
h
e
n
 t

h
e
 d

e
si

g
n
 p

ro
g
re

ss
e
s 

in
to

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
n
d

 d
e
ta

ile
d

 d
e
si

g
n
 t

h
e
 d

e
si

g
n
 w

ill
 a

c
h
ie

ve
 C

o
d

e
 L

e
ve

l 4
, 

 

it 
w

ill
 b

e
 w

e
ll 

in
su

la
te

d
, 

w
ith

 g
o
o
d

 U
 v

a
lu

e
s,

 d
e
e
p

 o
r 

sh
a
d

e
d

 b
a
lc

o
n
ie

s.
  
T

h
e
 c

e
n
tr

a
l d

o
u
b

le
-h

e
ig

h
t 

sp
a
c
e
 

a
llo

w
s 

c
ro

ss
 v

e
n
t 

th
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e
 d

e
p

th
 o

f 
th

e
 p

la
n
.

9
. 

S
to

ra
g
e
 w

ill
 b

e
 in

c
lu

d
e
d

 o
u
ts

id
e
 t

h
e
 f
la

rs
 f
o
r 

m
o
b

ili
ty

 s
c
o
o
te

rs
, 
a
n
d

 c
yc

le
s 

w
ith

 m
in

im
a
l p

a
rk

in
g
. 

 

T
h
e
re

 is
 a

ls
o
 f
itt

e
d

 s
to

ra
g
e
 w

ith
in

 t
h
e
 t

yp
ic

a
l a

p
a
rt

m
e
n
t 

p
la

n
s.

1
0
. 
T

h
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 e

n
g
a
g
e
s 

w
ith

 a
n
 e

xi
st

in
g
 s

tr
e
e
t 

p
a
tt

e
rn

. 

P
ag

e 
1
8
 | 

B
ro

o
k
e 

M
ea

d
 E

x
tr

a 
C

ar
e 

H
o
u
si

n
g
 | 

F
ea

si
b

il
it

y
 S

tu
d
y
 | 

1
8
th

 J
an

u
ar

y
 2

0
1
3

74



75



Tw
e
n
ty

To
tt

e
n
h
a
m

 S
tr

e
e
t

L
o
n
d

o
n
 W

1
T

 4
R

F
T

 
+

4
4
 (
0
)2

0
 7

3
2
3
 5

7
3
7

lo
n
d

o
n
@

fc
b

st
u
d

io
s.

c
o
m

B
a
th

 B
re

w
e
ry

To
ll 

B
ri
d

g
e
 R

o
a
d

B
a
th

 B
A

1
 7

D
E

T
 

+
4
4
 (
0
)1

2
2
5
 8

5
2
5
4
5

b
a
th

@
fc

b
st

u
d

io
s.

c
o
m

w
w

w
.f
c
b

st
u
d

io
s.

c
o
m

J
o
b

 r
e
f:
 N

W
2
2
4
3

76



77



78



HOUSING 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Tenancy Strategy 2013 

Date of Meeting: 6 March 2013 

Report of: Strategic Director of Place: Geoff Raw 

Contact Officer: Name: Andy Staniford Tel: 29-3159 

 Email: andy.staniford@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
  
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 The Localism Act 2011 makes it a statutory duty for each local authority to 

produce and publish a strategic Tenancy Strategy that will guide providers of 
social housing in development of their Tenancy Policies. 

 
1.2 Our Strategy covers two key policy areas: 

•••• Policy 1: Tenure – our expectations on the types of tenancies that social 
housing providers should be granting and how they should be managed 

•••• Policy 2: Affordable Rent – how we expect rents to be kept affordable by 
those developing new social housing 

 
1.3 This report presents the Brighton & Hove Tenancy Strategy 2013 (Appendix 1) 

for approval. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That Housing Committee approves the Tenancy Strategy 2013 (Appendix 1). 
 
2.2 That Housing Committee delegates authority to the Directors and Heads of 

Service to take all steps necessary or incidental to the implementation and 
delivery of the Tenancy Strategy 2013. 

 
 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 

EVENTS: 
 
3.1 The Localism Act 2011 requires Councils to develop a Tenancy Strategy setting 

out a framework for providers of social housing (housing associations and 
councils) informing them of what local authority’s expects them to give “regard to” 
when developing their own tenancy policies in the following areas: 
• The type of tenancies they will grant (fixed term or lifetime) 
• The circumstances under which they may grant one type of tenancy and not 

the other   

79



• The length of fixed term tenancies and when they may either be extended or 
terminated 

 
3.2 The Brighton & Hove Tenancy Strategy also considers Affordable Rents. To help 

fund the development of new affordable housing using less grant than previously 
the Government has introduced Affordable Rents where those homes developed 
with Government funding (and some existing homes when vacant) are let at a 
rent up to 80% of market rent. The extra rent enables the housing provider to 
borrow more money to pay for building the home. The Government has advised 
that Providers have flexibility on the type of tenancy to be offered for Affordable 
Rent, which includes the option to offer lifetime tenancies. 

 
3.3 Policy 1: Tenure – our expectations on the types of tenancies that social 

housing providers should be granting and how they should be managed: 
 
3.3.1 Under the Localism Act 2011, Local Authorities and Registered Providers now 

have the freedom to decide whether to give fixed (registered provider) or flexible 
(local authority) term tenancies or continue to give lifetime tenancies to new 
tenants. Fixed or flexible tenancies must be for a period of at least five years (or 
two years in exceptional circumstances).  

 
3.3.2 Since the Council’s housing stock is often concentrated in deprived areas we 

have a need to promote stable communities where residents can develop a stake 
in their neighbourhood to help these places thrive. In view of this we believe that 
as a general rule flexible tenancies are not appropriate for the council’s housing 
stock at this time and we believe we should continue to use lifetime tenancies. 

 
3.3.3 As registered provider housing stock is more diverse and integrated within 

existing and more often less deprived communities we believe registered 
providers are best placed to decide whether fixed or lifetime tenancies are more 
appropriate for their housing stock in any particular area.  

 
3.3.4 Through the policies of this strategy we have introduced a set of principles and 

safeguards to ensure that decisions on the types of tenancies granted are fair, 
transparent, communicated effectively and reflect the needs of the particular 
household. 

 
3.3.5 It is important to state that there would be no change for existing tenants who will 

continue to enjoy lifetime tenancies. 
 
3.4 Policy 2: Affordable Rent – how we expect rents to be kept affordable by those 

developing new social housing: 
 
3.4.1 To help fund the development of new affordable housing using less grant than 

previously, the Government has introduced Affordable Rents where those homes 
developed with Government funding (and some existing homes when vacant) are 
let at a rent up to 80% of market rent. The extra rent enables the housing 
provider to borrow more money to pay for building the home which covers the 
shortfall from the reduced grant.  

 

80



3.4.2 The decision on Affordable Rent tenancies is a matter between the developing 
landlord and the Homes & Communities Agency however we want to be involved 
in these discussions to make sure that these rents remain truly affordable.  

 
3.4.3 Our modelling suggests that for homes with more than 1 bedroom, 80% of 

market rent would be above the Housing Benefit allowance. We expect 
Affordable Rents in the city to be capped at the Local Housing Allowance limit to 
keep them affordable. 

 
 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 Legally the strategy must be produced in consultation with registered providers 

(housing associations) however as the strategy has a direct impact on those 
applying for social housing we also promote the consultation through the 
Homemove website to those on the Housing Register.  

 
4.2 The responses highlighted a division of opinions between the Professionals and 

Residents. Providers generally supported the policies but Residents did not 
support Tenure Reform (and want to see lifetime tenancies used across all social 
housing) but were more in agreement with our proposed Affordable Rent policies. 

 
4.3 Chapter 7 of the Strategy summarises the main findings of the consultation and 

what has been changed as a result of the feedback we received. 
 
 
5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
 Financial Implications: 
5.1 This strategy sets out the key policy framework for providers of social housing in 

the city for Tenure and Affordable Rent.  There are no financial implications for 
the Housing Revenue Account from continuing with lifetime tenancies.  The 
introduction of affordable rents for future new build developments would reduce 
the level of subsidy required to fund schemes. The financial implications of any 
affordable rents that the council introduces in order to make future new build 
developments viable will be reported to Housing Committee and Policy & 
Resources Committee as schemes are developed.      

 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Sue Chapman Date: 21/02/13 
 
 Legal Implications: 
5.2 Section 150 of the Localism Act 2011 imposes a duty on the City Council as a 

local housing authority, to prepare and publish by 15 January 2013 a tenancy 
strategy setting out the matters to which the registered providers in its area are to 
have regard in formulating policies relating to— 
(a) the kinds of tenancies they grant, 
(b) the circumstances in which they will grant a tenancy of a particular kind, 
(c) where they grant tenancies for a term certain, the lengths of the terms, and 
(d) the circumstances in which they will grant a further tenancy on the coming to 
an end of an existing tenancy. 
 

81



The draft strategy addresses the relevant issues. The council must also have 
regard to the tenancy strategy in exercising its housing management functions. 
The strategy is required to be kept under review. 

  
 Lawyer Consulted: Liz Woodley Date: 12/02/13 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
5.3 The policies in our Tenancy Strategy have the potential to impact on all 

households in the city as anyone could find themselves in a crisis, such as 
through redundancy or illness that causes them to lose their home and require 
housing assistance through no fault of their own.  

 
5.4 Our equality impact assessment has highlighted that the policies will have 

different impacts on different groups and where appropriate we have developed 
mitigation measures within those policies to ensure they provide an appropriate 
level of support. 

 
5.5 Policy 1: Tenure - We believe that flexible/fixed term tenancies are not 

appropriate for certain groups such as those moving from institutional setting or 
treatment where lack of a lifetime tenancy could either prevent the move or 
cause a relapse. We also recognise that using fixed/flexible tenancies to allow 
homes to be freed up when no longer fully required, such as family sized homes 
or adapted/wheelchair housing places the existing household at a disadvantage 
compared to having a lifetime tenancy. However where a household is required 
to move an assessment will ensure that those with ongoing needs are able to 
stay in social housing, although in a different home.  

 
5.6 Policy 2: Affordable Rents - Those choosing an affordable rent home will be 

doing so in the knowledge that the rents are higher than traditional social 
housing. As a safeguard against changes in life circumstances, we expect rents 
to not exceed the Local Housing Allowance rate to ensure that they remain 
affordable to those on benefits. 

 
5.7 Monitoring of the impact of these policies will help us establish whether certain 

household types are being excluded or disadvantaged which could trigger a 
review of this strategy. 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
5.4 None directly arising from the report however, Policy 1: Tenure seeks to make 

best use of the social housing stock and Policy 2: Affordable Rents will support 
those seeking employment. 

 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
5.5 None directly relating to this report however secure affordable housing is key to 

supporting households which in turn would result in reduced anti-social behaviour 
and crime. 

 
 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
5.6 A poorly thought out Tenancy Strategy risks undermining housing options for 

local people, the credit worthiness of Registered Providers and the viability of 
new affordable housing development. This strategy effectively mitigates these 
risks. In addition, as the policies within the Tenancy Strategy are consistent with 

82



the Homes & Communities Affordable Housing Programme Framework 2011-
2015 so can be used to help support funding bids for the provision of new 
affordable housing.  

 
 Public Health Implications: 
5.7 None directly relating to this report however secure affordable housing is key to 

supporting households to maintain a healthy life and sustain their independence. 
 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
5.8 With high housing costs, low incomes and increasing homelessness pressures, 

the provision of well managed affordable housing is critical to help meet the 
needs of the city’s residents to provide a stable home environment that promotes 
independence. The proposed policies support measures to increase in the supply 
of affordable housing and help us make best use of the housing stock. 

 
5.9 Specific policy clauses have been included to ensure the vulnerable are 

supported by expecting lifetime tenancies to be granted to those with a Learning 
Disability who are moving to independence, those who have undergone 
treatment for a mental health condition where otherwise there would be a risk of 
a relapse and the elderly to reduce reliance on more institutional types of housing 
and support.  

 
 
6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 
 
6.1 Policy 1: Tenure 
 

Discounted Options Comment Our Approach  

Recommend lifetime 
tenancies across both 
council and Registered 
Provider sectors 

Registered Providers 
only have to have 
‘regard’ to the Tenancy 
Strategy so we can not 
insist that lifetime 
tenancies are used. 
Some providers are 
already using fixed term 
tenancies.  
 
In addition, there are 
instances where a 
fixed/flexible term 
tenancy may be useful to 
make best use of the 
housing stock or support 
a household through a 
short term crisis. 
 

This option is 
unenforceable. 
 
We recognise that 
Registered Providers 
have the ultimate 
decision about their 
stock however we have 
introduced a set of policy 
clauses within the 
Tenancy Strategy that 
seek to ensure tenancy 
decisions are fair, 
transparent and more 
focussed on the needs of 
the household. 
 

Recommend 
fixed/flexible tenancies 
across both council and 
Registered Provider 
sectors 

Earlier work with tenants 
during the development 
of the Localism Act 
highlighted that Council 
tenants wanted to keep 

As we have control over 
the Council’s housing 
stock and tenancies 
issued we are keeping 
lifetime tenancies in 

83



lifetime tenancies. 
 
In addition, the residents 
that responded to the 
consultation also wanted 
to see lifetime tenancies 
maintained. 
 

council housing in 
accordance with 
residents’ wishes. 

 
6.2 Policy 2: Affordable Rents 
 

Discounted Options Comment Our approach 

Object to Affordable Rent 
tenancies in Brighton & 
Hove 

Affordable Rent 
tenancies are currently 
one of the primary 
conditions of funding for 
new affordable housing. 
 

This option was 
discounted as it would 
severely reduce the 
amount of new 
affordable housing being 
built over the next few 
years. 
 
Instead, we have chosen 
to focus on making these 
homes truly affordable. 
 

Not seek to cap 
Affordable Rents at the 
Local Housing Allowance 
limit 
 

We have modelled that: 
•••• a 2-bed home at 80% 

market rent would 
require an income of 
more than £41,000 to 
be affordable  

•••• a 3-bed home at 80% 
market rent would 
require an income of 
more than £53,000 to 
be affordable to be 
affordable  

 
2/3 of all households in 
the city have an income 
below £40,000. 
 

Without the cap, new 
social housing would be 
unaffordable to the 
majority of the city’s 
households. 
 

 
 
7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 The Localism Act 2011 makes it a statutory duty for each local authority to 

produce and publish a strategic Tenancy Strategy that will guide providers of 
social housing in development of their Tenancy Policies. 

 
 
 

84



SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
 
Appendices: 
 

1. Tenancy Strategy 2013 
2. Frequently Asked Questions: Tenancy Strategy 

 
 
Documents in Members’ Rooms: 
 
None 
 
 
Background Documents: 
 
None 

85



86



 

 

  

Housing Strategy 2009 
healthy homes, healthy lives, healthy city 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Brighton & Hove 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

87



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

   

2 

Copyright 
 

 

© Brighton & Hove City Council 2013 

 

This information is licensed under the Open Government Licence 

v1.0. To view this licence, visit 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence or 

write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, 

London TW9 4DU 

 

Copies of our housing strategies are available from: 

 

Housing Strategy Team 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

4th Floor Bartholomew House 

Bartholomew Square, Brighton BN1 1JE 

 

t : +44 (0)1273 293055 

e: housing.strategy@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

w: brighton-hove.gov.uk/housingstrategy 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acknowledgements 

We would like to thank all those who took the time to share their 

views, opinions and stories with us. These conversations have help 

shape our own understanding of the needs of local residents and 

ultimately set the direction and priorities of our strategy

88



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

3 

Foreword by Councillor Liz Wakefield 

Chair of Housing Committee 
 

I would like to welcome you to the city’s first Tenancy Strategy. The 

Strategy is important as it determines the types of tenancies that will 

be offered to those who may find themselves in need of social 

housing in the future. 

 

There has been national debate on housing and in particular whether 

social housing tenancies should continue to be for life providing 

security and stability or for a fixed term which may help a household 

overcome a shorter term crisis. As part of this debate, the Localism 

Act 2011 introduced a requirement for local authorities to produce a 

Tenancy Strategy setting out the matters that social housing providers 

must take into account when they grant new social tenancies.  

 

We have also taken the opportunity through this Tenancy Strategy to 

outline our position on the use of new Affordable Rent tenancies 

introduced by the Government. We believe that these rents are too 

high for the majority of residents and the Strategy outlines our desire 

to cap these rents to make sure that they remain truly affordable to 

local people whilst at the same time ensuring that new housing 

development remains viable. 

 

Ultimately we recognise that the popularity of the city and the 

shortage of land for new development means that the supply of 

affordable housing in the city will never meet the high level of 

demand. It is important that the Council and our Registered Provider 

partners make best use of our scarce resources so we can effectively 

support those most in need and also lend a helping hand to others 

who find themselves in a crisis.  
 

 

Councillor Liz Wakefield  

Chair of Housing Committee

89



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

4 

Contents 

 

Foreword by Councillor Liz Wakefield Chair of Housing 
Committee 3 

Executive Summary 6 

1. Introduction 8 

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 8 

1.2 What is a Tenancy Strategy? 8 

1.4 Role of Registered Providers 9 

2. Housing Stock 10 

2.1 Population 10 

2.2 Housing Stock in Brighton & Hove 10 

3.  Housing Costs 12 

3.1 Owner occupation 12 

3.2 Private Rented Sector 13 

3.3 Comparison with social housing rents 15 

4. Affordable Housing Demand & Supply 16 

4.1 Housing Deprivation 16 

4.2 Demand for Affordable Housing 17 

4.3 Housing Register 17 

4.2 Homeless Prevention 18 

4.3 Homelessness 19 

4.4 Availability of social housing 19 

4.5 Development of new affordable housing 20 

4.6 Affordable housing requirements 20 

5. Social Housing Tenancies 21 

5.1 Localism Act changes 21 

5.2 Local Authority Tenancies 21 

5.3 Registered Provider Tenancies 22 

5.4 Tenancies and Affordable Rents 22 

6.  The Tenancy Strategy in Context 23 

6.1 Housing Strategy 2009 23 

6.2 Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 23 

90



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

5 

6.3 Linking to the Allocations Policy 24 

6.4 Ongoing Review 24 

7. Consultation Findings 25 

7.1 Background 25 

7.2 Responses 25 

8. Policy 1: Tenure 28 

8.1 Background 28 

8.2 Our approach 29 

Policy 1a: The kinds of tenancies to grant 29 

Policy 1b: The circumstances in which the Landlord will grant 

a tenancy of a particular kind 30 

Policy 1c: Where the tenancy is set for a term, the length of 

the term 31 

Policy 1d: The circumstances where the Landlord will grant a 

further tenancy on the coming to an end of the existing 

tenancy 32 

Policy 1e: Our expectations with regard to appropriate and 

consistent housing advice and assistance at the end of a 

tenancy 36 

Policy 1f: Consistent and transparent complaints process 37 

Policy 1g: Granting discretionary succession rights 37 

Policy 1h: Rent in advance, deposits and fees 38 

Policy 1i: Allocations Policy 38 

9. Policy 2: Affordable Rents 39 

9.1 Background 39 

9.2 Our approach 39 

Policy 2a: No impact on existing tenants 39 

Policy 2b: Keeping Affordable Rents truly affordable 39 

Policy 2c: Ensuring higher rents support local housing delivery

 41 

Policy 2d: Protecting family housing 41 

Policy 2e: Tenancies & Lettings 41 

Policy 2f: Local authority involvement 41 

Appendix 1: Equality Impact Assessment 42 

 

91



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

6 

Executive Summary 
 

 

The Localism Act 2011 requires Councils to develop a Tenancy 

Strategy setting out a framework for providers of social housing 

(housing associations and councils) informing them of what the local 

authority expects them to have “regard to” when developing their own 

tenancy policies. 

 

Our Strategy covers two key policy areas: 

•••• Policy 1: Tenure – our expectations on the types of tenancies 

that social housing providers should be granting and how they 

should be managed 

•••• Policy 2: Affordable Rent – how we expect rents to be kept 

affordable by those developing new social housing 

 

It is important to state that there would be no change for existing 

tenants who will continue to enjoy lifetime tenancies. 

 

Legally we were only required to consult Registered Providers. 

However, as those on the housing waiting list will be the first to be 

affected by this strategy, we expanded our consultation to include 

those on the Housing Register via the Homemove website.  

 

This Tenancy Strategy will help us make best use of the city’s social 

housing stock at a time where low incomes and high housing costs 

are making life a challenge for many of the city’s residents. 

 

•••• Summary of Policy 1: Tenure  

Under the Localism Act 2011, Local Authorities and Registered 

Providers now have the freedom to decide whether to give fixed 

(registered provider) or flexible (local authority) term tenancies or 

continue to give lifetime tenancies to new tenants. Fixed or 

flexible tenancies must be for a period of at least five years (or 

two years in exceptional circumstances).  

 

92



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

7 

Since the Council’s housing stock is often concentrated in 

deprived areas we have a need to promote stable communities 

where residents can develop a stake in their neighbourhood to 

help these places thrive. In view of this we believe that as a 

general rule flexible tenancies are not appropriate for the council’s 

housing stock at this time and we believe we should continue to 

use lifetime tenancies. 

 

As registered provider housing stock is more diverse and 

integrated within existing and more often less deprived 

communities we believe registered providers are best placed to 

decide whether fixed or lifetime tenancies are more appropriate 

for their housing stock in any particular area.  

 

Through the policies of this strategy we have introduced a set of 

principles and safeguards to ensure that decisions on the types of 

tenancies granted are fair, transparent, communicated effectively 

and reflect the needs of the particular household. 

 

•••• Summary of Policy 2: Affordable Rent 

To help fund the development of new affordable housing using 

less grant than previously, the Government has introduced 

Affordable Rents where those homes developed with Government 

funding (and some existing homes when vacant) are let at a rent 

up to 80% of market rent. The extra rent enables the housing 

provider to borrow more money to pay for building the home.  

 

The decision on Affordable Rent tenancies is a matter between 

the developing landlord and the Homes & Communities Agency 

however we want to be involved in these discussions to make 

sure that these rents remain truly affordable.  

 

Our modelling suggests that for homes with more than 1 bedroom, 

80% of market rent would be above the Housing Benefit allowance. 

We would like to see these Affordable Rents in the city capped at 

the Local Housing Allowance limit to keep them affordable. 

 

93



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

8 

1. Introduction 
 

 

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 

The Localism Act 2011 has shifted the balance of power and 

decision making away from central government to 

neighbourhoods, communities, local institutions and councils 

to help it better reflect the needs and wishes of local 

communities. 

 

Four “freedoms” are being introduced through the Act to the 

way social housing is managed and the way Local Authorities 

can discharge their homelessness duties through the private 

sector, all of which will lead to major changes in social housing 

tenure in the country: 

1. Giving local authorities greater freedom to set priorities 

and criteria for social housing waiting lists 

2. Reforming tenure on social housing so that a tenancy is 

based on need so may not be for life 

3. The flexibility for local authorities to meet their 

homelessness duty by offering private rented 

accommodation to homeless people 

4. Reform of housing finance to enable new social housing 

 

The Localism Act makes it a statutory duty for each local 

authority to produce and publish a strategic Tenancy Strategy 

that will guide providers of social housing in development of 

their Tenancy Policies. 

 

1.2 What is a Tenancy Strategy? 

A Tenancy Strategy must set out a framework for providers of 

social housing (housing associations and councils) informing 

them of what local authority’s expects them to give “regard to” 

when developing their respective tenancy policies in the 

following areas: 

•••• The type of tenancies they will grant (fixed term or lifetime) 

•••• The circumstances under which they may grant one type 

of tenancy and not the other   

94



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

9 

•••• The length of fixed term tenancies and when they may 

either be extended or terminated 

 

Affordable Rents 

The Brighton & Hove Tenancy Strategy also considers Affordable 

Rents. To help fund the development of new affordable housing 

using less public subsidy than previously the Government has 

introduced Affordable Rents where those homes developed with 

Government funding (and some existing homes when vacant) 

are let at a rent up to 80% of market rent. The extra rent enables 

the housing provider to borrow more money to pay for building 

the home in place of the higher grant. The Homes Communities 

Agency has advised that Providers have flexibility on the type of 

tenancy to be offered for Affordable Rent, which includes the 

option to offer lifetime tenancies. 

 

Consultation 

Legally the strategy must be produced in consultation with 

registered providers (housing associations) however as the 

strategy has a direct impact on those applying for social 

housing we have also promoted the consultation through the 

Homemove website to those on the Housing Register.  

 

The council must also ensure that their strategies are 

consistent with local housing allocation policies and 

homelessness strategies. 

 

1.4 Role of Registered Providers 

Registered Providers are now required to publish Tenancy 

Policies that detail the types of tenancies they offer and how 

they will be managed.  

 

In developing tenancy policies, registered providers should 

have regard to the local authorities Tenancy Strategy and 

work with local authority partners, applicants, tenants and 

other relevant partners to develop a policy that reflects local 

needs, stock profile and the strategic expectations of the 

partner local authorities. 

95



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

10 

2. Housing Stock 
 

 

2.1 Population 

Brighton & Hove has a diverse population with 273,3691 

residents. Population growth has focussed on those under 60. 

There are now comparatively large numbers of young people 

aged 20 to 39 years with relatively fewer young children and 

older people living in the city.  

 

Growth since 1991 has comprised entirely of single person 

households. Projections between 2008 and 2033 suggesting that 

there will be an additional 22,840 households in the city (914 per 

annum) with 83% of this being new single person households. In 

addition, 11% of household growth will be in those aged 85+. 

 

2.2 Housing Stock in Brighton & Hove 

The Census 2011 identified 124,417 homes in the city, 

121,540 of which were occupied: 

 

Brighton & Hove Housing Stock 

Tenure Homes Houses Flats 

Owner occupied 65,835 (54%) 70% 30% 

Private rented 34,081 (28%) 21% 79% 

Social housing 18,187 (15%) 37% 63% 

Other 3,437 (3%) x x 

Source: BHCC Private Sector Stock Survey 2008 & Census 2011 

 

We have a much smaller owner occupied sector but much 

larger private rented sector compared to the England average. 

We have slightly more local authority housing than the 

England average but we have a smaller registered provider 

sector. Overall we have a smaller proportion of social housing 

than the England average. 

                                            
1
 Census 2011 

96



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

11 

Within the social housing sector the homes are a combination 

of general needs housing and homes suitable for those with a 

support need2,3,4: 

•••• 16,112 general needs housing 

•••• 1,816 older peoples housing 

•••• 1,081 supported housing 

 

As homelessness in the city amongst those with physical 

disabilities and mental health needs is higher than the national 

average we must take particular care to make best use of the 

housing suitable for those with specific needs. 

 

The owner occupied sector has just over half the city’s homes 

(54%) but has 87% of the city’s houses with private renting 

and social housing being predominantly flats.  
 

Brighton & Hov e

Housing Stock

46,085

7,157 6,729

19,751

26,924

11,458

-

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

Owner occupied Private rented Social housing

Flats

Houses

Source: BHCC Private Sector Stock Survey 2008 & Census 2011

 
 

Those who rent and are in need of family sized housing can 

face difficulty in accessing a suitable home. As a result this 

increases homelessness pressures and places additional 

demands on the small supply of family sized social housing. 

These challenges again mean that we have to ensure that 

family sized social housing is prioritised for those most in need. 

                                            
2
 Regulatory & Statistical Return (RSR) 2011 

3
 HIP (HSSA) 2011 

4
 Brighton & Hove City Council Website 

97



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

12 

3.  Housing Costs 
 

 

3.1 Owner occupation 

The cost of buying a home in the city is out of the reach of many 

with the average cost recorded in September 2012 as £227,267 

compared to a national average of £162,561. Local prices are 

now only 2% below the high seen in November 2007. 
 

Average Property Prices
(to end Septem ber 2012)

£0

£50,000

£100,000

£150,000

£200,000

£250,000

Apr-

01

Apr-

02

Apr-

03

Apr-

04

Apr-

05

Apr-

06

Apr-

07

Apr-

08

Apr-

09

Apr-

10

Apr-

11

Apr-

12

England & Wales

Brighton & Hove 

Source: HM Land Registry
 

 

Local prices are consistently moving further away from the 

national average and are now 40% (£64,706) higher compared 

to February 2006 when they were only 17% (£27,282) higher.5 
 

Average Property Price Gap 
(Brighton & Hov e above England & Wales)

£-

£20,000

£40,000

£60,000

£80,000

Apr-

01

Apr-

02

Apr-

03

Apr-

04

Apr-

05

Apr-

06

Apr-

07

Apr-

08

Apr-

09

Apr-

10

Apr-

11

Apr-

12

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

Gap £ Gap %

Source: HM Land Registry
 

                                            
5
 Land Registry data (to September 2012) 

98



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

13 

An analysis of properties by size advertised for sale on the 

Rightmove website supports the findings from the Land 

Registry with even the average cost of a studio flat being more 

than 4 times the average household income. 

 

Brigh t on  & Hov e 

Average property  prices and incom e m ultipliers 

(2012 Q3)

1.00

3.25
4.27

6.13

8.41
9.33

11.31

15.36

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

Average

Income

Prudent

M ortgage

Studio 1 Bed Flat 2 Bed Flat 2 Bed

House

3 Bed

House

4 Bed

House

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 V

a
lu

e
 (

£
)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

In
c
o

m
e
 M

u
lt

ip
li
e
rAverage Value

Income Multiplier

Brighton & Hove M edian Household Income: £28,240 (BHCC Affordable Housing Needs Report  2012)  
 
3.2 Private Rented Sector 

Although there is a large private rented sector market in the 

city many of the homes are not affordable to households on 

average incomes without some form of subsidy. The Brighton 

& Hove City Council Assessment of Affordable Housing Need 

Report 2012 showed that half of households in the city earn 

less than £28,240 per annum.  

 

Private Sector Rent Levels and Mortgage Comparison 

2012 Q3 Rent Compared to Mortgage * 

Property Average 
rent  

per month 

Equivalent 
Mortgage 

Annual 
income 

required 

Rent as a 
% of 

purchase 
cost 

Studio £      578 £  98,902 £  30,431 82.0% 

1 Bed Flat £      784 £134,063 £  41,250 77.5% 

2 Bed Flat £   1,187 £203,044 £  62,475 85.5% 

2 Bed House £   1,156 £197,750 £  60,846 75.0% 

3 Bed House £   1,491 £254,989 £  78,458 79.8% 

* Assuming a  mortgage at 3.25 times income over 25 years with 5% interest 

99



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

14 

The rent on a 1 bedroom flat is equivalent to the repayments 

on a mortgage of around £134,000 requiring an income of 

£41,000 to be affordable and the rent on a 3 bedroom house is 

equivalent to the repayments on a £255,000 mortgage 

requiring an income of £78,500 to be affordable. 

 

Local Housing Allowance (Housing Benefit) 

Many households in receipt of housing benefit find it difficult to 

find an affordable property to rent as in many cases the cost of 

renting is more than the local housing allowance limit.  Some 

landlords are reluctant to rent to households in receipt of 

housing benefit which can reduce people’s choice even more. 

 

When looking at the average rent level of properties in the 

third quarter of 2012 the Local Housing Allowance was less 

than the rent for all property types except studio flats which 

receive the 1 bedroom rate.  

 

Brighton & Hov e 

Monthly Average Private Sector Rents 

& Local Housing Allowance Limits (2012 Q3)

£578

£784

£1,187 £1,156

£1,491

£800 £800

£950

£650£650

£0

£200

£400

£600

£800

£1,000

£1,200

£1,400

£1,600

Studio 1 Bed Flat 2 Bed Flat 2 Bed House 3 Bed House

Average/month

Housing Benefit Local Housing Allowance

 
 

The shortfall between the housing benefit rate and rent makes 

it particularly difficult for those with children. In September 

2012 our monitoring of the Rightmove website showed that in 

Brighton & Hove there was 18 family homes available to rent 

within housing benefit limits but only 1 of these was a 3-bed 

home (8x 2-bed, 1x 3-bed, 9x 4-bed).  

100



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

15 

To obtain an affordable home families with children on benefits 

may need to consider leaving the city to less expensive areas 

such as the coast in the Worthing / Lancing and Peacehaven / 

Newhaven areas where more properties are available to rent 

within benefit limits. 

 

3.3 Comparison with social housing rents 

The Council’s Assessment of Affordable Housing Need Report 

2012 identified that the minimum household income required 

to afford market housing is £42,000 per annum against an 

average (median) household income of £28,240 per annum. 

 

Almost 87,945 households (72%) can not afford market 

housing without spending a disproportionate level of their 

income on housing costs or some form of subsidy suggesting 

that social housing is the only affordable housing option in the 

city for the vast majority of residents. 

 

Brighton & Hove (2012 Q3 Jul-Sept)

Average Monthly Housing Cost Comparison

£
2
9
3

£
3
3
2

£
3
8
6

£
4
0
2£

6
2
7

£
9
3
8 £

1
,1

9
3

£
7
8
4

£
1
,1

7
2

£
1
,4

9
1

£
7
5
9

£
1
,0

4
2

£
1
,4

0
1

£
6
5
0 £
8
0
0 £
9
5
0

£
2
9
4

£
3
4
8

£0

£200

£400

£600

£800

£1,000

£1,200

£1,400

£1,600

1 Bed 2 Bed 3 Bed

Local Authority (Social Rent)

Registered Provider (Social Rent)

Affordable Rent (80% Market)

Private Rented

Ow ner (75% Mortgage)

Local Housing Allow ance

Notes: The average rent for Registered Providers is based on 2011 figures and for the Local Authority is 

based on 2012/13 figures. Average cost to buy based on a 25% deposit, 25 year mortgage at 5% interest
 

 

The city’s high housing costs are causing more and more 

households to approach the council in housing need. With a 

relatively small social housing stock it is essential that we 

make best use of it. 

101



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

16 

4. Affordable Housing Demand & Supply 
 

 

4.1 Housing Deprivation 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010 (IMD2010) wider 

barriers to housing sub-domain measures affordability, 

overcrowding and homelessness. Almost half (49%) of the 

city’s Lower Super Output Areas6 are in the bottom 10% 

nationally with the whole city in the bottom 41%. 

 

This has been supported by the Census 2011 which showed 

that Brighton & Hove has the 36th highest proportion of 

overcrowded households in England & Wales (having 1 less 

bedroom than required) affecting 8,168 households (6.7%). 

 

 

 

 

 

Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010 
Brighton & Hove LSOAs in bottom 10% nationally on the 
Wider Barriers to Housing sub domain 

 

M
a
p

 ©
2
0
1

2
 G

o
o

g
le

  

102



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

17 

4.2 Demand for Affordable Housing 

The Council’s Assessment of Affordable Housing Need Report 

20127 has identified that 87,945 households in Brighton & 

Hove (72%) can not afford market housing without spending a 

disproportionate level of their income on housing costs or 

some form of subsidy.  

 

The survey has identified demand for 17,403 new affordable 

homes in the period 2012-2017 above that which already has 

planning permission – equivalent to the city’s existing social 

housing stock. 3,481 new affordable homes above existing 

plans are required every year. 

 

In addition, 59% of those in need (10,642 households) are only 

able to afford social rented housing rather than affordable rented. 

 

4.3 Housing Register 

On 3 April 2012 there were a total of 12,782 households on 

the Brighton & Hove City Council joint housing register (this 

has now increased to more than 15,000 households): 

•••• Band A (urgent need to move)   - 282 households 

•••• Band B (high priority to move)    - 981 households 

•••• Band C (moderate level of housing need)  - 8,312 households 

•••• Band D (little or no housing need)   - 3,207 households 
 

Brighton & Hove

Housing Register by Priority Band 
(3 April 2012)

Band B 

981 (8%)

Band A

282 (2%)

Band D

3,207 (25%)

Band C

8,312 (65%)

 

                                                                                                               
6
 Lower Super Output Areas. Brighton & Hove has 164. There are 32,483 LSOAs in 

England. Each LSOA in Brighton & Hove represents an average of  760 homes / 1,500 
people / 700 households 
7
 http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/downloads/bhcc/ldf/Assessment_of_Affordable_Housing_Need.pdf 

103



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

18 

Of those households on the Register: 

•••• 7,823 (62%) of all households required a 1-bedroom home 

•••• 3,366 (26%) required a 2-bedroom home 

•••• 1,592 (12%) needed a 3-bedroom home or larger  

 

Brighton & Hov e

Housing Register by Property Size Required 
(3 April 2012)

1-bed

7,823 (62%)
3-bed

1,592 (12%)

2-bed

3,366 (26%)

 

4.2 Homeless Prevention 

Prevention has been a fundamental part of the Council’s 

approach to dealing with the issue of homelessness. In 

addition to the 2,000+ households who have their 

homelessness prevented each year through detailed 

casework many thousands contact the council and other 

agencies every year for housing advice. 

 

Brighton & Hove City  Council

Homelesss Prevention Casework

453 487 692 594

1,343
1,812

2,059
1,858

619
355

645
549

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s

Sustained Accommodation Alternative Accommodation Not Prevented

  

104



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

19 

4.3 Homelessness 

Unfortunately we are not able to prevent homelessness in all 

cases. Our prevention approach introduced at the beginning of 

2005 saw homelessness reduce year on year, however, since 

the economic crisis the figures for those households we have 

accepted a statutory duty towards have been increasing by 

around 15% per annum with 496 households becoming 

homeless in 2011/12. 

 

Brighton & Hove  

Homeless Decisions & Acceptances

1,066

755
826 809

754
825

978

511 481 439
393 368

426
496

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s

Homelessness Decisions

Homeless Acceptances

Source: P1E 
 

 
4.4 Availability of social housing 

The last year saw a marked decrease in social housing 

turnover and housing development at the same time as the 

demand increased (more households became homelessness 

and more households are on the Housing Register).  

 

Brighton & Hove

New Lets to Social Housing & Homelessness

694

503511 481
439

393 368
426

496

776753
814

748
782

-

300

600

900

2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

New Social Housing Lets Homelessness Acceptances

Source: ELASH & Locata

 

105



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

20 

4.5 Development of new affordable housing 

The recession had a noticeable impact on our programme 

however the signs for the next few years are looking very positive 

with more than 500 new affordable homes projected to complete 

and land identified that could deliver more than 1,000 new 

affordable homes over the next 5 years (subject to funding). 

 

Brighton & Hov e

New Affordable Housing Development

(Rent & Low Cost Home Ownership)

0

100

200

300

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
n
e
w

 h
o
m

e
s

To be decided 51

Rented 147 113 23 46 16 144 90

Low  cost home ow nership 85 121 28 12 30 115 91

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12
2012/13 

planned

2013/14 

projecte

2014/15 

projecte

Source: HSSA submission & Housing 

Development M anager

 

 

4.6 Affordable housing requirements  

The new draft City Plan has lowered the threshold that requires 

an affordable housing contribution to developments of 5 or 

more dwellings in recognition of the city’s high level of need: 

•••• 40% onsite affordable housing on sites of 15 or more dwellings 

•••• 30% onsite affordable housing or equivalent financial 

contribution on sites between 10 and 14 dwellings 

•••• 20% affordable housing as equivalent financial contribution 

on sites between 5 and 9 dwellings 
 

On developments of 10 or more dwellings, affordable housing 

will normally be delivered on site. Only in exceptional 

circumstances will the Council accept a commuted sum or free 

serviced land in lieu of on site provision.  
 

Affordable housing provision should incorporate a mix of 

tenures and seeks an affordable housing dwelling size mix of 

30% one bedroom, 45% two bedroom and 25% 3+ bedroom. 

106



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

21 

5. Social Housing Tenancies 
 

 

5.1 Localism Act changes 

Changes under the new Localism Act 2011 enable local 

authorities and registered providers to offer fixed/flexible term 

tenancies to new tenants of new affordable housing.   

 

The fixed/flexible term will usually be of a 5 years or more 

duration and will be in addition to the tenancies already in 

existence.  

 
5.2 Local Authority Tenancies 

 

Introductory 

Tenancy 

(existing) 

An introductory tenancy provides trial period of 12 

month trial at the beginning of new tenancy during 

which the tenants should demonstrate that they are 

responsible tenants. Tenants have fewer rights and 

more restrictions, and can be more easily evicted 

Secure 

Tenancy 

(existing) 

A secure tenancy is a lifetime tenancy which 

means the tenant can keep their home for as long 

as they choose providing they keep to the 

conditions set out in the tenancy agreement.  The 

local authority can only evict a tenant if they have 

grounds to do so.  For example rent arrears, 

antisocial behaviour 

Demoted 

Tenancy   

(existing) 

A demoted tenancy is one that the Council has 

taken a tenant through the Courts as a result of 

Anti-Social behaviour and demoted the Secure 

tenancy to one similar to an introductory tenancy 

with lesser rights. A demoted tenancy may regain 

its Secure status after 12 months if the behaviour is 

no longer a problem 

Flexible 

Tenancy 

(new) 

A flexible tenancy is a tenancy with at least a 5 

year term (2 in exceptional circumstances).  

The tenant has less rights and although the 

local authority does need a ground for eviction 

in theory the process is easier 

107



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

22 

5.3 Registered Provider Tenancies 

 

Starter 
Tenancy 
(existing) 

A starter tenancy provides a12 month trial period 

at the beginning of a new tenancy.  It means that 

the tenant has fewer rights and so can be evicted 

more easily as no statutory grounds for eviction is 

required. It only applies to new tenants and not to 

existing tenants transferring or doing a mutual 

exchange 

Demoted 
Tenancy   
(existing) 

A demoted tenancy is one that a registered 

provider has taken a tenant through the Courts as 

a result of Anti-Social behaviour and demoted the  

tenancy to one similar to an starter  tenancy with 

lesser rights. A demoted tenancy may regain its 

status after 12 months is the behaviour is no longer 

a problem. Secure tenancies that are demoted only 

regain assured tenancy status 

Assured 
Tenancy 
(existing) 

An assured tenancy is a lifetime tenancy and gives 

the tenant the right to live in the home for as long 

as they want on condition that they do not break 

the tenancy agreement. A housing provider must 

have a legal reason and get a court order to evict 

a tenant - for example rent arrears, antisocial 

behaviour 

Fixed Term 
Assured 
Shorthold 
Tenancy  
(new) 

A fixed term tenancy is a tenancy with at least a 

5 year term (2 in exceptional circumstances).  

The tenant has less rights and although the 

registered provider does need a ground for 

eviction in theory the process is easier 

 

5.4 Tenancies and Affordable Rents 

Providers have flexibility on the type of tenancy to be offered 

for Affordable Rent, which includes the option to offer lifetime 

tenancies8. 

 

                                            
8
 Affordable Homes Programme 2011-2015 - Framework, Para 3.14, Page 17, 

Homes & Communities Agency: 
http://www.homesandcommunities.co.uk/sites/default/files/our-work/affordable-
homes-framework.pdf 

108



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

23 

6.  The Tenancy Strategy in Context 
 

 

6.1 Housing Strategy 2009  

Our Tenancy Strategy supports the strategic priorities of our 

housing strategy: 

•••• improving housing supply 

•••• improving housing quality 

•••• improving housing support 

 
Improving housing supply 

The Localism Act introduces the Affordable Rent model which 

helps to generate additional funding for the development of 

new affordable housing by charging up to 80% market rents 

on these new homes and an agreed number of old homes that 

are ready to for re-let. This will help social housing providers 

build more new homes and improve the city’s housing supply. 

Within the new Affordable Rent regime we are committed to 

ensuring rents remain affordable. 

 

Improving housing quality  

Affordable rent homes will increase the supply of high quality 

homes that offer an alternative to private rented sector housing. 

 

Improving housing support 

The Localism Act 2011 makes it obligatory for social housing 

providers offer support, advice and assistance to households 

on fixed/flexible tenancies whose tenancies will not be 

renewed to find alternative accommodation.  

 

6.2 Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 

As a council our strategic vision as set out in our 

Homelessness Strategy 2008-2013 is to prevent 

homelessness through early intervention, and timely provision 

of advice and support.  

 

109



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

24 

Where homelessness becomes unavoidable, we will ensure 

that people receive appropriate housing and support, with a 

clear pathway towards independent living.  

 

The strategic Tenancy Strategy will set out a framework of 

guidelines to ensure that where fixed/flexible tenancies are not 

being renewed that the household is supported with exploring 

their housing options in good time to make sure that they do 

not end up homeless.  

 

A revised Homelessness Strategy is being developed in 2013. 

 
6.3 Linking to the Allocations Policy 

Brighton and Hove City Council currently operates a choice 

based letting scheme. We expect all Affordable Rent and 

fixed/flexible tenancies to be advertised through our 

Homemove choice based lettings system. We also expect that 

all new tenancies will be allocated in accordance with the 

priorities in our adopted Allocation Policy. 

 

6.4 Ongoing Review 

The Tenancy Strategy and all other connected strategies are 

subject to regular review to ensure they adapt to the changing 

economical, social and political landscape and make a real 

difference to the lives of local people. 

 

 

 

 

110



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

25 

7. Consultation Findings 
 

 

7.1 Background 

In developing the Tenancy Strategy 2013, it was important for 

us to seek the views of Professionals, Residents and Other 

interested parties. 

 

Legally we were only obliged to consult Registered Providers 

but we expanded our consultation to local Councillors and 

those on the Housing Register (via the Homemove website) 

as these residents are the most likely to be affected by the 

changes. Consultation on the draft strategy was managed 

through the Council’s Consultation Portal. 

 

7.2 Responses 

We received 12 consultation responses, 10 submitted via the 

consultation portal and 2 submitted via email. 7 responses 

were from Registered Provider Staff, 1 from Brighton & Hove 

City Council Staff and 4 from Residents.  

 

Whilst the response was low there was a clear division of 

opinions between the Professionals and Residents. Providers 

generally supported the policies but Residents did not support 

Tenure Reform but were more in agreement with our 

proposed Affordable Rent policies. 

 

Provider Concerns 

The main concerns from providers focussed on those items 

which may conflict with their existing policies. This is 

particularly relevant for national providers working in a number 

of local authority areas as we appreciate it would not be 

practical for the provider to have different policies for different 

areas unless a specific need has been identified. Whist we are 

no longer suggesting that Providers develop joint policies 

across the City we do expect their policies to be in keeping 

with the aims of this Strategy. 

111



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

26 

Providers were also concerned about the definition of 

affordability when or if Universal Credit is introduced as this 

would lower rent levels below the current Local Housing 

Allowance rate which in turn poses a risk to Provider credit 

ratings and impacts on the viability of new housing development.  

 

We still insist that rents must remain affordable and as long as 

we have an identified LHA rate then this will continue to be the 

rent ceiling for Affordable Rented housing in Brighton & Hove 

(which is a permitted option in the HCA Affordable Homes 

Programme9 2011-2015). Should Universal Credit see LHA 

rates removed or no longer identified within a single Universal 

Credit payment then we will review our affordability criteria at 

that point. 

 

There was also a difference of opinion on whether Affordable 

Rent tenancies should be for a fixed term or could be lifetime 

tenancies. We have clarified the guidance from the Homes & 

Communities Agency which makes it clear that providers can 

offer either tenancy10. In view of this and to support tenant 

mobility and best use of the housing stock, we have kept the 

clause which expects tenants transferring to be offered a 

tenancy on similar terms to their existing one if they move into 

an affordable rented home. 

 

Resident Concerns 

Residents were clear that they preferred lifetime tenancies as 

they felt the reduced security from a fixed/flexible tenancy 

would discourage residents from developing a stake in their 

home and the local community.  

                                            
9
 AHP 2011-2015, Para 3.11, Page 17: “For example, providers may wish to 

charge a lower rent where a rent at 80% of market rent would exceed or be close 
to the relevant Local Housing Allowance (LHA) cap”, 
http://www.homesandcommunities.co.uk/sites/default/files/our-work/affordable-
homes-framework.pdf 
10

 AHP 2011-2015, Para 3.14, Page 17: “Providers will have flexibility on the type 
of tenancy to be offered for Affordable Rent, and they will retain the option to offer 
lifetime tenancies should they wish to do so. Government has stated that it expects 
providers to use this additional flexibility to ensure that help and support are 
focused on those who need it most when they need it most, and to build strong and 
cohesive communities.” 

112



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

27 

As an authority we do not have the power to insist that lifetime 

tenancies are used by Registered Providers however we will 

continue to offer lifetime tenancies in our own housing stock. 

We also recognise that fixed/flexible tenancies can be 

appropriate in some circumstances. We hope that the policies 

outlined in this strategy will encourage the use of lifetime 

tenancies by Registered Providers where appropriate and 

provide the right level of safeguards to maximise the security 

and stability for those households with fixed term tenancies. 

  

Residents also raised concerns about succession policies on 

sole tenancies, particularly in relation to partners and carers 

who they may like to succeed to a tenancy in their event of 

their death. Whilst a spouse or civil partner has a legal right to 

succeed a carer does not. We encourage providers to have 

policies on discretionary succession to support those in need 

however we would not support succession that leads to a 

property being under occupied or underutilised and would 

expect the provider to work with the resident to identify 

alternative suitable housing. 

 

Other Concerns 

During the consultation we became aware that some providers 

are seeking to charge rent in advance, deposits and other fees 

for Affordable Rent tenancies. As these homes are social 

housing and primarily aimed at those in need we do not agree 

with this practice. Providers must not charge rent and deposits 

in advance or fees to new tenants for items such as 

referencing, lettings or administration etc when letting social 

housing tenancies including Affordable Rent tenancies. A new 

policy has been included to make this clear. 

 

Thank you 

We would like to thank the housing providers and residents 

that took the time to respond to this consultation. The results 

of this consultation have led to a number of changes to our 

policies to clarify and improve them and also address some of 

the concerns raised. 

113



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

28 

8. Policy 1: Tenure 
 

 

8.1 Background 

Local Authorities and Registered Providers now have the 

freedom to decide whether to give fixed (registered provider) 

or flexible (local authority) term tenancies or continue to give 

lifetime tenancies to new tenants.  

 

Fixed or flexible tenancies must be for a period of at least five 

years (or two years in exceptional circumstances). 

 

Impact on existing tenants 

It is important to state that there would be no change for 

existing tenants who will continue to enjoy lifetime tenancies. 

 

Tenants on fixed/flexible tenancies would continue to enjoy 

the following rights: 

 

•••• Right to buy (or Acquire) 

•••• Repairs 

•••• Tenant involvement and consultation 

•••• Exchange 

•••• Subletting a part of their property 

•••• Take on lodgers 

•••• Inheritance/succession by their partners or spouse 

 

There would be no changes to the way the tenancy can be 

terminated except that at the end of a fixed term tenancy. 

When the tenancy comes to an end, local authorities and/or 

registered providers can decide to either extend the tenancy 

or give advice and assistance to the tenant to move into the 

private sector depending on an assessment of the need and 

suitability of the tenant.  

 

114



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

29 

8.2 Our approach 

The Council is aware that one main factor in people wanting 

social rented accommodation is the stability that it provides for 

the household and also the local community, particularly in 

relation to the welfare of children and other vulnerable groups. 

 

Fixed or flexible term tenancies only provide security for a 

defined period and could be counter productive for a 

households’ pathway to independence if they feel their home 

is at risk. However, fixed/flexible tenancies could offer a 

household a breathing space to enable them to address a 

short term crisis in their life as a stepping stone back into 

independence.  

 

We recognise that the city’s housing pressures mean a one 

size fits all approach is not able to adapt to local 

circumstances. We have a relatively small housing stock and it 

is essential that we are able to make best use of this resource 

so that we help those in need when support is required. 

 

Policy 1a: The kinds of tenancies to grant 

Since the Council’s housing stock is often concentrated in 

deprived areas we have a need to promote stable communities 

where residents can develop a stake in their neighbourhood to 

help these places become desirable areas to live. In view of this 

we believe that as a general rule flexible tenancies are not 

appropriate for the council’s housing stock at this time and we 

believe we should continue to use lifetime tenancies. 

 

As registered provider housing stock is more diverse and 

integrated within existing and more often less deprived 

communities we believe registered providers are best placed 

to decide whether fixed or lifetime tenancies are more 

appropriate for their housing stock in any particular area. 

However, this decision must be made with due regard to this 

strategy, the city’s housing needs, the needs of the community 

and the aims of the provider. It must also be clearly explained 

and accessible in the providers Tenancy Policy. 

115



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

30 

Providers also have flexibility on the type of tenancy to be 

offered for Affordable Rent, which does include the option to 

offer lifetime tenancies11. 

 

We expect the Council and Registered Providers to continue to 

issue new tenants with a Starter/Introductory tenancy for the 

first year. However, as part of the property advertising and 

lettings process it must be made clear to the tenant which 

tenancy this would become following a satisfactory probationary 

period – whether a lifetime or fixed/flexible tenancy. 

 

Policy 1b: The circumstances in which the Landlord 

will grant a tenancy of a particular kind 

Landlords must set out clearly in their Tenancy Policies the 

circumstances under which they make tenancy decisions. As 

a minimum we expect tenants to be provided with the most 

secure form of tenancy appropriate to their circumstances. 

 

As a result of the Localism Act it will be possible for a 

household to be offered different tenancies under different 

terms by different landlords. To avoid confusion, it is important 

for landlord Tenancy Policies to be consistent with the 

Tenancy Strategy and where possible to be consistent with 

each other’s Tenancy Policies. 

 

There are a number of situations where we believe Registered 

Providers should be offering a lifetime tenancy, for example: 

•••• Tenants in sheltered or extra care housing as the level of 

need is not likely to change 

•••• Those with a Learning Disability where a lack of a lifetime 

tenancy could prevent independent living 

•••• Those who are undergoing or have undergone treatment 

for a mental health condition where a lack of a lifetime 

tenancy could be detrimental to their treatment  

                                            
11

 Affordable Homes Programme 2011-2015 - Framework, Para 3.14, Page 17, 
Homes & Communities Agency: 
http://www.homesandcommunities.co.uk/sites/default/files/our-work/affordable-
homes-framework.pdf 

116



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

31 

There are also circumstances where a fixed tenancy may be 

more appropriate. For example, there is a particular shortage of 

certain types of housing such as family homes with 3 or more 

bedrooms, accessible or adapted housing and homes suitable 

for those with long term care and support needs. To ensure 

scarce housing is fully utilised a fixed tenancy linked to the 

occupancy of those with the need may be more appropriate 

(such as whilst children are of a school age). If, upon review, the 

original need is no longer present, then a sensitive assessment 

of the needs of the remaining occupants should be made. 

 

The Council is keen to support community cohesion and as 

such we feel that using fixed/flexible term tenancies may be 

useful if the housing provider is accommodating a household 

with a history of being a poor tenant (for example where there 

has been anti-social behaviour, rent arrears, property damage 

or abandonment). We would expect that all housing providers 

will consider the issue of exceptional circumstances so that 

the issue is clear and transparent within their tenancy policies.   

 

To support tenant mobility, help address unsuitable housing 

situations, tackle under-occupation and support area 

regeneration we expect that tenants transferring to be offered 

a tenancy similar to their existing one, for example maintaining 

either a secure/assured tenancy or a fixed/flexible tenancy. 

 

Similarly, if someone is transferred as a result of harassment 

or domestic violence then we would expect them to be granted 

a tenancy on similar terms. Without this surety there is a risk a 

household could remain in an abusive situation. 

 

Policy 1c: Where the tenancy is set for a term, the 

length of the term 

Where fixed/flexible tenancies are used we expect the 

minimum duration to be 5 years (2 years in exceptional 

circumstances) excluding any introductory or probationary 

period. Any exceptional circumstances would need to be 

agreed with the Council. 

117



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

32 

At present fixed term tenancies are generally being granted for 

5 years. We encourage providers to consider basing the 

duration of fixed/flexible tenancies on the needs of the 

household. For example, when housing need is based on 

children the Council can see no reason why the duration of a 

fixed term tenancy could not be until all the children have left 

education.  

 

By linking tenancy duration to need we will help to remove 

unnecessary worry for households and enable them to engage 

with their community, reduce the housing providers 

administrative burden and help make best use of the housing 

stock. However, we also recognise that a regular tenancy 

review can ensure the stock is more effectively utilised as, for 

example, family make up changes over time. When providers 

review their tenancy policies we would like them to consider 

these points as part of the process. 

 

If a provider wished to grant a tenancy shorter than 5 years, 

this should be an exception and agreed with the Council. 

Exceptional circumstances could enable a household to deal 

with a temporary short term crisis or for example, to make use 

of properties for a temporary period where development plans 

will necessitate a future decant. Landlords need to be clear 

and transparent on the matter of exceptional circumstances 

within their tenancy policies.   

 

Policy 1d: The circumstances where the Landlord will 

grant a further tenancy on the coming to an end of the 

existing tenancy 

As a general rule we expect fixed/flexible tenancies to be 

renewed at the end of the fixed term unless there has been a 

material change in circumstances affecting the households 

suitability for the home or the homes suitability for the 

household. 

 

The following principles are expected for tenancy renewal: 
 

118



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

33 

(i) The tenancy renewal review should be concluded by 

the landlord not less than 6 months from the renewal 

date. This is to allow sufficient time for appeals and 

alternative housing options to be identified when a 

tenancy is not to be renewed. 
 

(ii) The review should be used as an opportunity to link the 

household to any necessary support, including 

employment support, and should be done in 

partnership with other agencies where appropriate such 

as social services. 
 

(iii) Tenancies should not be renewed where households 

are under occupying to help us make best use of the 

housing stock. Suitable alternatives should be offered 

to the household if they are still in need. 
 

(iv) Tenancies should not be renewed on adapted and 

wheelchair suitable properties where the adaptations 

are no longer required to help us make best use of the 

housing stock. Suitable alternatives should be offered 

to the household if they are still in need. 
 

(v) Tenancies should not be renewed where there has 

been a significant improvement in the households’ 

financial circumstances that enable them to afford12 

suitably located13 non social housing appropriate to the 

households needs. The viability of other appropriate 

housing options should be discussed with the tenant 

such as intermediate housing, the Right to Buy, private 

renting, shared ownership or owner occupation. 

Practical considerations also need to be taken into 

account, such as the relative security of their 

income/employment, the impact of credit/debt history 

on obtaining finance and other vulnerabilities. 

                                            
12

 Affordable is deemed to be when no more than 35% of the households net 
income (including benefits) is spent on rent or mortgage payments 
13

 Suitably located is currently deemed to be consistent with the Broad Rental 
Market Area set by the Valuation Office Agency 

119



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

34 

(vi) Tenancies should not be renewed where there has 

been a serious and persistent breach of the tenancy 

agreement such as anti social behaviour and 

criminality. Before making the decision not to renew, 

the impact on wider family members needs to be taken 

into account along with the impact on the community 

and neighbours. However, to protect the wider 

community, we would expect providers to take prompt 

action to address tenancy breaches rather then delay 

and rely on the tenancy renewal process. 

 

(vii) To help prevent fraud and make sure tenancies are 

only renewed when appropriate, tenants should be 

obliged to fully engage with the review process, such as 

by providing financial or relevant medical information. If 

a tenant fails to do this then consideration should be 

given to not renewing the tenancy. It is important that 

housing providers take full account of any vulnerability 

issues when making such a decision and offer full 

support if the tenancy is not to be renewed. 

 

(viii) Tenancies should be renewed even if a need is no 

longer present in cases where a tenant has successfully 

undergone treatment and not renewing the tenancy 

could lead to a regressive situation likely to impact on the 

tenants welfare and other statutory services. This may 

be appropriate for those recovering from severe illness, 

addiction or former street homeless who have 

successfully sustained their tenancy. If the housing is 

underutilised or unsuitable then alternatives should be 

offered to make best use of the housing stock. 

 

(ix) If it is likely a tenancy is not to be renewed then a 

housing needs and financial assessment should be 

carried out. This should determine if a tenant or a 

member of their family would be deemed to be in 

“priority need” for accommodation and, if homeless, 

would require the Council to accommodate the 

120



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

35 

household. In these situations, the tenancy should be 

extended. However, if the housing is underutilised or 

unsuitable then alternatives should be offered to make 

best use of the housing stock. Should the provider not 

be able to accommodate within their own stock they 

should enter into early discussions with the Council. 

 

(x) Where a household is required to move as a condition 

of tenancy renewal then the tenant should be given the 

appropriate level of support during this process. 

Tenants should not be evicted until suitable 

accommodation is available. Other agencies such as 

social services should be involved where relevant. 

 

It is essential that landlords clearly communicate their tenancy 

renewal terms in their Tenancy Policies and make sure that 

new tenants when they are offered flexible/fixed tenancies 

understand what will lead to the tenancy being renewed or 

terminated.  

 

In addition, landlords will need to make it clear from the outset 

to new tenants, in their Tenancy Policies and as part of the 

tenancy review how the renewal process works, when it 

happens, what happens if it is decided not to renew the 

tenancy and how to complain.    

 

A clear understanding will help people, particularly the 

vulnerable, feel connected and settled and also able to 

contribute to their local areas and to invest in their homes. 

Social housing also comes with responsibilities and there 

should be a link between expected behaviour and tenancy 

renewal which needs to be strongly communicated at the start 

and throughout the tenancy. 

 

121



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

36 

Policy 1e: Our expectations with regard to 

appropriate and consistent housing advice and 

assistance at the end of a tenancy 

We believe and expect landlords to provide targeted and 

effective housing advice consistently throughout the lifecycle 

of the tenancy: 

•••• when the property is advertised  

•••• as part of the tenancy sign up process  

•••• during the tenancy 

•••• as part of the tenancy review process 

•••• where a decision is made to move a household 

•••• where a decision is made not to renew a tenancy 

 

In addition, the landlord’s policies and processes should be 

clearly detailed and explained in the Tenancy Policy which 

should be freely available and readily accessible. 

 

Where a decision is made not to renew a fixed term tenancy 

the landlord is required to give advice and assistance that will 

enable the person to secure accommodation available to 

them. Advice should be tailor made based on the household’s 

needs and circumstances and given face to face using a 

Housing Options approach. Landlords should consider 

working with other agencies that can make a real difference 

such as the Credit Union to encourage tenants to save for 

move on costs.  

 

The Council and Registered Providers house some of the 

city’s most vulnerable residents. We expect social housing 

providers to remain committed to the city’s homelessness 

prevention agenda and support their tenants when their home 

is at risk. It is essential that we help those moved on and do 

not move those who are vulnerable. 

 

 

 

122



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

37 

Policy 1f: Consistent and transparent complaints process 

It is important that landlords have a clear and transparent 

process in which a tenant or prospective tenant may appeal 

against or complain about the length of the fixed term tenancy 

offered, the type of tenancy offered, against a decision to 

move the household and against a decision not to grant 

another tenancy on the expiry of the fixed term.  

 

There are many good practice examples of review and appeals 

processes already in existence in the area of allocations and 

homelessness decisions and the Council would encourage 

Registered Providers to mirror these provisions. 

 

The City Council expects Tenancy Policies in this area to: 

•••• Set out to whom appeals or reviews should be made (this 

is expected to be a more senior officer not involved in the 

original decision) and how they can be made 

•••• Give timescales for dealing with appeals or reviews 

•••• Set out how the tenant can take their appeal or review 

further if they are dissatisfied with the response i.e. to a 

tenant panel or Housing Ombudsman 

•••• Identify where they may get independent advice 

•••• Be accessible and easily available i.e. published on 

websites and available in local offices. 

 

Policy 1g: Granting discretionary succession rights 

For all new tenancies created since 1 April 2012 some rights of 

succession have changed. Where a tenancy is granted to one 

person, the legal right of succession is now limited to a spouse or 

civil partner living with the tenant at the time of the tenants death.  

 

The legal right of succession for children has been removed 

but social housing providers may introduce discretionary rights 

for people to succeed that do not have a legal right to do so. 

The Council understands the competing needs for social 

housing and the issues that tenants have with in wanting their 

children to succeed to a tenancy when they die. This has to be 

measured against rising waiting list for accommodation.  

123



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

38 

The rights for joint tenancies remain the same; if one joint 

tenant dies the remaining joint tenant has the right to remain 

(this is known as “survivor” rights). There is no right of further 

succession to a joint tenancy.  

 

The Council does not consider that a blanket ban should be 

imposed on discretionary succession to social housing. The 

Council would however expect all landlords to include 

discretionary succession within their Tenancy Policies and 

would expect the following matters to be included: 

•••• Who may apply for a discretionary right to succeed  

•••• What maximum household income may be applied  

•••• What maximum length of residence should be applied  

•••• What priority factors will be used to decide discretionary 

succession  

•••• Details of the appeals and complaints process 

 

The Council would not expect any person to be able to 

succeed to a tenancy where this would result in a property to 

be under occupied or ineffectively utilised (such as adapted 

homes where the adaptations are no longer required). The 

council would also expect that a person not given the right to 

succeed should be given appropriate advice and assistance.  

 

Policy 1h: Rent in advance, deposits and fees 

Providers must not seek rent and deposits in advance or 

charge fees to new tenants for items such as referencing, 

lettings or administration etc when letting social housing 

tenancies including Affordable Rent tenancies.  

 

Policy 1i: Allocations Policy 

Tenancies must be let in accordance with the Council’s 

Allocations Policy and through Sussex Homemove. 

124



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

39 

9. Policy 2: Affordable Rents 
 

 

9.1 Background 

The Government’s public subsidy to support the development of 

new affordable housing is now based on the principle that the social 

housing provider will charge up to 80% of market rents on the new 

homes built (and also on an agreed number of existing homes when 

they are relet). This extra rental income allows the provider to 

borrow more money to pay for building the homes which in turn 

means the government has to invest less public subsidy.  

 

9.2 Our approach 

Brighton & Hove is facing a significant housing shortage. Not 

only is homelessness increasing but housing costs are higher 

and rising faster than the regional and national averages. 

Increasing the supply of housing, in particular affordable 

housing is a key priority of the city’s Housing Strategy 2009-

2014. Without the use of Affordable Rents we are likely to see 

little or no development of new affordable housing over the 

foreseeable future. However, at the same time we need to 

ensure that the rents remain affordable. 

 

Policy 2a: No impact on existing tenants 

The introduction of Affordable Rents will have no impact on 

existing tenants unless they choose to move to an Affordable 

Rent home.  

 

Policy 2b: Keeping Affordable Rents truly affordable 

We want to make sure that Affordable Rent homes remain 

affordable and do not encourage long term benefit dependency.  

In view of this we would expect Affordable Rents to be set at  

the lower of either 80% market rent level or the Local Housing 

Allowance (LHA) limit. 

 

Our modelling suggests that 1 bedroom flats would be 

charged at 80% market rent however larger homes are likely 

to have their rent capped at the Local Housing Allowance limit: 

125



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

40 

Indicative Affordable Rent Levels: 
Capped by Local Housing Allowance (per week) 

 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 

Local Market Rent *  
(2012 Q2 Apr-Jun) 

£ 177.04 £ 252.25 £ 313.28 

80% Market Rent  £ 141.63 £ 201.80 £ 250.62 

Local Housing Allowance 
Limit (2012-13) 

£ 150.00 £ 184.62 £ 219.23 

Affordable Rent Basis 80% market LHA cap LHA cap 

Affordable Rent per 
week  

£141.63 £184.62 £219.23 

Affordable Rent as a 
Percent of Market Rent 

80% 73% 70% 

Estimated net annual 
income required if not on 
Housing Benefit ** 

 £ 21,042   £ 27,429   £ 32,571  

Estimated gross annual 
income required if not 
on Housing Benefit ** 

 £ 27,734   £ 37,114   £ 44,811  

Estimated impact of cap 
on number of affordable 
rent properties (for every 
10 planned at 80%) 

No impact 
2 extra 

conversions 

3 extra 2 
bed home 

conversions 
(see Policy 2d) 

* Source: BHCC Quarterly Housing Costs Update Report (2012 Q2) based on sample 
monitoring of the homes advertised in the weekly Latest Homes magazine 
** Assumptions: Including all benefits except Housing Benefit and based on housing 
costs at 35% of net total income to be affordable  

 

Should Universal Credit see LHA rates removed or no longer 

identified within a single Universal Credit payment then we will 

review our affordability criteria at that point. 

 

 

 

 

126



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

41 

Policy 2c: Ensuring higher rents support local 

housing delivery 

Social housing providers will need to convert a small number 

of existing homes to affordable rents when they are available 

for reletting to help fund new developments. Where possible, 

we would expect this to only happen to properties in Brighton 

& Hove when the additional money raised is to directly support 

development in the city. 

 

Policy 2d: Protecting family housing 

As the city has a relatively small supply of family sized social 

housing and limited opportunities to develop more we want to 

protect those homes that we currently have. The lower social 

rents on these homes are particularly important in helping low 

income households gain employment and move away from 

benefit dependency. Under this policy we expect there to be 

no conversion to Affordable Rent of larger family homes with 3 

or more bedrooms. It is important to note that this is not 

expected to impact on the financial viability of developments 

as our modelling suggests that due to the impact of the Local 

Housing Allowance rent caps on bed homes, the conversion of 

smaller homes represents better value for money and use of 

resources for providers. 

 

Policy 2e: Tenancies & Lettings 

Affordable Rent tenancies must be fully consistent with this 

policy, Tenancy Strategy Policy 1: Tenure, the Council’s 

Allocations Policy, advertised through Sussex Homemove 

and primarily aimed at those with an identified housing need. 

 

Policy 2f: Local authority involvement 

Brighton & Hove City Council should be jointly involved with 

the social housing provider and the Homes & Communities 

Agency as part of discussions around the Affordable Housing 

Programme funding bid, tenure mix, rent levels and 

conversions. 

127



 
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 
 

  

42 

Appendix 1: Equality Impact Assessment 
 

 

The policies in our Tenancy Strategy have the potential to impact on 

all households in the city as anyone could find themselves in a crisis, 

such as through redundancy or illness that causes them to lose their 

home and require housing assistance through no fault of their own.  

 

Our equality impact assessment has highlighted that the policies will 

have different impacts on different groups and where appropriate we 

have developed mitigation measures within those policies to ensure 

they provide an appropriate level of support: 

 

•••• Policy 1: Tenure 

We believe that flexible/fixed term tenancies are not appropriate 

for certain groups such as those moving from institutional setting 

or treatment where lack of a lifetime tenancy could either prevent 

the move or cause a relapse. We also recognise that using 

fixed/flexible tenancies to allow homes to be freed up when no 

longer fully required, such as family sized homes or 

adapted/wheelchair housing places the existing household at a 

disadvantage compared to having a lifetime tenancy. However 

where a household is required to move an assessment will 

ensure that those with ongoing needs are able to stay in social 

housing, although in a different home.  

 

•••• Policy 2: Affordable Rents 

Those choosing an affordable rent home will be doing so in the 

knowledge that the rents are higher than traditional social 

housing. As a safeguard against changes in life circumstances, 

we expect rents to not exceed the Local Housing Allowance rate 

to ensure that they remain affordable to those on benefits. 

 

Monitoring of the impact of these policies will help us establish 

whether certain household types are being excluded or 

disadvantaged which could trigger a review of this strategy. 

 

 

128



  
Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 

  

43 

Useful Links 
 

 

•••• Housing Strategy 2009: healthy homes, healthy lives, healthy city 

www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/housingstrategy 

 

•••• Housing Statistics Bulletin 

www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/index.cfm?request=c1202854 

 

•••• Housing Costs Report 

www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/index.cfm?request=c1202875 

 

•••• Property Prices and Housing Benefit Comparison Report 

www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/index.cfm?request=c1202875 

  

•••• Homeless Strategy 

www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/index.cfm?request=c306 

 

•••• Allocations Policy 

www.brighton-

hove.gov.uk/downloads/bhcc/housing/BHCC_Allocations_Policy_

March_2012.pdf 

 

•••• Sussex Homemove 

www.homemove.org.uk/ 

 

•••• Housing Advice 

www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/index.cfm?request=c306#SubTitle4 

t: 01273 294400 

 

129



 

 
 

Housing Strategy Team 
 

Brighton & Hove City Council 
4th Floor Bartholomew House 
Bartholomew Square, Brighton BN1 1JE 
 
t:  +44 (0)1273 293055 
e:  housing.strategy@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
w: brighton-hove.gov.uk/housingstrategy 

 
 

130



Appendix 2: Frequently Asked Questions 

Tenancy Strategy 2013 
 

 

Why are we doing a Tenancy Strategy? 

The Localism Act 2011 makes it a statutory duty for each local authority to produce and 

publish a strategic Tenancy Strategy that will guide providers of social housing in 

development of their Tenancy Policies. 

 

What is in the Tenancy Strategy? 

A Tenancy Strategy must set out a framework for providers of social housing (housing 

associations and councils) informing them of what local authority’s expect them to have 

“regard to” when developing their respective tenancy policies in the following areas: 

•••• The type of tenancies they will grant (fixed term or lifetime) 

•••• The circumstances under which they may grant one type of tenancy and not the other   

•••• The length of fixed term tenancies and when they may either be extended or 

terminated 

 

The Brighton & Hove Tenancy Strategy also considers the new Affordable Rents that have 

been introduced by the Government to support the development of new social housing and 

how we can make sure they remain genuinely affordable. 

 

What are fixed and flexible tenancies? 

Under the Localism Act, Local Authorities and Registered Providers now have the freedom 

to decide whether to give fixed (registered provider) or flexible (local authority) term 

tenancies or continue to give life time tenancies to new tenants. Fixed or flexible tenancies 

must be for a period of at least five years (or two years in exceptional circumstances).  

 

Our policy: we do not believe that flexible tenancies are appropriate for the Council’s own 

social housing stock. In respect of registered providers it will be their own decision whether 

they want to provide fixed term tenancies. Through the strategy we are highlighting a set of 

principles and safeguards to ensure that tenancy decisions are fair, transparent, 

communicated effectively and also based on the needs of the particular household. 

 

What are Affordable Rents? 

To help fund the development of new affordable housing using less grant than previously 

the Government has introduced Affordable Rents where those homes developed with 

Government funding (and some existing homes when vacant) are let at a rent up to 80% of 

market rent. The extra rent enables the housing provider to borrow more money to pay for 

building the home.  

 

131



Our policy: The decision on Affordable Rent tenancies is a matter between the developing 

landlord and the Homes & Communities Agency however we have asked to be involved in 

these discussions. We want to make sure that these rents remain truly affordable and 

have said that rents should be capped at the Local Housing Allowance limit. 

 

What will the impact be on existing tenants? 

It is important to state that there would be no change for existing tenants who will continue 

to enjoy lifetime tenancies. 

 

Who did we consult? 

Legally the strategy must be produced in consultation with registered providers (housing 

associations) however as the strategy has a direct impact on those applying for social 

housing we also promote the consultation through the Homemove website to those on the 

Housing Register.  

 

The responses highlighted a division of opinions between the Professionals and 

Residents. Providers generally supported the policies but Residents did not support 

Tenure Reform but were more in agreement with our proposed Affordable Rent policies. 

 

What are the main changes since the consultation draft version? 

•••• Tenancy type – clarification on Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) guidance that 

Affordable Rent properties can be let on lifetime tenancies  

•••• Affordable Rent cap – we now believe that Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates will 

still be published under Universal Credit (UC) so we have changed the affordable rent 

section to state that under UC, rents must not be higher than the LHA rate. A caveat 

has also been included that we would review rent caps if LHA rates were no longer 

separately identified in UC 

•••• Advance Letting Fees – we became aware that some providers were starting to 

charge advance rent/deposit/fees on Affordable Rent tenancies. A new policy clause 

has been added to state that as this is still social housing, advance charges must not 

happen 

•••• Allocations Policy – a new policy clause added to reinforce that all lettings must be in 

accordance with our Choice Based Lettings Allocations Policy 

 

Contact:  

Andy Staniford 

Housing Strategy Manager 

t: 01273 293159 

132



HOUSING COMMITTEE Agenda Item 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: RIGHT TO BUY RECEIPTS - DELIVERING 
REPLACEMENT AFFORDABLE HOMES 

Date of Meeting: 6 March 2013  

Report of: Strategic Director Place  

Contact Officer: Name: Martin Reid Tel: 29-3321 

 Email: martin.reid@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All 

FOR GENERAL RELEASE  
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 Housing Committee on 16 January considered a Notice of Motion, Right to Buy 

Receipts Delivering Replacement Affordable Homes, and resolved that officers be 
requested to bring forward a report that: 

• Evaluates whether the council would benefit from entering into the Right to Buy 
receipts scheme that would enable the receipts from any additional sales 
generated to be retained by the council in order to fund the provision of 
replacement housing stock. 

• Explores whether the retention of Right to Buy receipts under the scheme could 
enable the council to buy back ex-council homes that come onto the housing 
market either from estate agents’ repossessions or at auction. 

• Considers the possibility of the scheme being used in relation to leaseholders 
where the high cost of major works are causing particular difficulties. 

• Demonstrates whether and if so, how entering into such a scheme could 
compliment the other initiatives being pursued in relation to the provision of 
affordable housing. 

 
1.2 Improving housing supply through maximising investment in new affordable homes 

and retention of the Council housing stock are core elements of the City’s Housing 
Strategy.  Our Housing Strategy commitments include support for households to 
become homeowners through inclusion of shared equity products and low cost 
homes for sale in our Affordable Housing Brief for new housing developments. 

 
1.3 The Government has recently sought to promote Right to Buy, including increasing 

the discount nationwide.  In parallel with this, Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) invited local authorities to enter into an agreement with the 
Secretary of State to enable retention of additional Right to Buy receipts for 
investment in new affordable rented homes based on conditions outlined in the 
report.  Failure to enter into agreement with the Secretary of State on retention of 
receipts within the very tight timescale set by DCLG meant the local authority would 
not be able to retain receipts.   

 
1.4 On the basis of potential loss of Brighton & Hove receipts to the Homes and 

Communities Agency (HCA) and in light of our commitment to new affordable homes 
on 27 June 2012 the Council entered into this Agreement with Secretary of State to 
retain receipts for new affordable homes. 

133



 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That Housing Committee note the response to Notice of Motion - Right to Buy 

Receipts Delivering Replacement Affordable Homes. 
 
 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 

EVENTS: 
 
3.1 Retaining our Council housing stock is a cornerstone of our City-wide Housing 

Strategy and commits us to making best use of Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
assets, building new council homes and increasing housing supply in order to 
address the shortage of affordable housing in the City. 

 
3.2 Maximising investment in new affordable homes is a key Housing Strategy priority to 

make sure that the City has the right type of housing to meets the needs of current 
and future residents, whether it be owner occupation, private renting or social rented 
housing.  The Housing Strategy includes a commitment to help households become 
homeowners focusing on increasing housing supply rather than loss of existing 
affordable homes. 

 
3.3 Nationally the owner-occupation rate is 64.7%, a fall of 5% from its 2002 peak.  

Brighton & Hove has a smaller owner occupied sector than the national average at 
54% (65,835) of all homes but much larger private rented sector compared to the 
England average.  Census returns have shown a significant growth in the private 
rented sector in the City which at 34,081 homes is now 28% of all housing stock.  
This has included a significant growth in Houses in Multiple Occupation. 

 
3.4 The cost of buying a home in the City is out of the reach of many with the average 

cost recorded in September 2012 as £227,267 compared to a national average of 
£162,561. Local prices are now only 2% below the high seen in November 2007.  
Local prices are consistently moving further away from the national average and are 
now 40% (£64,706) higher compared to February 2006 when they were only 17% 
(£27,282) higher.  The Council’s Assessment of Affordable Housing Need Report 
2012 identified that the minimum household income required to afford market 
housing is £42,000 per annum against an average (median) income of £28,240.  
Almost 88,000 households (72%) cannot afford market housing without spending a 
disproportionate level of their income on housing costs or depending on some form 
of subsidy. 

 
3.5 The City’s high housing costs are causing more and more households to approach 

the Council in housing need.  We have sought to address this issue through 
increasing housing supply, including the supply of low cost home ownership options 
for those households wishing to purchase a home. 

 
3.6 The City Plan sets a local housing target for the City to 2030 of 11,300 new homes.  

The new City Plan strengthens provisions for affordable housing, including low cost 
home ownership, (CP20 Affordable Housing) and has lowered the threshold that 
required an affordable housing contribution to developments of 5 or more dwellings 
in recognition of the City’s high level of housing need. 

 

134



3.7 Our Affordable Housing Brief for new affordable homes includes provision to widen 
opportunities for home ownership and ensure high quality housing for those who 
cannot afford market housing.  The Brief includes a tenure split for affordable 
housing of 55% social rented or affordable rented and 45% intermediate housing.  
Intermediate Housing is defined as being ‘at prices and rents above those of social 
rent, but below market price or rents, and which meet the criteria set out above. 
These can include shared equity products (e.g. HomeBuy), other low cost homes for 
sale and intermediate rent but does not include affordable rented housing’. 

 
3.8  Investment has already been identified for over 500 new affordable homes under 

the existing 2011-14 Affordable Housing Investment Programme in partnership with 
Registered Providers and the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). Over 400 of 
these new affordable homes are currently in development on sites across the City, 
c200 homes in the Affordable Housing Investment Programme are for low cost home 
ownership. 

 
3.9 In addition, the HRA Capital programme includes funding for the development of 

new council homes on vacant garage sites and £1m for the procurement of initial 
feasibility, design and stakeholder engagement, on identified case studies for 
housing opportunities on HRA land, including low cost home ownership. 

 
3.10 The Government increased the cap on Right to Buy discounts to £75,000 

nationwide on 2 April 2012.  For Brighton & Hove the previous level was £38,000.  In 
the first 6 months applications have increased significantly, however from October 
take up has fallen back.  In addition to increasing the discount the Government has 
recently sought to promote Right to Buy through marketing activity.  Over time the 
increase in discount is expected to lead to an increase in the number of Right to Buy 
sales.  Under the new RTB arrangements the Government expects that the 
additional receipts from any increase in sales will be reinvested in providing 
replacement homes.  Local authorities are able to retain the receipts for replacement 
housing – provided they sign up to an agreement with Government that they will limit 
the use of the net Right to Buy receipts to 30% of the cost of the replacement 
homes. 

 
3.11 Details of Right to Buy applications and sales from 2004 to 2013 are outlined in 

the table below.  The table indicates a significant rise in applications following the 
increase in discounts in April 2012. 
 
RIGHT TO BUY APPLICATIONS 2004-2013 

    

Year Apps Sales 

2004/05 237 109 

2005/06 214 69 

2006/07 209 68 

2007/08 157 63 

2008/09 47 7 

2009/10 55 10 

2010/11 49 16 

2011/12 38 14 

2012/13* 115* 13* 

    
*First 9 months only   

135



 
3.12 On 15 May 2012 DCLG wrote to local authorities formally advising that the 

Government indicated that it would be prepared to enter into an agreement with any 
local authority which wished to retain receipts to reinvest in new affordable rented 
housing.  A model agreement was attached to the letter.  The Secretary of State was 
prepared to agree that local authorities could retain additional Right to Buy receipts, 
on condition that: receipts are used for the provision of affordable rented homes; 
receipts constitute no more than 30% of total investment in such homes; if, after 
three years, any of those receipts are not used it will pay the un-used sums, plus 
interest to the Secretary of State.  Local authorities were advised that in order to 
retain receipts from commencement of the scheme a signed copy of the Agreement 
was to be returned no later than noon on 27 June.  Local authorities were advised 
that failure to meet this deadline would mean that they would not be able to retain 
receipts arising in quarter 1 of 2012/13 (i.e. April, May and June).  The DCLG letter 
advised that ‘These receipts will immediately be passed on to the Homes and 
Communities Agency or the Greater London Authority for investment.’  In order to 
retain receipts to be used for affordable housing in Brighton & Hove the Agreement 
was signed under officer delegated authority. 

 
3.13 The agreements are designed to be ‘light touch’, there are no conditions on the 

number of new homes that must be built or acquired, their type, size, location or the 
rent that must be charged on them.  These are decisions for the authority to make. 

 
3.14 It is current Government policy that any new council homes built since July 2008 

are eligible for exclusion from the provisions in the pooling regulations relating to 
Right to Buy sales, this includes any new homes built or acquired using receipts 
covered by these agreements.  This means that, if replacement homes were 
subsequently sold under the Right to Buy, the authority would be able to retain the 
whole receipt (provided it is spent on affordable housing, regeneration or paying 
down housing debt). 

 
The rules are complex on how the receipts should be spent but key elements are:  

• Net receipts from Right to Buy sales (after allowable costs, repayment of housing 
debt and currently forecast receipts for councils and central government) can be 
used to replace the additional homes sold as a result of the higher discount 
levels.  The amount available will depend on the level of sales during the year.  

• Councils will have three years to spend the right to buy receipts on new homes, 
after this period unspent receipts would need to be repaid to the government with 
interest.   

• The right to buy funding can only cover a maximum of 30%of the cost of building 
a new home, in line with the grant offered through the Affordable Homes 
Programme. 

• The remaining 70% is to be found from local authorities’ own resources, 
borrowing or other monies.   Land cannot be included as part of the 70% 
contribution.  

• The Council must demonstrate that it has spent the additional amount on 
affordable housing.  

136



• The money can be transferred to another provider – e.g a housing association - 
as long as they bring 70% to the table. 

• Councils also have the power to buyback former council properties using the net 
capital receipts from RTB sales. The Council is allowed to fund up to 50% of the 
cost of re-purchasing a former council home, up to a maximum of 6.5% of the net 
capital receipts (i.e. the receipts available for replacement homes). 

 
3.15 The 30% benchmark: Drawing on evidence from the 2011-2015 Affordable 

Homes Programme, the Government is satisfied that it should be possible to fund 
new homes let at Affordable Rent levels, with no more than 30% of the cost of the 
new homes needing to come from the Right to Buy receipt (the total pot of money, 
not each individual sale). 

 
3.16 As in the Affordable Homes Programme, the remainder of the cost will come from 

borrowing against the net rental income stream from the new property, and cross-
subsidy from the landlord’s own resources. (However, unlike the Affordable Homes 
Programme, local authority landlords will not be permitted to generate cross-subsidy 
by converting existing social rented homes to Affordable Rent). 

 
3.17 Three years: The Government wishes to see replacement homes provided as 

quickly as possible.  Interest will be charged at 4% above the base rate compounded 
with three monthly rests.  This is on the basis that the Government see it as 
important that these receipts are invested in new homes as quickly as possible.  The 
Government wish to create a disincentive to hold onto the receipts until such time as 
it becomes necessary to pay them over to the Secretary of State.  Authorities have 
the option of re-paying retained receipts early (and therefore incurring less interest) if 
they decide that they would not be able to incur sufficient investment within the time 
period.  

 
3.18 Other Investment:  Government policy is to encourage an increase in the supply 

of new housing: new build should always be the favoured option.  However, this 
does not exclude these receipts being used to buy existing properties for conversion 
into affordable rent.  It is equally acceptable to fund new supply by grant funding 
another body, such as a housing association - but not a body in which the authority 
has a controlling interest.   

 
3.19 Receipts not retained by the Local Authority: Receipts not retained by the 

local authority are passed to the Secretary of State and given to the Homes and 
Communities Agency.  There is nothing to stop a local authority that has entered into 
an agreement with the Secretary of State from having access to funding from the 
HCA as well. 

 
3.20 In relation to consideration of the possibility of the scheme being used in relation 

to leaseholders where the high cost of major works is causing particular difficulties, 
the scheme allows for local authorities to retain receipts to reinvest in new affordable 
rented housing.  Funding a buy-back scheme for home owners who find their 
property unaffordable may not meet the aim of increasing overall affordable housing 
supply through use of Right to Buy receipts.   

 
3.21 However should members wish this to be considered, particularly in the case of 

leaseholders of flats facing high major works charges, the Council would need to 

137



judge which properties to buy back, what price to offer and whether to offer the 
owner a tenancy in that or another property. A budget would need to be identified to 
subsidise a buy back scheme as the rules only allow up to 50% of the cost of 
repurchasing a former council home to be funded from the net capital receipts. 

 
3.22 Consideration may also be given to the impact of availability of payment options 

that have recently been extended to resident leaseholders facing high cost works 
which have reduced the demand for a buy-back budget of this nature. There is no 
such buy back facility currently in place, but this position is kept under review. 

 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 None directly arising from this report.  Community engagement and consultation 

are undertaken in relation to development of any new affordable housing in the 
City as part of the pre-planning and planning application process.  In addition, 
consultation with council tenants and leaseholders on the HRA budget found 
substantial resident support for best use of HRA assets and HRA capital and 
revenue support for building new homes and estate regeneration.  Community 
engagement and effective consultation is central to development of design and 
feasibility options for future estate regeneration to be reported back to future 
Housing Committee meetings. 

 
5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
 Financial Implications: 
 
5.1 The council has signed an agreement to retain any additional net capital receipts 

for new affordable homes.  The net capital receipts are calculated after taking 
into consideration transaction costs, forecast capital receipts to be retained by 
the Government and the council (as advised in the Spending Review) and 
repayment of housing debt.  It is difficult to accurately estimate at this stage the 
likely receipt, because although enquiries have increased, the actual increase in 
sales providing reliable data for assumptions will not take effect for several 
months.    

 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Sue Chapman Date: 21/02/13 
 Legal Implications: 
 
5.2 The council’s constitution gives officers wide delegated powers in relation to 

housing and housing finance. The signing of the agreement mentioned in 
paragraph 3.12 was therefore properly authorised. As the report is for noting, 
there are no other legal or Human Rights Act implications to draw to Members’ 
attention.   

 
 Lawyer Consulted: Name Liz Woodley Date: 22/02/13 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
5.3 Increasing housing supply supports Tackling Inequality, priority one of the 

Corporate Plan.  It will help meet the identified needs of households unable to 
access housing other than by approaching the Council for assistance.  It will also 
help the Council discharge statutory duties to accommodate vulnerable 

138



households to whom it owes a housing duty.  New affordable housing is built to 
Lifetime Homes standard with 10% fully wheelchair adapted in order to support 
households with a disability to live independently at home for as long as possible. 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
5.4 Newly built homes will be built to Affordable Housing Brief standards in terms of 

size, Code for Sustainable Homes, amenity space, Lifetime Homes Standard.  
Development to the BREEAM standard level ‘Good’ ensures that new homes are 
designed to be sustainable, to minimise carbon emissions and use sustainable 
materials in their construction.  New homes will support One Planet Living 
principles. 

 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 
5.5 New affordable housing demonstrating good architectural and urban design can 

contribute to safer homes and neighbourhoods. 
 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
5.6 Risk and opportunity management implications are outlined in the report and will 

be kept under review.  Right to Buy receipts from sales in Brighton & Hove under 
the new scheme would have gone to the Secretary of State for payment to the 
Homes & Communities Agency if the Council had not signed up to retaining the 
receipts for the purposes of building new affordable homes within the DCLG 
time-line.  As outlined in the report the retention of receipts is subject to 
parameters including that the Right to Buy funding can only cover a maximum of 
30% of the cost of building a new affordable home and that the Government has 
created a disincentive to hold onto the receipts through interest charges.  Un-
used receipts will have to be paid back to Government with interest within time-
frames outlined in the report.  Opportunities include the potential to support 
improvement of housing supply in the City through use of the retained Right to 
Buy receipts to part fund the Local Housing Investment Plan and/or any future 
estate regeneration schemes.  Risks and opportunities will be subject to any 
actual increase in Right to Buy sales arising from the introduction of higher 
discounts. 

 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
5.7 Secure affordable energy efficient housing is key to supporting households to 

maintain a healthy life and sustain their independence. 
 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
5.8 Improving housing supply through supporting delivery of new affordable housing 

aligns to the following Corporate Plan commitment under Priority One, Tackling 
Inequality: ‘Work with partners including the Homes & Communities Agency, 
neighbouring authorities and housing associations to provide 250 new and 
improved affordable and energy efficient homes’. 

 
 In addition, the City will benefit from additional affordable housing provision which 

will assist in meeting targets for new housing as identified in the Housing 
Strategy and the City Plan. 

139



 
6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 
 
6.1 Improving housing supply through maximising investment in new affordable 

homes is a priority in the Corporate Plan, City Plan and a core element of the 
City’s Housing Strategy.  Failure to enter into agreement with the Secretary of 
State on retention of receipts to support improvement of housing supply in the 
City within the very tight timescale set by DCLG would mean that the local 
authority would not be able to retain Right to Buy receipts.  Improvement in 
housing supply also includes support for householders to become home owners 
through the development of low cost home ownership options that tenants may 
wish to consider alongside the Right to Buy option allowing the possibility of 
retaining more existing Council homes.   

 
6.2 An alternative option would be not to sign up to retention of Right to Buy receipts 

in the City on the basis that the Secretary of State pass receipts to the Homes & 
Communities Agency with the potential but not guarantee that this may in turn 
support future Registered Provider development of new affordable homes in the 
City. 

 
7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 The report recommendations reflect resolution of Housing Committee on 16 

January 2013 requesting officers bring forward a report in response to Notice of 
Motion, Right to Buy Receipts Delivering Replacement Affordable Homes. 

 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
1. None 
 
2.  
 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
1. None 
 
2.  
 
Background Documents 
 
1. Brighton & Hove City Council Agreement with Secretary of State to retain 

receipts for new affordable homes (Agreement – Section 11(6) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. 

 
2. 

140



Housing Committee 
Policy & Resources 
Committee  

Agenda Item 61 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: HCA Empty Property Funding Allocation 

Date of Decision: Housing Committee - 6 March 2013 
Policy & Resources Committee - 21 March 2013 

Report of: Geoff Raw, Strategic Director, Place 

Contact Officer: Name: Martin Reid Tel: 29-3321 

 Email: martin.reid@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Key Decision: Yes Forward Plan No:  

Ward(s) affected: All 

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE/ EXEMPTIONS  
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 Working with the Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) and neighbouring 

authorities to bring long term empty homes back into use meets both a key aim 
of the City-Wide Housing Strategy 2009-14 and Corporate Plan priority of 
Tackling Inequality.  Bringing long term empty homes back into use: 

• Promotes effective use of the City’s housing stock to meet housing need 

• Ends the blight on neighbourhoods caused by long term empty homes 

• Attracts New Homes Bonus from Government  

• Increases council tax revenue where the property is returned to use. 
 
1.2 Brighton & Hove has a successful Empty Property Strategy.  The Empty Property 

Team works with owners to return more than 150 long term private sector empty 
homes back to use every year in the City, including around 30 for our leasing 
scheme for homeless households.  Brighton & Hove Empty Property Team have 
a strong track record as a sub-regional lead in delivering empty property services 
and investment across borough boundaries. 

 
1.3 Brighton & Hove were sub-regional lead on a recent successful bid for funding 

under the Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) Empty Homes Programme 
2012–15.   

 
1.4 Brighton & Hove’s allocation, subject to contract and including delivery for Lewes 

DC, is £900k to bring 60 long term empty homes back in use over three years 
across both authorities.  This is on the basis of recyclable loan fund supporting 
capital investment for repair and lease back to the Council for a minimum of 5 
years.  Additional homes will also be returned to use as the loan funding is repaid 
and then recycled and used to fund further loans.  

 
1.5 This paper seeks to inform Housing Committee of the details of this successful 

funding bid and the potential investment to support the strategic priorities of 
maximising housing supply, investment and income and to secure sub-regional 
partnership working with the Homes and Communities Agency and Lewes DC. 

141



2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 It is recommended that Housing Committee –  
 
  2.1.1 Note the successful bid to the Homes & Communities Agency for funding 
   under the Empty Homes Programme 2012-15 (currently subject to  
   contract). 
 
  2.1.2 Delegate authority to Strategic Director Place to enter into the Empty 
   Homes (Revolving Fund) Agreement (2012-15 allocation (local authority)), 
   the key elements of which are set out in paragraph [3.22] of this report.  
    
 
2.2 It is recommended that Policy & Resources Committee –  
 

2.2.1 Approve the  Empty Property Capital Scheme and update the Capital  
 Programme with budgets of £405k in 2013/14 and £495k in 2014/15 to be  
 funded by £900k HCA capital grant (of which £675k relates to BHCC and  
 £225k relates to Lewes to be managed via BHCC). 

 
2.2.2 Approve forward funding to a maximum of £200k for this project due to the 

timing issues of awarding funding and the subsequent grant claim as  
detailed in paragraph 3.20. 

 
 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 

EVENTS: 
 
3.1 Improving Housing Quality and Housing Supply by working with owners to bring 

more of the City’s long term empty private sector homes back into use are key 
strategic goals of City-Wide Housing Strategy 2009-14. 

 
3.2 The Empty Property Team bring back c 150 long term empty private sector 

homes back into use per annum through: 
 

• Working with colleagues in Council Tax to identify empty homes;  

• Working with owners offering advice and assistance and any available funding to 
encourage owners to bring empty homes back into use; 

• Where all other negotiation has failed use of appropriate enforcement action up 
to and including compulsory purchase to bring long term empty homes back into 
occupation through EPEG (Empty Property Enforcement Group) which works 
with teams across the Council to co-ordinate any and all appropriate enforcement 
actions. 

 
3.3 In addition to making best use of existing housing resources in the City and 

ending the blight on neighbourhoods often caused by homes left empty, bringing 
empty homes back into use also generates income for the General Fund.   

 
3.4 The New Homes Bonus (NHB) is a funding incentive for local authorities largely 

to facilitate the creation of new homes in their area and bring empty homes back 
into use. The funding allocation announced in January includes £0.191m from a 
reduction in long term empty properties payable for six years from 2013/14. 

142



3.5 The recent Council Tax Discounts and Exemptions Reform report made the 
following recommendations relating to work of Housing Empty Property Team 
and bringing long term empty private sector homes back into use: 

 

• That the Council introduces a period of up to six weeks 100% discount for 
dwellings that are empty and unfurnished, to replace the current six month 
exemption known as Class C; 

• That the Council introduces an Empty Home Premium at the maximum 50%, 
meaning that those liable for empty dwellings will have to pay 150% Council  Tax 
after two years of the dwelling remaining empty. 

 
3.6 Brighton & Hove Empty Property Team provide a sub-regional lead through both 

the BEST (Brighton & Hove and East Sussex Together) partnership and the pan 
Sussex Empty Homes Forum. 

 
3.7 From 2008-2011 the sub-regional BEST partnership (Brighton & Hove, Lewes, 

Wealden, Eastbourne, Rother & Hastings) delivered a programme of more than 
700 empty homes returned to use, through direct funding and enabling work, as 
part of the wider programme of private sector renewal. 

 
3.8 Brighton & Hove Chair the Sussex Empty Homes Forum which brings together 

empty property officers (or those dealing with the issue) from all authorities in 
East and West Sussex and the Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) to share 
skills and resources.   

 
3.9 The Brighton & Hove Empty Property Team also directly provide empty property 

services to Horsham District Council & Lewes District Council. 
 

3.10 Brighton & Hove were sub-regional lead on a recent bid for funding under the 
HCA Empty Homes Programme 2012–15.  The HCA Empty Homes Programme 
bid offered two bid options, purchase & repair and lease and repair.  No 
Registered Provider partner was willing to undertake purchase and repair in the 
City so we proceeded with a bid based on the lease and repair option on the 
basis of recyclable loan fund supporting capital investment for repair and lease 
back to the Council for a minimum of 5 years. 

 
3.11 Our allocation, subject to contract and including HCA approval for delivery on 

behalf of Lewes DC, is £900k to bring 60 long term empty homes back in use, 
broken down as follows: 

 

 HCA operating area  Number of units  Funding 
requested  

East & South East  (BHCC) 45  £675k 

East & South East (Lewes District) 15 £225k 

 
3.12 The proposed £900,000 programme is broken down as follows: 

 

• 13/14 – 27 units (405k) 

• 14/15 – 33 units (495k) 

 

3.13 We also supported local housing co-ops and community groups in their 
successful bid under this programme with four groups being allocated £713k to 

143



bring up to 10 long term empty homes back into use through a mixture of leasing 
and purchasing empty properties. 

 

3.14 The bid and funding allocation are based on offering home improvement loans 
under our existing Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance policy to enable 
long term empty homes to be brought back into use on a lease and repair basis 
whereby we secure the property for a period of time under our private sector 
leasing scheme in return for our loan funding. 

 

3.15 The Council has insufficient Council homes to meet the demand from vulnerable 
households to whom we owe an accommodation duty.  In order to meet this 
accommodation need the Council currently lease c 700 homes from private 
owners.  Our Empty Homes Team support this leasing through funding long term 
empty homes back into use on the basis that homes are leased back to the 
Council to provide temporary accommodation.  Overall, up to a third of the 
homes leased provide homes to meet referrals for accommodation Adult Social 
Care (Adult Mental Health, Physical Disabilities & Learning Disabilities), CYPT, 
Community Safety Team and Housing Management.  The budget strategy is to 
reduce costs by taking long term lease agreements with private sector landlords 
based on forecasts of need from referring services.  It has been estimated that 
long term leasing of homes for some 312 households has saved the Council 
£4.86m pa. 

 

3.16 Given the impact of rising rents in the City, we are also aiming to secure the 
supply of leased accommodation at lesser cost by sub-regional procurement of 
leased accommodation.  This includes work with Lewes DC on leasing as well as 
Empty Property Services in support of Lewes DC also meeting accommodation 
needs in their area. 

 

3.17 The lease and repair model funded through this allocation secures a recycled 
loan fund to maximise available funds on a revolving loan basis to enable more 
long term empty homes to be brought back into use beyond the initial 
programme.  

 
3.18 Home improvement loans are currently offered by authorities in the BEST 

partnership, including Brighton & Hove and Lewes DC, through our established 
not for profit community finance funding partner Parity Trust.  Parity currently 
offer a Home Trust Loan scheme on behalf of their local authority partners to 
which they contribute additional capital funding as well as the capacity to offer 
recyclable loans enabling a sustainable long term funding solution.  Under the 
existing funding model Council funding via Parity includes capital to support costs 
of work and interest rate subsidy.  Parity add 25% top up funding.  This is the 
model proposed for the HCA funded scheme. 

 

3.19 The HCA Empty Property Programme funding is payable on a property by 
property basis when a long term empty home is brought back into use.  Front 
funding of capital of up to 50% of approved grant to be paid at commencement of 
works (and the remaining 50% paid at completion of works)  Overall HCA capital 
will support costs of work, related administration costs and subsidise interest 
rate.  Current interest rate proposal is 8.49% subsidised to allow rate available to 
owner of 5.49%. 

 

144



3.20 The scheme will require forward funding as the grant cannot be claimed in full 
until completion of the works which could take up to 6 months.  Forward funding 
has been calculated at £200k which will be repaid from the grant income.  

 
3.21 In terms of next steps.  The HCA awarded Brighton & Hove Affordable Housing 

Programme Investment Partner status, approved on 21/11/12.  The HCA Empty 
Homes Funding Agreement has been released and is currently subject to review 
and final agreement in negotiation between Brighton & Hove and HCA Legal 
teams. 

 
3.22 The HCA Funding Agreement is based upon standard HCA Affordable Homes 

Programme contract as amended, including: 
 

• Property should not have been occupied for residential purposes during any of 
immediately preceding six months; 

• Minimum Lease Duration - a lease of between five and seven years unexpired 
duration;  

• Loan Agreement – agreement entered into between Grant Recipient (Council) 
and a Homeowner in relation to Revolving Fund Scheme; 

• Affordable Rent Terms – the tenant rent (inclusive of service charge) must be set 
at a level which is no more than 80% of the estimated market rent for an 
equivalent rent in the locality. 

 
3.23 A further HCA Empty Homes funding round was announced by the minister on 

26/11/12.  As well as tackling Empty Homes this new bid round has an additional 
emphasis on refurbishing empty commercial and non-residential properties for 
Affordable Housing with links to the 27 Portas Pilots and 326 Town Teams.  
Bidding for this funding is now open and bids must be submitted through the 
HCA’s Investment Management System (IMS) by noon 25 March 2013.  We are 
currently considering our approach to this bidding opportunity in discussion with 
partners.  We aim to support additional bids from community groups and support 
them in their searches for suitable properties if successful. 

 
3.24 If, due to their regulations and timescales, the HCA require the Funding 

Agreement be completed prior to the Housing Committee meeting on 6 March 
2013, the Strategic Director Place would need to consult with the Committee 
Chair, then authorise the completion of the Agreement himself using urgency 
powers available to him under the council’s scheme of delegation to officers. 

 
3.25   Should this situation occur, the Strategic Director would need to report his 

actions to the Committee.  
 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 The bid and funding allocation are based on home improvement loans offered 

under our existing Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance policy to enable 
long term empty homes to be brought back into use.  Development and review of 
Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policy has been subject to 
consultation. 

 
4.2 In addition, we have supported local housing co-ops and community groups in 

their successful bid under the HCA Empty Homes Community programme and 

145



will continue engagement with community groups to support any future bids they 
may wish to make. 

 
5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
 Financial Implications: 
 
 

5.1The £900k HCA  funding includes  £675k for Brighton & Hove City Council  
and £225k for  Lewes District Council. 
 
5.1.2 The financial implications of this scheme are that the Council will release 
funding for the loans to homeowners, delivered by BHCC under a proposed 
contract with Parity Trust with 50% of the grant funding being received in 
advance and the remaining 50% being subject to a claim being approved by 
HCA. 
 
 .5.1.3 It is anticipated that 27 properties will be delivered in 2013/14 and 33 
properties in 2014/15 requiring capital funding of £405k and £495k respectively. 
The estimated timing of cash flows will require forward funding up to £200k  
pending receipt of outstanding grant from the HCA. 
 
5.1.4The proposed contract with Parity would manage the loans to homeowners 
and the subsequent loan repayments. These loan repayments would then be 
used as the recyclable loans fund in order to comply with the terms of the grant 
funding and deliver an ongoing supply of affordable loans to eligible 
homeowners.. Appropriate administrative costs and the interest rate subsidy can 
be charged to the grant funding.  
 
5.1.5 A Service Level Agreement will be entered into with Lewes DC.  

 
 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Name Anne Silley Date: 22/02/13 
 
 Legal Implications: 
 
5.2 5.2.1 The Council has a legal obligation under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 

as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002 to provide accommodation to people 
and households who are vulnerable and in priority housing need. Receipt and 
execution of this fund will enhance the Council’s ability to meet this obligation. 

 
5.2.2 With the execution of the Funding Agreement the Council will now 

formalise on going negotiations by completing a legal agreement with 
Parity Trust to disburse the funds and progress the Council’s housing 
objectives as set out in this report. 

 
5.2.3 With reference to paragraphs 3.24 – 3.25 above, the urgency powers 

available to the Strategic Director, should he require them, are set out in 
the General Delegations to Officers at Part 6.2, paragraph 7, of the 
council’s constitution. 

 
 Lawyer Consulted: Name Ola Oduwole Date: 15/02/13 

146



 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
5.3 Working with partners including the Homes & Communities Agency and 

neighbouring authorities to bring long term empty homes back into use and 
improve housing supply is aligned to the key Corporate priority of tackling 
inequality through meeting identified needs of disadvantaged groups in the City 
to whom the Council owes a housing duty. 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
5.4  Bringing long term empty homes back into use makes best use of existing 

housing resources in the City.  Improving homes brought back into use includes 
improvement to thermal comfort benefiting energy efficiency, addressing fuel 
poverty and reducing carbon emissions in line with One Planet Living principles. 
property.  

 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 
5.5 Empty property is recognised as having high potential to attract anti-social 

behaviour and crime (i.e. stripping of materials from the property), which can add 
to a sense of insecurity in the neighbourhood. 

 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
5.6   An initial risk will be loss of funding if unable to finalise the HCA contract within 

their timetable.  Mitigation is use of ‘urgency’ procedure outlined above. 
  
 The key risks for the scheme will mean that the Council will be unable to access 

HCA Funding available under the Funding Agreement.  
 
 Other risks include: 

• Not being able to identify suitable empty homes for the scheme; 

• Rents under the scheme not being attractive enough for owners to lease for 
minimum term; 

• Homeowners not being eligible for or willing to enter into the loan agreement.  
 
 There is also a relationship risk with Lewes DC should we be unable to fulfil their 

element of the programme and deliver empty homes back into use in their local 
authority area. 

 
 By way of risk mitigation: 

• We have an established and successful empty property strategy which identifies 
and makes sustained contact with owners and a previous funding scheme (albeit 
grant rather than loans) that funded 60 units 2008 - 2011.  

• EPEG (Empty Property Enforcement Group) will work to encourage owners to a 
positive return to use for their property.  Introduction of the Council tax premium 
from 1 April 2013 will be used as another disincentive for owners to leave their 
properties empty.  The enforcement role of the Empty Property Team is outlined 
in the report (3.2) and can include legal action to bring empty homes back into 
use up to and including Compulsory Purchase Order. 

147



• We have a strong track record of sub-regional working including past delivery of 
Empty Property Officer services in Lewes District and a current leasing scheme 
with LDC.  We will be agreeing a Service Level Agreement with LDC around 
delivery of Empty Property Officer services. 

 
 In addition, with the end of Government funding for Private Sector Housing 

Renewal under Comprehensive Spending Review there are no other capital 
funding streams available to enable / encourage homeowners to bring long term 
empty homes back into use.  

 
 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
5.7 Brighton & Hove Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2012 highlights the 

relationship between poor housing & health outcomes: 

• Cost to individual:  repeat hospital admissions; frequent visits to GP; isolation; 
substance misuse; suicide & death;  

• Wider implications: costs to NHS and local authority; environmental impact (e.g. 
in creased carbon emissions); crime & antisocial behaviour; low community 
resilience.  
 

 In terms of community wellbeing and resilience Director of Public Health Annual 
report (2010) identifies that Housing in Brighton & Hove represents a particular 
vulnerability for children and adults. 

 
 Bringing long term empty homes back into use supports the aims of the City-wide 

Housing Strategy to make best use of existing housing resources and improve 
housing supply and housing quality in the City. 

 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
5.8 The scheme supports corporate priorities, Tackling Inequality and Creating a 

Sustainable City and specific outcomes: ‘A healthier and higher quality built 
environment’ & ‘Decent, Affordable, Healthy Housing’  The scheme will operate 
within the council’s Empty Property Strategy which works to bring long term 
empty properties back into use as homes. 

 
6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 
 
6.1 With the end of Government funding for Private Sector Housing Renewal under 

Comprehensive Spending Review there are no other capital funding streams 
available to enable / encourage homeowners to bring long term empty homes 
back into use.   

 
6.2 Should funding not be available to assist owners to bring long term empty homes 

back into use options left to the Council would be limited to identification, 
encouragement, without any funding incentive, and enforcement action up to and 
including compulsory purchase. 

 
7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 The reasons for the recommendation are identified in the report. 

148



SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
1.  
 
2.  
 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
1.  
 
2.  
 
Background Documents 
 
1. Empty Homes (Revolving Fund) Agreement (2012-15 allocation (local authority)) 
 
2. 
 

149



150


	Agenda
	49 Minutes
	50 Minutes of the Housing Management Consultative Sub Committee
	55 New Homes for Neighbourhoods - Estate Regeneration Programme
	Enc. 1 for New Homes for Neighbourhoods - Estate Regeneration Programme
	Enc. 2 for New Homes for Neighbourhoods - Estate Regeneration Programme
	Enc. 3 for New Homes for Neighbourhoods - Estate Regeneration Programme

	56 Extra Care Housing Update
	Item 56 Appx 1
	Item 56 Appx 2

	59 Tenancy Strategy 2013
	Enc. 1 for Tenancy Strategy 2013
	Enc. 2 for Tenancy Strategy 2013

	60 Right To Buy Receipts - Delivering Replacement Affordable Homes
	61 HCA Empty Property Funding Allocation

